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Corporate Milestone
CREER

Production Sharing Contract (“PSC”) of
Sanjiao CBM Block has been officially
signed between Orion and PetroChina.
Production sharing proportion between
Orion and PetroChina is 70% and 30%
respectively
RimT R AR ERFITI =ZREERE R
EmaKER - £F KD R ARKE
70% K # £ h30%
Note:  Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Ltd. (“Sino Oil and
Gas”) acquired 100% equity interest of Orion

Energy International Inc. (“Orion”) in November
2010, and Orion had become a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group
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2006.3

Zhang Dejiang, former Vice
Premier of State Council
approved to promote a
Coalbed Methane (“CBM”)
development model namely
the “Sanjiao Model” as
proposed by PetroChina,
which focusing on

mutual planning and joint
development between
sino-foreign parties
RETAEIEEM RERER A
R PIT Bl 7 80 1 FE SRR SR R 3R AR
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2009.12

— y

Sino Oil and Gas
acquired 100%
equity interest of
Orion, entering
into China CBM
sector
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2010.11
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Sanjiao CBM Block obtained Proved
Reserve of 43.5 billion cubic meter
(in accordance with relevant Chinese
standard) followed by endorsement
of Expert review panel of the National
Reserve Committee
RBERFZERTEEERIREBAD
BIRE=CKERREZEBFEE4I35
B3 75 K

2011.2

Received RMB1 billion credit

ARBZERERE

2011.12

facility from CDB Leasing Co., Ltd.
EREeMBEERRAFI0ET



Sanjiao CBM Block has been
included in “12th Five-Year
Plan” released by National
Development and Reform
Commission (“NDRC”) as one of
the key development projects
BRZERNNELZE S
([BHRZ]D AH=REERE
B+ _HRE I WAERERD
BHZ—

2012.1

2012.12

Daily CBM production achieved 100,000
cubic meter and started pipeline sales
HERBESZI0EY LK AREEH

2012.8

Corporate Milestone
EREER

2013.1

NDRC announced price adjustment to city-gate gas
non-residential users effective from 10 July 2013 wit
increment of no more than RMBO.4 per cubic meter.
Accordingly, the Group and PetroChina jointly agree
adjust non-residential users wellhead price by RMBO
0.383 per cubic meter (increased by 21.6%).

BHE 92013¢7H1OE|f@%@%ﬂﬁﬁ%#%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%&%ﬁ
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2013.4

Institutional investor: China Orient Asset

Management Corporation has been
introduced to the Group and subscribed
convertible notes in amount of HK$275 million
REBMR2013F4A 5| ARBREERBERT
BETEAT - WRAAARETRRERLS
"2 7518 T

National Energy Administration (“NEA”) of NDRC granted a reply for the application of the Overall

Development Plan (“ODP”) with the consent on the work for the early development phase of the CBM

reserve in the Sanjiao region. The granting of the reply represents NEA'’s official acceptance of the OD?.

application to have the Sanjiao CBM Project proceeding from exploration to development and

production phase
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Five Year Financial Summary
hAFEMBERE

Year ended

Year ended

31 December 31 December

2014
HE20145F
12A31H
LEE
TER
Turnover E 0] 16,540
Result ES
Profit/(loss) before income BRETGEHZ HANER,/
tax expense (B#) 8,719
Income tax credit/(expense) FIRBEE,/ (Zit) 1,701
Profit/(loss) for the year KEERH,/ (B#B) 10,420
Profit/(loss) attributable to: UTATEEET
(B8):
Owners of the Company N/NSIE DN 10,420
Non-controlling interests iR -
10,420
Earning/(loss) per share SRER,/ (H8)
- Basic (HK cents) - EARCGEW) 0.064
- Diluted (HK cents) - note - BE OBL) - P EE 0.060

Note: For the years ended 31 December 2013, 2012 and 2011, the
computation of diluted loss per share does not assume the
conversion of the Company’s outstanding share options, warrants
and convertible notes where applicable since their exercise would

have an anti-dilutive effect on the basic loss per share.
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2013
HZ2013F
12A31H
ILFE
TET

21,698

(58,512)
(2,820)

(61,332)

(61,332)

(61,332)

(0.467)

N/AT 38 R

B &L -

Year ended
31 December
2012
HZ20126
12A31H
LFE
TEL

28,932

(126,761)
13,356

(113,405)

(113,405)

(113,405)

(0.927)
N/AT @

Year ended
31 December
2011
HZE20115F
127317
LEE
TER

35,079

(92,611)
(3,628)

(96,239)

(96,239)

(96,239)

(0.979)
N/ANE

Year ended
31 December
2010
HZE2010%F
12A31H
LEE
TER

29,224

8,194
(3,510)

4,684

6,108
(1,424)

4,684

0.101
0.098
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Five Year Financial Summary
hAFEMBERE

At At At At At
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
120144 20135 720124 F201146 720105
12A318 12A31H 12A31E 12A31H 12A31H
FET THT TET AT AT
Assets and liabilities BEHER

Non-current assets ERBEE 4,287,972 4,154,453 3,810,593 3,567,892 2,750,595
Net current assets/(liabilities) RYEE/ (AR)FE 121,919 (226,968) (412,360) (201,437 (207,122)
Non-current liabilities ERBAE (355,902) (480,248) (375,059) (305,499) (15,098)
Net assets BEFE 4,053,989 3,447,237 3,023,174 3,060,956 2,528,375
Non-controlling interest R - - - - -

Equity attributable to owners ARREEA
of the Company [l 4,053,989 3,447,237 3,023,174 3,060,956 2,528,375

Sanjiao CBM Block Production and Gas Sales

EXEEREERHEER

2014 total gas production recorded at 47.28 million cubic

meter and gas sales at 44.26 million cubic meter

2014F Rt EREELT28E B L H KM
HESELM 6B BT K

million
cubic meter

BEILFK

30.00 -

20.00

10.00

O

Sales

O

Production

(million cubic meter) (million cubic meter)

HEB(FBIATK)

ERB(EBIAXK)

2014 pipeline gas sales accounted for 99.9%

of total gas sales
20145 BEHEHBIHEE.299.9%

10.2%5

Sanjiao Linxian pipeline

89.1%

Sanjiao Senze pipeline

=RHEEE

EKEE&’E%%“E\

0.1%

CNG Station
BHEXARCNG

2014 CBM Sales Mix

20142 FHEREHEBK
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Business Structure
RKIGRIE

Sino Oil and Gas
Holdings Limited (702.hk)
FEDRRIZRER QA
(REARS : 702)

100% 100%

Development Limited Investments Limited

Power Great Limited
EX {2 p? 7\ Al
HERRERAT FERAEEAT

’ Grand Rise Key Wisdom
HEBRAF

100% R R 100%

Bi Tuo Yuan Technology .. Trillion International
International Inc. (“Orion”) (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd . PetTroIehumIExtri?gon
2 4 AT “Bi Tuo Yuan”) . Eano gy,
Rz ZaE REIB AR D (

(TR % ) . BARRE CRY) BRAT MEERBORBRREN
B . (T B R ) - HRAT .

Orion Energy

100%

Xian Lilong
Petroleum Extraction
i} Technology Limited
ock through a PSC (“Xian Lilong”)
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Chairman’s Statement
EREBES

On behalf of the board of directors, | am delighted to report the
audited annual results of Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited (the
“Company”), together with its subsidiaries (the “Group”), for the
year ended 31 December 2014.

The Group is principally engaged in natural gas and oil
exploration and production. Through its wholly-owned subsidiary
Orion Energy International Inc. (“Orion”), the Group entered

Annual Report 2014 ¢ Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited
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into a production sharing contract (“PSC”) in 2010 with China
National Petroleum Corporation (“PetroChina”) for the exploration,
exploitation and production of coalbed methane (“CBM”) in the
Sanjiao block located in Shanxi and Shaanxi provinces. The
Group shares a 70% interest in the PSC. We are glad to report
that, after four years of dedicated joint efforts by our staff teams
since the acquisition, the Sanjiao CBM project has achieved
landmark results.

In 2014, the Group succeeded in turning around its performance,
primarily contributed by the significant growth in CBM sales.
Apart from setting a milestone for the Group, this achievement
stands as testimony to the development of China’s CBM industry.
After number of years’ development, the Sanjiao project is able
to show the viability of the industry and to deliver a satisfactory
return on investment. The Group will further pursue its in-depth
exploration work in Sanjiao in order to lay a solid foundation for
the CBM industry.

The Sanjiao CBM project moved into trial production after
its overall development plan (“ODP”) was granted a reply by
the National Development and Reform Commission (“NDRC”)
— National Energy Administration (“NEA”) in 2012. Up to the
reporting year, the Group has made considerable achievements
before the final approval of the ODP. This has greatly boosted
our confidence in the CBM sector’s future development. Upon
approval of the ODP, the Group will build a capacity of 500 million
cubic meters within two years as planned, which is expected to
generate tremendous financial returns for the Group. The Group
will therefore undertake solid preparatory planning and works well
in advance to ensure smooth production in future. Specifically,
the Group will get well prepared in terms of capital reserve,
technology and management.

To ensure there is sufficient capital reserve, the Group has made
financing arrangements including issue bonds with an aggregate
amount of HK$300,000,000, and the remaining loan facility of
RMB600,000,000 provided by CDB Leasing Co., Ltd.

Chairman’s Statement
EREES

AAREBRR([RAEM]D EE RPEH
WA RKRAE 2 = RX@BEHEFE - ARREE
HER - A1EE 5 H2010F %I DK A 4
([PSCl) ' "&EBE=ZHILIEB70%E = ° A
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FHCHE T TEAE TIREEAKR o
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EREERREE  EHATERERERN
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BXRERPEXNTE  EXBHALEEL -
i$$ﬁ'%lﬁﬁﬁmwm%mgmaﬁ
MEB—EKE ARG8T HME P BEEE
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Chairman’s Statement
EREBES

On the technological front, the Group has continued to
introduce the multi-lateral horizontal well-drilling system from
the America with one experimental pilot wells completed in
2014. We have adjusted and improved the well drilling plans by
adopting more sophisticated techniques, and have enhanced the
dewatering process and the use of equipment. The one pilot well
demonstrate good production prospects.

As the project is set to enter commercial exploitation and
production, the Group will also strengthen its project and
corporate management in order to secure higher efficiency in
investment and deployment of technology. With better investment
returns from technological input, we will be able to deliver
improved returns for all shareholders.

The reporting and application work required for obtaining final
approval of Sanjiao’s ODP has substantially been completed.
During the period, the project has gained a number of critical
government approvals which will provide a sound legal basis for
future commercial production. Amongst them, a safety production
permit was granted to the project by the Shanxi Administration
Bureau of Coal Mine Safety in July 2014. This permit carries
significant weight in the development of the CBM industry, as it
was the first batch of safety permits issued to the sector, and the
first to be granted to a Sino-foreign collaboration. The permit also
came as a great encouragement to our team members who have
put in much effort in obtaining safety approval. We believe the
permit will help to raise the confidence of investors in the project.

With stepped-up efforts on preparation work, we expect the

Sanjiao project to deliver further improved operating results in
2015.

Annual Report 2014 « Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited
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The Group remains focused on seeking further growth and
collaboration opportunities in China’s CBM sector. After a few
years’ active development, and with the Chinese government’s
support of clean energy businesses, we are able to achieve
a successful start in this area. We hold full confidence in the
prospects for our CBM business, and will seek to expand our
asset base in natural gas resources so as to deliver greater
returns.

The target acquisition in Canada will signify the first of the Group’s
steps into international oil and gas businesses. Related works
are in order and the Group will make respective arrangements
upon stabilization of oil prices. The Group is currently engaged
in detailed assessment of the project and its resources. The oil
field in Canada is a priority in the Group’s international expansion
plan. As a responsible management, we will undertake through
investigation and related work to avoid any negative impacts on
our future development arising from the acquisition. In the long
term, the Group’s China-based and overseas resources will be
complementary to each other.

The Group’s development strategy is to build a core competence
on its oil and natural gas exploration and production business. We
will make further efforts to optimize the geographical distribution
of resources in order to maintain a sound commercial portfolio.
Only on this solid foundation will the Group take initiatives
to pursue further expansion and more sizeable resources
acquisitions.

Chairman’s Statement
EREBES
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Chairman’s Statement
EREBES

The Group makes every move by considering the current state
of business. This will ensure that no negative consequences will
be caused to impact any stage of our development. As such, the
Group will seek expansion based on a solid financial strategy.
As the Group’s financial conditions improve, we will continue
to solicit high-quality investors as our partners, laying the
foundations of a strong investor base.

Management has undertaken a prudent analysis of the industry
and China’s development trends, and subsequently laid down a
set of strategic plans on the basis of our vision for the future.

First, as a technological leader: leveraging the success of the
Sanjiao project, the Group will recruit top-tier professionals and
advanced technologies in CBM development in order to develop
into a technological leader. Second, as an industry collaborator:
the Group will utilize its status as a listed company in Hong
Kong, as well as its competence in technology, management and
capital utilization, to actively drive collaboration within China’s
CBM sector. We aim to establish the Group as a model business
for the industry. Third, through business enhancement, we strive
to deliver excellent performance and investment returns for the
Group and our shareholders. Fourth, as a talent developer:
through sound management and rapid business development, we
empower our staff members to grow in terms of their capabilities
and personal qualities.

Annual Report 2014 « Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited

SENE—F BREBEREEOHADMRE
BRI EMERNERERAEBYE - A
b EE SRR ISR 2 L MR
&R o T BE 2 B BUR R M & 1L - & B I8 A Ef
B BEREEXRRBH  BARAKERITT
RIFHIREERRE -

EEEREMNTERREAERERBBET
TEENITREEZ  BARAREBERERHGIFT T &
REHAE MEERPEEEES -

—EEMEE  KRERENA=REEN
P HERXAXMBR  SRKERFME
R EETRR BN - 8 B RITEA M E
BE - _REFEAE ASEHESEZRESR
B ETRBMAL - BEAR S E R BRI
CEEEMENEFELNES BHR2HEP
BREREFNES /RITEH A =
EEREBEST BRARANRKRRAEERXE
BMRERBR - MEEIREE  EHEE
MEBEREBMREXKER BEIH
EAMEEBIZEKE -



The Group has achieved significant development over the past
year. These achievements have been made possible through our
hard effort and also the support of shareholders and business
partners. | therefore take this opportunity to express my heartfelt
gratitude to the board, senior management, the technical team,
business partners and all staff members who have worked with
us along the way. With the expertise and dedicated efforts of
our team, the Group is making firm progress towards its goal of
becoming a leading producer of non-conventional natural gas in
China.

Dai Xiaobing
Chairman

Hong Kong, 20 March 2015

Chairman’s Statement
EREBES
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The Pressurization and Dehydration Process
of Coalhed Methane (CBM)

5 & 5 38 R BR K o 12 4 !

The Significance of CBM’s Pressurization and Dehydration % & 38 11 B fii KR IR A =

The CBM exists in subsurface coalbed, mainly as the form of adsorption state for macromolecules group. The CH,4 content in Sanjiao CBM
district is high, but the CO, content is low, and no H,S and hydrocarbon which contains Cs. When the CBM is drained to the wellhead,
the gas pressure is relatively low which is around 0.05MPa, and CBM contains saturated water, unsaturated water and pulverized coal.
Therefore, the CBM need to go through the pressurization, filtration and dehydration treatment in order to meet the national standards of
natural gas (GB17820) |l quality indicator and then entering the gas pipelines network for sales.

BREREZUARD FENRMREFENMETRES  —XKEERFRCH)EER —HA(LIRCO)TED ﬁﬂtﬁm H.S) &% =ik CslA k=
MR - RER MR E A OEK 'ﬁ%‘%ﬂ’a@ﬁ?ﬂi ' —R1E0.054 H  EREBHEHHFK - DEAFAKARERMK - FlkEERFTEL
BB - BR - BKEE  REE2EIERELECRAR)(GBL7820) || HRERENELEE T EEANBRE/ETHES -

The Technological Process of Pressurization and Dehydration 38 EXAR KR I T 2/ 12

After entering the pressurizing dehydration station, the CBM firstly gets into the buffer tank to undergo the process of pressure buffering,
preliminary dewatering and solid phase separation. Then CBM enters into the screw compressor with pressure increased to 1-1.5MPa.
After that, the CBM goes through the filtering decompression lever, which removes the pulverized coal. After the molecular sieve
dehydration lever, the saturated water is removed. Then the CBM water dew point will not be higher than -60T (atmospheric pressure).
Finally, CBM gets into the buffer regulator metering lever. After the metering value calculation set, CBM can be distributed in two ways.
Firstly, the CBM can be sold in pipeline directly. Secondly, after the buffering and regulating, the pressure of CBM is increased to 20MPa
in the CNG compressor, we can achieve the CNG sales by using the CNG filling gas device for tankers.

BB RET AR KEE  BREAREEETENEET  URNKRERDBEIE - AREANRITRERREENEINE1~1.5MPa -
BENBBREBRESREKERTHER  &£i8 %*%HWM%J;%EEEEHRBM%J@ﬁEP E’Jﬁ@ﬂ7k EHEERKERTEN-60T (FE) @ RKE#EA
ERERBAER KB ENENER  —REARFPHEETHERETHE AJ 7 4 18 12 B2 12 M A\ CNGEE #ia # 15 SR 88 R 1 — 2 42
= 2I20MPa * FICNGHNSRE B RIEHE MR - BHCONGEEEHHE -



The Pressurization and Dehydration Process
of Coalhed Methane (CBM)

HERIBERKIERE

Residential user

Industrial user
TEAR

e

! CNG Tanker
! CNG &=

Process itz

o Buffer emptying lever: achieve the CBM’s primary separation of water and liquid. Buffer inlet pressure
EERER  BERERBROVEK  ROBE - GEEOESD
Screw compressor: increase CBM'’s initial pressure
BATERAER - KR IIRINE

3 Filtering decompression lever: the second filtration of CBM to extract the pulverized coal
BRREBRE - RERZKBE - BEEERDHEYD

9 Low pressure molecular sieve dehydration lever: remove the saturated water in CBM
KBS FEHKE : RERERNBMK

@ Buffer regulator metering lever: regulate the pressure of CBM to meet the requirement of outside pipelines
RERBAER  BRERREENAIINGERATED

6 CNG compressor: compress the CBM inlet pressure from 1-1.5MPa to 20MPa to comply with the standards of
compressed natural gas
CNGE#E# - BEERERIE S H1-1.5MPaBR i £ 20MPalA R & B K ARIZ2E




Calendar of Events
FTERE

2014.01

The report on environmental effects
from Sanjiao CBM Project was
approved by Shanxi Provincial
Department of Environmental
Protection on 28 July 2014. The
report on environmental effects is a
core assessment report which is the
most crucial and symbolic part to the
Overall Development Plan (“ODP”)

EREEREE ZREZEREEFTN20145F7H28
ARLAARRABELE BHBEEER=NEREE
EBF%AS = [ODP| ABRAZR LK ARRME —REIRY
CE

Successful placement of HK$593 million new shares of the Company
R EE 593,000,000 Jt A B Z FT AR

2014.07

On 4 July, 2014, Shanxi Administration Bureau
of Coal Mine Safety granted to the first batch
of five coalbed methane enterprises with safety
production permit. Orion Energy International
Inc. under Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited
was among the first batch of nationwide
enterprises and first batch of foreign coalbed
methane enterprises in the PRC to be issued
the safety production permit.
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2014.09

According to a “Notice Regarding Adjustment of
Natural Gas Price for Non-Residential Users" issued
by the National Development and Reform Commission
in 2014, the Group and PetroChina have jointly
decided to increase the gas selling price for industrial
users of the Sanjiao coalbed methane project by
RMBO0.25 per cubic meter with retrospective effect
from 1 September 2014

RERBRARXEZEEN2014F B H2 (FRARFERARF
BRAREENEXN) @ AEEEPABHARIRE @ HHAZE=R
RERBAEIXAFZHEENE  SYHRKEMARYK0.257T
ERHENE20145F9H1H

2014.12

Gas sale-to-production rate
has further improved to 94% in
the 2014, achieve nearly 100%
pipeline sales
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During the year ended 31 December 2014, Sino Oil and Gas
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
the “Group”) recorded a turnover of HK$16,540,000 (2013:
HK$21,598,000), while posting an 80.5% increase in trial sales
of coalbed methane (“CBM”) together with related government
subsidies amounting to HK$70,198,000 (2013: HK$38,899,000)
as disclosed under the item of “other revenue”.

The CBM operation moved rapidly into profitability as sales
increased upon the completion of complementary facilities,
including the CBM processing station and sales pipelines, in
phases. The achievement of profitability was also attributable to
the increase in CBM sales price in 2013 and subsequently the
13.9% increase in CBM price for industrial users during the year.
In the absence of any one-off expenses (2013: HK$25,247,000)
for this year, as well as a 11.9% reduction in administrative
expenses owing to enhanced internal cost controls, the Group
registered a profit for the year of HK$10,420,000 (loss in 2013:
HK$61,332,000).

Coalbed Methane Exploitation—Sanjiao Block in the Erdos
Basin

Project Overview

Through its wholly-owned subsidiary Orion Energy International
Inc. (“Orion”), the Group entered into a production sharing
contract (“PSC”) with China National Petroleum Corporation
(“PetroChina”), its partner in the PRC, for exploration, exploitation
and production at a CBM field in the Sanjiao block, located in the
Erdos Basin in Shanxi and Shaanxi provinces. The Group has a
70% interest in the PSC. The PSC covers a block in the Erdos
Basin in Shanxi and Shaanxi provinces, with a total site area
of 383 square kilometers. According to a competent person’s
report provided to the Company in November 2011, the proved
and probable CBM reserves of Sanjiao block amounted to 405.6
billion cubic feet (approximately 11.5 billion cubic meters).

In August 2012, the National Development and Reform
Commission (“NDRC”) — National Energy Administration (“NEA”)
granted a reply to the application of the overall development
plan (“ODP”) for the development of Sanjiao CBM project. This
signifies a milestone in the project’s commercial production
process. On 28 July 2014, the report on environmental effects
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from Sanjiao CBM project was further approved by Shanxi
Provincial Department of Environmental Protection. The report on
environmental effects is a core assessment report which is the
most crucial and emblematic part of the ODP. Pursuant to the
“Regulations on Exploitation of Onshore Petroleum Resources
in Cooperation with Foreign Enterprises”, only when a foreign
CBM cooperation project has obtained the State’s approval of its
ODP is allowed to carry out sizable development and production.
Hence, this approval has laid a solid foundation for the grant of
final approval of the ODP from the PRC government. The Group
has completed all necessary assessment reports and has been
granted all required governmental approvals, pending the final
approval of the ODP.

Infrastructure

As at the end of 2014, the Sanjiao CBM project has completed a
total of 73 wells, comprising 40 multilateral horizontal wells and
33 vertical wells. Out of the total 73 wells, 63 wells were in the
normal dewatering stage, of which 52 wells had access to the
gas collection pipeline network. A ground pipeline network of
approximately 18 kilometers, inter-well pipelines of approximately
39 kilometers, and outbound pipelines of approximately 17
kilometers were completed. Approximately total 49 kilometers of
10KV power grid and branch power line were also completed.

Adopting the multi-lateral horizontal well-drilling system designed
by US oil service professionals, one multi-lateral horizontal well
was added during the year with dewatering and gas extraction
currently underway. With constant enhancement to dewatering
and gas extraction technologies, the Group was able to maintain
a stable preliminary production capacity so as to prepare for
steady growth in production over the long term, thus helping to
achieve a favorable sales-to-production rate.
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In 2012, the Group completed the construction of a CBM
processing station with daily processing capacity of 150,000
cubic meters. The Company has been expanding the capacity
of the station during the period in order to cope with increasing
CBM production.

Owing to the tight gas supply in the western part of Shanxi
Province and the lack of pipelines and other infrastructure,
the Shanxi provincial government has set up three designated
CBM pipelines in the Sanjiao block and its surrounding areas.
These pipelines are all constructed and invested by third parties,
including (1) the CBM pipeline from Sanjiao to Linxian for gas
supply for residential, commercial and industrial use, as well
as heating in winter, with an annual designed gas transmission
capacity of 350 million cubic meters; (2) the designated CBM
pipeline of the Sanjiao CBM block for gas supply to Senze
Coal & Aluminum Group, a local coal processor and aluminium
manufacturer, with an annual designed gas transmission capacity
of 350 million cubic meters; and (3) the CBM pipeline from
Sanjiao to Luliang for gas supply to Xiaoyi and central Shanxi. All
three pipelines are currently operational.

In addition, in December 2012 the Group acquired a 30% equity
interest in a Sino-foreign joint venture. In order to broaden
sales channels in the future, this joint venture is in the process
of setting up a liquefied natural gas (“LNG”) station with daily
processing capacity of 1.2 million cubic meters in the Sanjiao
area of Shanxi Province. The design of the first phase of the LNG
station, with a daily processing capacity of 300,000 cubic meters,
was completed in early March 2015 and will be constructed in
line with the schedule of ODP approval. Tendering of related
works is currently in process. Upon completion, the LNG station
will broaden the Sanjiao project’s sales channels.

Sales

According to a “Notice Regarding Adjustment of Natural Gas
Price for Non-Residential Users” issued by NDRC in the second
half of 2014, the Group and PetroChina have jointly decided to
increase the gas selling price for industrial users of the Sanjiao
CBM project. The gas selling price was increased by RMBO0.25
per cubic meter with retrospective effect from 1 September 2014
as agreed with the buyer. This 13.9% price adjustment had an
immediate and significant positive impact on the revenue and
earnings of the Sanjiao project.
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In addition, during the year, the Ministry of Finance has released
subsidies on CBM sales from Sanjiao project in 2012 and 2013
on the basis of RMBO0.2 per cubic meter in accordance with the
state policy. It is expected that government subsidies on 2014
sales will be received around the third quarter of 2015.

During the year, the Sanjiao project recorded CBM production
of approximately 47.28 million cubic meters (2013: 45.45 million
cubic meters) and CBM sales of approximately 44.26 million
cubic meters (2013: 30.45 million cubic meters), resulting in a
gas sale-to-production rate of 93.6% (2013: 67.0%) for the full
year. In terms of the composition of gas sales during the year,
industrial piped CBM sales accounted for 89.7% of total sales,
while residential piped CBM sales contributed 10.2% and CNG
sales contributed 0.1%. Total piped CBM sales accounted for
99.9% of total gas sales during the year.

The Sanjiao project posted an operating profit during the year.
With the positive impact of both sales and price increases, the
project’s long-term outlook for profitability is promising.

Oilfields Located in Shaanxi Province—Liuluoyu, Yanjiawan
and Jinzhuang

In view of the promising prospects for the development of the
CBM business, the Group has reallocated resources to focus on
the Sanjiao CBM project. The development of the oilfields is thus
proceeding somewhat more slowly than previously.

During the year under review, the two oilfields in Liuluoyu and
Yanjiawan in the Erdos Basin, Shaanxi Province, yielded an
aggregate crude oil output of approximately 2,449 tonnes (2013:
3,500 tonnes). The Jinzhuang oilfield in the hinterland of the
Erdos highland, Shaanxi Province, has an area of 62 square
kilometers and yielded a crude oil output of approximately
2,208 tonnes (2013: 2,600 tonnes). As the Sanjiao project is
proceeding smoothly into profitability, the Group is actively
planning to reallocate resources with a view to driving more solid
development of the oilfields in Shaanxi Province.

SRS Hh

SO RFER - BRUBED REEEBKAM
BME BAHERERESLHAKARKO.2

TCIZYE - [m = R TE B #2012 20134
HENHEBEIZ  MOUFEEBRIEERN

HEBRAME  BHER2016FF =F A&
YE e

FEAN —REBHEERBRN4,7288
F oK (20135 14,5458 F oK) - HEEE
44,4268 37 75 K (20134 : 3,045& 2 /5
oK) - BFEFHEHELFIEN.6% (20134 -
67.0%) - HEEFHNHEELERIXZATER
BRIEEMSI7T% RAEEBREERBEN
10.2% ' CNGEE & 150.1% -ttt - BEEE
RIBECEE2FRIHESMN9.9% o

“RBERAFEAEEZEEELRM &
HEMERREANIAZET  ARBEHE
REBMENRBEED -

1 72 /5% 75 & 9 8 1 &2 28 — M55 U+ ] 5 8 R
2H

EXRERNERASEE AXEEES
BRENAR  EHBR=KERER -
H AR B B R [ i SR BT AR 18 o

FEEFEAN NRARELASBZHAMN
W% A K [ R OE B B 2 3R 2 [RBE 2 4
52,4490 (20134 : 3,500M8) » B> & FE
BENERAESBZH e REN BEE
B2FARE-FEAN ©EMBZREHER
#) /2,208M8 (20134 : 2,600MF) - B R =
RIBB B EEE - BAIASE EBER S
R2016F EEHAMEIR * LA IMRBEFEE W
HAERAER -

REARZERBRDAF ¢ 2014 F 1]

23



24

Management Discussion and Analysis

EHEE RS h

Capital Expenditure

As Sanjiao CBM project is yet to enter into the development
and production phase, the income generated from trial sales of
coalbed methane during the year was recorded as other revenue.
Therefore, substantial portion of expenditure incurred in relation
to Sanjiao CBM project had been capitalized. For the year
ended 31 December 2014, the total expenditure capitalized was
HK$180 million (2013: HK$295 million), which mainly comprises
of (i) gas exploration expenses, (ii) direct expenses and (i) finance
expenses, the breakdown of which is as follows:

(i) Gas exploration expenses mainly represented drilling
expenses amounted to HK$9.1 million (2013: HK$59
million), dewatering expenses amounted to HK$16 million
(2013: HK$29 million) and ground facility expenditure
amounted to HK$14.4 million (2013: HK$26 million);

(i)  Direct expenses mainly represented direct labour cost
(included, but not limit to, petroleum engineers and
geologists etc.) amounted to HK$23.6 million (2013: HK$21
million) and other direct cost incidental to exploration and
development of the Sanjiao CBM project amounted to
HK$40.7 million (2013: HK$33 million) (included, but not
limit to, cost of various technical reports prepared for the
purpose of applying the overall development plan for the
Sanjiao CBM project); and

(i)  The total finance expenses capitalized during the year was

HK$76.2 million (2013: HK$127 million).

For the year ended 31 December 2014, there was no significant
drilling activities performed in the OQilfields located in Shaanxi
Province.
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Possible Acquisition— Oilfields in Alberta, Canada

In order to increase resources reserves, the Group is actively
seeking appropriate oil and gas blocks in China, while exploring
investment opportunities in overseas upstream businesses. The
Group hence entered into two non-legally-binding memorandums
of understanding (“MOU”) in June and September 2014. The
acquisition targets are oilfields located in Alberta Province,
Canada. The Group is currently undertaking geological
evaluation of the target area. The vendor is required to engage a
professional geology consultancy firm to issue a geology research
report on the correlation of oil-bearing horizons, reservoir
dynamic testing, research on fractured reservoirs, formational
pressure, research on formation temperature and drive type of
reservoir of the oil field in Canada. The Group is also conducting
a due diligence review of the assets, indebtedness, operation
and financial aspects of the target blocks. Oil and gas resources
in North America are abundant and the local markets are
sophisticated. Despite the current drop in international oil prices,
which will increase the Group’s bargaining power in negotiations
towards the acquisition of oil and gas businesses, the Group
believes that, as oil prices begin to recover from their trough, the
operation of high-quality oil and gas businesses in North America
or other overseas countries will contribute to the asset base and
profitability of the Group in the long term. Such investments will
also help balance the Group’s geographical risk exposure.

Summary of Resources
The Group’s oil and gas reserves, as at 31 December 2014, are
summarized as follows:

SRS Hh

EBEHWBEE—IRNEXXHEEY
JHH E 5

AEENEEERHE SETEEBRRASK
AEARER  TEGHRGIN EHFER
MEBEREKS - EEN2014F6A K9A
MM TN EERNRNDZRBETS - B
BERBALAME RN ABEZHEE  SER
FREZWEBRESETHENT BEHFE
FEEWEZAQAR UHABENZEXH
BrHE LY HESHEMNR Wil
& o 75 - b fE R 0 A 4b [B R JE AF 95 IA 0
REESEN 2 HWENERES -BAREE
NERERENEE B Z2ERMBIE

ETERES - ALXMWRBREREELE

BHITERMSRA - #ARB FIBEERRE T
BRETEMNT EEEBERREBNZERE
N RERF ERDEE  ZEEHRESZR
FEDERE EXIEMEENBEINAR
EBE@RAKEEERANGRER  RE
IRl DASE B SR B A R A s e R -

BERHE
REER2014F12 A31 B HY M & 4 5l an
ok

Crude Oil Coalbed Methane
R RER

Liuluoyu and
Yanjiawan Jinzhuang Sanjiao
g s R B xR E eFE =32
tonnes tonnes  Billion cubic feet (Gross)
g g TIEV HER (AEEE)

Proved and Probable BE ML 349,951 (Note a)

(Kt &Ea)

4,148,792 (Note b)
(g 5ED)

400.7 (Note c)
(Bt 5Ec)

REARZERBRDAF ¢ 2014 F 1]

25



26

Management Discussion and Analysis
THBHWRR S

Notes:

(@) In the absence of large-scale exploration works during the year,
no material change to the resources reserve has been observed.
The Company has thus made an estimation of the oil reserve as at
31 December 2014 on the basis of the internal experts’ oil reserve
estimates of 2010, adjusted and updated based on oil production
volume.

(b) In the absence of large-scale exploration works during the year,
no material change to the resources reserve has been observed.
The Company has thus made an estimation of the oil reserve as
at 31 December 2014 on the basis of a report formulated by an
independent professional reserve valuation firm in September 2011,
according to the PRC’s reserve standards, adjusted and updated
based on oil production volume.

(c) In the absence of large-scale exploration works during the year,
no material change to the resources reserve has been observed.
The Company has thus made an estimation on the oil reserve
as at 31 December 2014 on the basis of a competent person’s
report prepared in accordance with the standards for “Petroleum
Resources Management System” recognized under Chapter 18 of
the Listing Rules and provided to the Company in November 2011,
adjusted and updated based on oil production volume.

Category

5l

Proved (1P) EE (1P)
Proved and Probable (2P) BE R (2P)

(d)  Reserve translation reference: One tonne of crude oil is equivalent
to approximately 7.3 barrels; one cubic meter of natural gas is
equivalent to approximately 35.2 cubic feet.
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In January 2014, the Company entered into subscription
agreements with not less than six subscribers, to which a total of
300,000,000 subscription shares were allotted and issued at a
price of HK$0.22 per subscription share. The proceeds from the
subscriptions of approximately HK$66,000,000 have been fully
utilised for operations of the Group’s existing oil and gas projects
and working capital.

In July 2014, the Group entered into subscription agreements
with not less than six subscribers for the allotment and issue of
2,900 million new shares, at a price of HK$0.205 per subscription
share. The net proceeds from the subscriptions of approximately
HK$593,500,000 have been used for operations of the Group’s
existing oil and gas projects, repayment of loan, purchase of
short-term investment and payment for the necessary deposit for
the possible acquisition of the Canadian oilfield.

Subsequently in January 2015, the Group appointed a placing
agent for the issue of bonds up to an aggregate amount of
HK$300,000,000. The bonds bear an interest rate of 7% per
annum, are unsecured and transferrable and with maturity dates
of 84 months immediately following the respective dates of issue
of the bonds. The net proceeds from the bonds issue will be used
as general working capital and/or for repayment of loans.

Apart from the above financing sources, the Group’s subsidiary,
Orion, may utilise the remaining loan facility of RMB600 million
provided by CDB Leasing Co., Ltd. as and when needed
upon approval of the ODP. With sufficient funding, the overall
financial position of the Group has strengthened steadily, and
with the satisfactory operation and development of the Sanjiao
CBM project, the Group is able to meet its financing needs for
developing various oil and gas projects.
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As at 31 December 2014, the net assets of the Group were
HK$4,054,000,000 (31 December 2013: HK$3,447,000,000)
while its total assets were HK$4,699,000,000 (31 December
2013: HK$4,275,000,000). As at 31 December 2014, the Group
had external borrowings including the liability component of
convertible notes of HK$473,075,000 (31 December 2013:
HK$617,062,000), and the gearing ratio based on total assets
was 10.06% (31 December 2013: 14.43%). Details of the
Group’s pledge of assets and the maturity profile of the Group’s
borrowings is set out in note 33 to the financial statements. At
31 December 2014, the current ratio was 1.42 (31 December
2013: 0.35). With a significant improvement in the gearing ratio
and liquidity position, the Group’s overall financial position has
strengthened.

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through sales
and purchase transactions and recognised liabilities of assets that
are denominated in a currency other than the functional currency
of the operations to which they relate. At 31 December 2014,
no related hedges were made by the Group. In respect of trade
and other receivables and payables held in currencies other than
the functional currency of the operations to which they relate,
the Group ensures that its net exposure is kept to an acceptable
level by buying or selling foreign currencies at spot rates where
necessary to address short-term imbalances.

As at 31 December 2014, the Group employed approximately 356
employees. The remuneration policy of the Group is based on the
prevailing remuneration level in the market and the performance
of respective companies and individual employees.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Natural gas and oil exploitation is the focus of the Group’s
ongoing development. It will continue to expand the exploration
and production of the Sanjiao CBM project in the Erdos Basin
in Shaanxi Province, an area listed by NEA as a core CBM
production base in China. The Sanjiao block has been listed as a
core project under the “12th Five-Year Plan”. It is expected that
the project will be able to enjoy stronger policy support in terms
of the use of land, government approvals and financing.

Liaison work in respect of ODP approval has proceeded further.
Following the grant of approval of the report on environmental
effects by Shanxi Provincial Department of Environmental
Protection, the application work has substantially completed.
The project has already moved forward into trial commercial
operations with operating profit recorded. In line with the
schedule of ODP approval by NDRC, the Group will continue to
engage in the active development of ground facilities, while the
capacity of the CBM processing station is being expanded to
cope with increased gas sales. The Group has also employed
foreign advanced well-drilling technologies to seek to further
explore the recoverable gas reserves of the Sanjiao block.

The “12th Five-Year Plan” has outlined China’s target to achieve
CBM production of 20 billion cubic meters by 2015. However, in
view of the slower-than-expected CBM production growth against
a backdrop of suppressed gas prices, meeting this target will
prove to be a challenging task. Being a major energy consumer
in the world, China’s natural gas demand is currently 32% met by
imports. To provide impetus for domestic CBM production, China
has moved forward a price reform for the natural gas sector, to
be implemented in three years from 2013, with the ultimate goal
of opening up the sector. The increase in CBM price will have
a positive impact on the Sanjiao project’s revenue and earnings
and its contribution to the Group.

The Sanjiao CBM project is a major growth driver for the Group.
Management is confident that the project will bring satisfactory
long-term returns for shareholders. The Group is also pursuing
investment opportunities in mid- and lower-stream businesses,
as well as in mergers and acquisitions of overseas oil and gas
assets, in order to drive the Group’s business momentum
forward.
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Directors and Senior Management Profiles

EFREEBREEAREN

Dr. Dai Xiaobing, aged 47, was appointed as Executive Director
of the Company in May 2010 and Chairman of the Board of
the Company in September 2011. Dr. Dai was awarded a PhD
in Econometrics by the School of Economics, Jilin University,
the PRC. Dr. Dai is experienced in the corporate finance sector
as well as merger and acquisitions and corporate restructuring
of companies in the PRC. He is also familiar with the capital
market in the PRC. Dr. Dai had been one of the co-founder of
China Securities Journal published by Xinhua News Agency and
was a journalist, department head and deputy general manager
of the agency, through which he has extensive experience in
government public relations and investor relations. He was the
president of Huda Technology & Education Development Co., Ltd.
CTAE AR B R ERM AR AR]) and also an independent
director of Jiangxi Ganneng Co., Ltd. (LFEZEERMDBR L
B]). Both of the above companies are listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange and listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
respectively.

Mr. King Hap Lee, aged 52, was appointed as Chief Executive
Officer of the Company in November 2010 and Executive Director
of the Company in September 2011. In September 2012, Mr.
King resigned as Chief Executive Officer of the Company and
assumed the position as Deputy Chairman of the Board of the
Company. Then in June 2014, Mr. King was appointed as Chief
Executive Officer (and Deputy Chairman of the Board). Mr. King is
principally responsible for assisting the Chairman of the Company
to lead the Board and formulating the corporate strategies
and development plans for the oil and gas business with the
Board, while pursing and exploring the potential opportunities
for the midstream and upstream oil and gas business. Mr. King
graduated from Xian Jiaotong University in 1983. He worked
for various central government departments and state-owned
enterprises for a considerable period of time and has more than
20 years experience in government organizations and enterprises
management. He was the deputy director and Chairman of
Workers Union of Mechanic and Electronic Products Importation
and Exportation Office of the State Council, the deputy general
manager of FFEIMIK T2 H#HRYI%EE QT (China Machinery
Industry Marketing & Supply Shenzhen Group Corporation®) and
managing director of F#ZEE A F] (China National Machinery
Hong Kong Company?).
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Directors and Senior Management Profiles
EEREGEREERARMESY

Mr. Wan Tze Fan Terence, aged 50, was appointed as
Executive Director of the Company in March 2009. He is also
the chief financial officer of the Company. Mr. Wan holds a
bachelor degree of commerce and a master degree of business
administration. He has years of experience in accounting and
financial management and has worked for international accounting
firms and listed companies in Hong Kong. He is a fellow member
of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a
Certified Practising Accountant of CPA Australia. He is also an
independent non-executive director of China Primary Energy
Holdings Limited and Eagle Legend Asia Limited, both of which
are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Mr. Chen Hua, aged 49, was appointed as Non-executive
Director of the Company in June 2014. Mr. Chen holds a bachelor
degree and founded the Kingkey Group Limited (“Kingkey Group”)
in 1994. He is the founder, chairman and chief executive officer
of Kingkey Group. Kingkey Group is a Chinese well-known brand
with an integrated business comprising property development,
hotel, property management, financial investment, golf club and
beverage operations. Kingkey Group has invested and developed
total construction area of over 5 million square metres and its
constructions have been awarded various prizes by different
cities, provinces and the state. It is one of the Top 50 Property
Enterprises in China and renowned in the property sector across
the nation. Kingkey Group took four years to complete the
‘KK100” Complex which has become the landmark of Shenzhen
and one of the tallest complex building in the world. Mr. Chen
also actively involves in various community charities and has
accumulated hundreds of millions RMB charitable donations over
the years.
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EFREEBREEAREN

Mr. Huang Shaowu, aged 44, was appointed as Non-executive
Director of the Company in June 2014. Mr. Huang was the main
founder for Shenzhen Aisidi Co., Ltd. (“Aisidi”) (shares of which
are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange) in 1998 and it is
the “Fortune” 500 enterprises in China. Mr. Huang is currently
a director of Aisidi, the chairman of Shenzhen Sinomaster
Investment Group Co., Ltd. (RYITHMBEEEEFRAQ
A, “SMT") which is the controlling shareholder of Aisidi and
substantial shareholder of the Company, and the chairman and
general manager of FYTERKEREERFRAF which is
major shareholder of Aisidi. SMT is an investment conglomerate
with extensive investments in distribution, retail, logistics, finance,
real estate, tourism, high-tech, e-commerce and ecological
agricultural businesses.

Mr. He Lin Feng, aged 45, was appointed as Non-executive
Director of the Company in August 2014. Mr. He holds a bachelor
degree in Economics from Renmin University of China. Mr. He has
been an executive director of ZRERIERHZBRR AT since 2006.
He was a director of ZK/EM &R E B A A from 1996 to 2005
and the business manager of ZKEM/EFEZE AR from 1991 to
1995. Mr. He has extensive experience in financial management
and project investment businesses.

Mr. Ma Tengying, aged 44, was appointed as Non-executive
Director of the Company in April 2013. Mr. Ma is currently
the executive director and co-president of China Orient Asset
Management (International) Holding Limited (“COAMCI”). He
worked in the Credit Department of the Head Office of the Bank
of China for 6 years and has been serving the China Orient
Asset Management Corporation (parent company of COAMCI)
and its subsidiaries for over 15 years. He has successively held
posts including the deputy director of the Credit Department
of the Bank of China, the head of the preparatory group for
Dongxing Securities (601198 CH), the general manager of
COAMC Zhengzhou Branch, the general manager of Bangxin
Asset Management Co., Ltd., and the vice chairman of the board
of Dong Yin Development (Holdings) Limited. Mr. Ma held a
Master’s degree in economics granted by the Graduate School
of Chinese Academy of Social Sciences and a Bachelor’s degree
conferred by the Renmin University of China. He is superbly
experienced in managing securities firms, financial institutions,
asset management and wealth management both in Mainland
China and Hong Kong.
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EFREEEHEARMEY

Mr. Wong Kwok Chuen Peter, aged 55, was appointed as
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company in April
2006. Mr. Wong is currently a practising barrister-at-law of the
High Court of the Hong Kong SAR. Mr. Wong holds a master
degree of commerce in marketing from University of Strathclyde,
UK and a post-graduate certificate in laws from University of
Hong Kong. Mr. Wong has 21 years of extensive experience in
legal practice.

Professor Wong Lung Tak Patrick, BBS, JP, aged 66, was
appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director of the
Company in August 2010. Professor Wong is a Certified Public
Accountant (Practising) in Hong Kong and Managing Practicing
Director of Patrick Wong CPA Limited. He is also a Chartered
Secretary and a Certified Tax Advisor. He has over 40 years’
experience in the accountancy profession. Professor Wong was
accorded Doctor of Philosophy in Business, was awarded a
Badge of Honour by the Queen of England, was appointed a
Justice of the Peace and was awarded a Bronze Bauhinia Star
(BBS) by the Hong Kong Government of SAR. He was appointed
Adjunct Professor, School of Accounting and Finance, The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University from 2002 to 2013. Professor
Wong is currently an independent non-executive director of
Galaxy Entertainment Group Limited, CC Land Holdings Limited,
China Precious Metal Resources Holdings Co., Ltd., Guangzhou
Baiyunshan Pharmaceutical Holdings Company Limited, Water
QOasis Group Limited, Real Nutriceutical Group Limited, National
Arts Entertainment and Culture Group Limited, Winox Holdings
Limited, Excel Development (Holdings) Limited and BAIC Motor
Corporation Limited, all of which are listed on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange.
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EFREEBREEAREN

Dr. Wang Yanbin, aged 58, was appointed as an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company in September 2011.
Dr. Wang is a professor and tutor for doctoral candidates of
China University of Mining & Technology (Beijing), and head
of the Scientific Research Office of China University of Mining
& Technology (Beijing). Dr. Wang holds a bachelor degree in
coalfield geology from the faculty of geology of Huainan Mining
Institute in China. He also holds a master degree in coal petrology
and coalfield geology and a doctor degree in coalfield, oil and
gas geology and organic geochemistry from China University of
Mining & Technology (Beijing). Prior to 1993, Dr. Wang mainly
engaged in teaching and scientific research on coalfield geology
and coalbed methane geology. Since 1993, he has focused on
geological research on coalfield geology, oil, natural gas and
coalbed methane. He has led the development of a project
for the National Natural Science Foundation of China, and few
scientific projects for China National Petroleum Corporation and
China Petrochemical Corporation. Dr. Wang has also participated
in more than 30 scientific projects in cooperation with various oil
fields and Mining Bureaus nationwide. He was granted the State
Scientific and Technological Progress Award for several times and
has published 3 books and more than 70 academic papers.

Dr. Dang Weihua, aged 49, was appointed as an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company in July 2013. Dr.
Dang is currently the General Manager of Shenzhen Branch of
Changjiang Securities Company Limited (“Changjiang Securities”)
and the Chief Representative of Shenzhen Representative Office
of Changjiang Securities. Prior to this, he served as Deputy
General Manager of Asset Preservation Department and Legal
& Compliance Department of Changjiang Securities. Dr. Dang
has worked in Changjiang Securities (formerly known as Hubei
Securities Company Limited) for 22 years and served in different
departments and positions. He has extensive experience in
securities industry. Dr. Dang holds a master degree of business
administration at Zhongnan University of Economics and Law.
He was awarded a PhD in Econometrics by the School of
Economics, Jilin University. Dr. Dang holds a Chinese lawyer
qualification as well as securities practice qualification.

Annual Report 2014 « Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited

EEFEL - 5857 - R2011FOREZE AR
NAZBUFNTES - THLRATRHE
EXRB(LER)HE BLEBM UEFTEH
BEAZ(ULR)MAERR - TETFAEF
Bl EMBEXERERERME S+ 2460
LEPBRBERSLLREEENEBRLE
BELTEMERER HRME 2R A KR
b B B - P93 F /T T EMEEE
HinEMEERMEE@AORBRMIE-
19935 g - F ZR=HEBMME - AAX
ARMEBRBEBANMERRT  TEETER
FEAREHESER  UEAPEABKXAR
EEAQF - FHALCLEREAREZER
BIEE  HB2EZhEBENEERE ERKE
B30 IE  THRZAESEREFKES K-
i hR BEIEL - BR B R ILTOBRE o

HEEEEL 495 R2013F7TAEZFT AR
RElZBURITEE -EELTHRARIE
ERMDABRAR ([RIBESR] Rl RaE4E
KERRYNRREEERER U 28T b
EPHARIZFAFANEERE S  EABREGH
Blaassis  BEETABRRIZES (S AN
tBEEHEERETAR) Z+=2F BETRZE
PINEBA RERNZBEELH B
EFREUEBREARENTIHERE LS
UEREMAEEHEREHELELH L2
- BEETHBEREZEREER  UARF
HMEER -



Directors and Senior Management Profiles
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Ms. Yim Siu Hung was appointed as the company secretary
of the Company in December 2011 mainly responsible for the
Group’s legal compliance work. Ms. Yim has joined the Company
since August 2005 and holds a degree in law and a degree in
accountancy. She is a fellow member of both The Hong Kong
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators. She has years of extensive
experience in the company secretarial sector and has worked for
international accounting and law firms and listed companies in
Hong Kong.

Mr. Zhu Danping joined the Group in September 2012. He
is responsible for the Group’s operational management and
the coordination in relation to the government’s public affairs,
in particular the production and operation of Orion Energy
International Inc. In early 2013, Mr. Zhu was appointed as
chairman of Orion Energy International Inc.; director and legal
representative of Pipeline International Limited (a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company) and vice chairman of 72K E
RFEEBER AT, 30% equity interest of which is being held by
the subsidiary of the Company. Mr. Zhu was Executive Director
and Chief Executive Officer of the Company during the period
from June 2013 to June 2014. Prior to joining the Group, Mr.
Zhu worked in Shenzhen Industrial Exhibition Centre as a curator
for the construction of the new building and the tender for
exhibition during the period between 2007 and 2012 and has
extensive experience in the operating management and working
for government authorities. Mr. Zhu was a postgraduate in
philosophy from Zhongshan University and worked for the institute
for Shenzhen Intermediate People’s Court as well as F#IITE
HTE AR (Shenzhen Hairun Industrial and Trading Company?)
as a deputy general manager and a supervisor, ¥ EBREREE A
@] (Sinoexpo International Exhibition Company*) of #JIHEEE
F Ly (Shenzhen International Exhibition Centre*) as a managing
director, Shenzhen Industrial Exhibition Centre as a deputy
curator and Shenzhen Productivity Centre as an officer. He was
responsible for the organization of various significant projects for
the government and the planning and management of exhibitions
during his term of office. With a strong social connection and
network, he delivered a remarkable performance.
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Mr. Wang Liang joined the Group in 2010 and was General
Manager for the Group’s Shaanxi oilfield projects. He has been
appointed as Vice President of the Group, General Manager of
Orion Energy International Inc. (“Orion”) and Manager of Sanjiao
Joint Project Division fully in charge of Orion and Sanjiao Joint
Project Division since 2014. Mr. Wang graduated from the
Department of Law of Heilongjiang University. He has extensive
management experience in the sectors of oil, natural gas and
communication.

Ms. Ngai Mei Angel joined the Company in September 2014
as Vice President of the Group, mainly responsible for investor
relations and financing. Ms. Ngai graduated from Manchester
Metropolitan University, UK, and has ten years of working
experience in relation to investor relations. Ms. Ngai once worked
in Minsheng Bank, during which time she participated in the
acquisition of Asia Commercial Bank in 2006, and was a member
of the Listing Team in 2009, responsible for overall planning of
overseas investor relations. She participated in various large
roadshows, cooperated closely with investment banks, financial
public relation and related professional teams, and participated
in the licence application of Minsheng Bank, Hong Kong Branch.
Ms. Ngai was also responsible for investor relations and corporate
financing of Hong Kong listed companies, leading a number of
financing projects.

Mr. Tan Xin joined the Company in February 2015 as Vice
President of the Group, mainly responsible for financing and
business mergers and acquisitions of the Group. Mr. Tan
graduated from the Department of World Economy of Shanghai
University of Finance and Economics majoring in International
Finance, and obtained his master degree from Nankai University
in Tianjin. He has extensive experience in international finance and
investment banking. Mr. Tan once worked in China Construction
Bank, Shenzhen Branch, and acted as cadre at sub-section level
and economist in the Foreign Exchange Department of China
Construction Bank and General Department of China Investment
Bank. Thereafter, he served as the Deputy General Manager of
FEEREBEFEE S A08], the General Manager of China Affairs
Department of BEHEBBRESRBAR AR and the General
Manager of JRIITTEREREERER A A
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Dr. Rao Mengyu has been working for Orion Energy International
Inc. (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group since November
2010) since December 2007 and now serves as the Chief
Geologist and Vice President of the Group, mainly responsible
for geology research and exploration work of the Group’s Sanjiao
coalbed methane project. Dr. Rao graduated from the Department
of Geology of Anhui University of Science & Technology. In 2005,
Dr. Rao was awarded a PhD in Geology by the China University
of Petroleum (East China). He was engaged in research work
for the oil and gas geology fundamental theories and coalbed
methane (“CBM”) development technology in the post-doctoral
station of the College of Petroleum and Natural Gas Engineering,
China University of Petroleum (Beijing). He has over 20 years of
experience in the industry and has years of experience in onsite
work and indoor scientific research in respect of CBM projects.
Dr. Rao has published 24 research papers in the journals such as
Acta Petrolei Sinica, and also is one of the principal participants
in the scientific research achievement of “Research, development
and application of CBM multi-lateral horizontal well”. Such
achievement was awarded the second prize of science and
technology advancement in 2009 by the China National Coal
Association.

Mr. Zhou Suolin joined the Group in 2007 and now serves
as Deputy Chief Accountant of the Group, responsible for the
financial management of the Group. Mr. Zhou graduated from
Changchun College of Geology majoring in Geology, held a
college degree in Statistics, and obtained his master degree in
Accounting from Business School of Jilin University. Mr. Zhou
was once Head of the Accounting and Finance Division of Jilin
Petroleum Survey and Exploration Command Office of the Ministry
of Geology and Mineral Resources, Director of the Finance
Department of Northeast Petroleum Bureau of the Ministry of
Geology and Mineral Resources (Shihai Bureau) and Director
of the Finance Department of Northeast Petroleum Bureau of
Sinopec Star Petroleum Co., Ltd. Mr. Zhou has extensive financial
management experience in the oil and natural gas sectors.

*

For identification purpose only
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The Board of Directors (the “Board”) and management of the
Company continue to achieve high standards of corporate
governance for the purpose of providing a framework and solid
foundation for its business operation and development. The
Company considers that effective corporate governance with
probity, transparency and accountability makes an important
contribution to corporate success and to enhancement of
shareholders value.

The Company complied with all the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”) contained in Appendix
14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing
Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) throughout the year ended 31 December 2014.

The Company has adopted the Model Code (the “Model Code”)
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the Company’s code
of conduct and rules governing dealing by all directors in the
securities of the Company.

All the Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the
required standard regarding directors’ securities dealings set out
in the Model Code during the year.

As at 31 December 2014, the Board comprises three executive
Directors, namely Dr. Dai Xiaobing (Chairman), Mr. King Hap Lee
(Chief Executive Officer) and Mr. Wan Tze Fan Terence; four Non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Chen Hua, Mr. Huang Shaowu,
Mr. He Lin Feng and Mr. Ma Tengying; and four Independent
Non-executive Directors (“INEDs”), namely Mr. Wong Kwok
Chuen Peter, Professor Wong Lung Tak Patrick, Dr. Wang Yanbin
and Dr. Dang Weihua.
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The individual attendance records of each Director at the

meetings of the Board, Audit Committee, Remuneration

Committee, Nomination Committee and general meetings during

the year are set out below:

Number of meetings held
during the year
Executive Directors
Dai Xiaobing (Chairman)
King Hap Lee (Chief Executive Officer)
Wan Tze Fan Terence
Zhu Danping
(resigned on 9 June 2014)
Wang Ziming
(resigned on 16 June 2014)

Non-executive Directors
Chen Hua

(appointed on 9 June 2014)
Huang Shaowu

(appointed on 9 June 2014)
He Lin Feng

(appointed on 22 August 2014)
Ma Tengying
Kong Siu Tim

(resigned on 9 June 2014)

Independent Non-executive
Directors

Wong Kwok Chuen Peter

Wong Lung Tak Patrick

Wang Yanbin

Dang Weihua

Board

T
FEERETEERY

10

BiTES
HNE(ZR) 10/10
RRF (THER) 8/10
BTE 10/10
T

(20146 AR ET) 4/4
Tam
(201456 A16B BHE) 4/4

FHrES
R
(R201456R9HEZ ) 6/6
RN
(R2014F6 AR ERT) 6/6
g
(R20144E8 A2 B EZE)  1/1
3/10

(201456 A9H B T) 3/4

BUENTESE

EBZ 10/10
g 10/10
T 8/10
BEE 10/10

Audit
Committee

ERZEE

2/2
2/2
2/2

EEENEFE FEZZEE .

FHzEg -

REZBEEEBRBRRAE 25 HF L8

AT

Remuneration
Committee

FWZEE

1

il
il

Nomination
Committee

REZEE

2/2

2/2
2/2

Annual
General
Meeting

REBEXE

1
0/1
il
01

0/1

01

0/1

0/1
01

0/1

17
il
01
0/1

Special
General
Meeting
REGHAE

01
0/1
17
0/1

0/1

0/1

01

01
01

01

N
il
0/1
01
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Notes:

1. The Audit Committee comprises Mr. Wong Kwok Chuen Peter,
Professor Wong Lung Tak Patrick and Dr. Wang Yanbin.

2. The Remuneration Committee comprises Professor Wong Lung Tak
Patrick, Dr. Dai Xiaobing and Mr. Wong Kwok Chuen Peter.

3. The Nomination Committee comprises Dr. Dai Xiaobing, Mr. Wong

Kwok Chuen Peter and Professor Wong Lung Tak Patrick.

Apart from the fiduciary duty and statutory responsibility towards
the Company and the Group, the Board is responsible for the
management of the business and affairs of the Group with the
objective of enhancing the Company and shareholders’ value.
Key responsibilities include formulation of the Group’s overall
strategies, setting of corporate and management targets,
monitoring of operational and financial matters, approval of major
capital expenditures, material acquisitions and disposal of assets,
corporate or financial restructuring, material borrowings and any
issuing, or buying back, of equity securities. Responsibility for
delivering Company’s objectives and running the business on a
day-to-day basis is delegated to divisional management who have
been given clear guidelines and directions as to their authority.
The Board also delegates certain specific responsibilities to three
committees (Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee). The composition and functions of each
committee are described below.

The Board includes four INEDs representing not less than
one-third of the Board which is in compliance with under Rule
3.10(1) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules. Professor Wong Lung
Tak Patrick has appropriate qualifications and accounting related
financial expertise required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing
Rules.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. All the four INEDs
are independent under these independence criteria, and with
their wide range of skills and experience to the Group, they are
capable to effectively exercise independent judgment on issues of
strategy, performance, risk and people through their contribution
at Board and committee meetings.
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The Board has extensive corporate and strategic planning and
industry experience for discharging their duties as Directors in
the best interest of the Company and that the current board
size is adequate for its present operations. Each of the Directors
keeps abreast of his responsibilities as a Director of the Company
and of the conduct, business activities and development of the
Company.

There is no financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship between the Directors.

On appointment to the Board, each Director receives a
comprehensive induction package covering the general, statutory
and regulatory obligations of being a Director to ensure that he
is sufficiently aware of his responsibilities under the Listing Rules
and other relevant regulatory requirements. All Directors and
senior management are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. The Directors are regularly briefed on the business
operations and policies of the Company and from time to time
provided with written training materials to develop and refresh
their professional skills.

All the Directors, namely Dr. Dai Xiaobing, Mr. King Hap Lee, and
Mr. Wan Tze Fan Terence, Mr. Chen Hua, Mr. Huang Shaowu,
Mr. He Lin Feng, Mr. Ma Tengying, Mr. Wong Kwok Chuen Peter,
Professor Wong Lung Tak Patrick, Dr. Wang Yanbin and Dr. Dang
Weihua, participated in continuous professional development
by reading materials and attending seminars on corporate
governance, regulatory development and other relevant topics
with an emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of a director
of a listed company in compliance with the CG Code during the
year.

The Company updates the Directors from time to time with
development in the laws and regulations relevant to their role as
director of the Company. Directors are also encouraged to update
their skills, knowledge and familiarity with the Group through
initial induction, ongoing participation at Board and committee
meetings.
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The Company’s senior management regularly supplies the Board
and its committees with adequate information in a timely manner
to enable them to make informed decisions. Monthly updates
as required in C.1.2 of the CG Code are provided by the senior
management to all Directors to enable them to be apprised of
the circumstances of the Company and to discharge their duties.
The Company Secretary provides the Directors with updates on
developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements. All Directors have access to Board
papers and related materials that will assist them for decision
making. Any Director, wishing to do so in the furtherance of his
duties, may take professional advice at the Company’s expense
as arranged by the Company.

The biographical details of the Directors are listed in the section of
“Directors and Senior Management Profiles” in this annual report
and the INEDs are expressly identified in all of the Company’s
publication such as circular, announcement or relevant corporate
communications in which the names of Directors of the Company
are disclosed. The Company maintains on its website and on the
Stock Exchange’s website a list of its directors with their role and
function.

The Company continues to subscribe for an insurance policy to
indemnify the Directors and senior executives from any losses,
claims, damages, liabilities and expenses, including without
limitation, any proceedings brought against them, arising from
the performance of their duties pursuant to their appointment
under their respective service agreements entered into with the
Company. The current policy shall be under constant review to
ensure that the insurance cover is appropriate.
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The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are segregated
and performed by two separate individuals, Dr. Dai Xiaobing
and Mr. King Hap Lee respectively, to ensure a balance of
power and authority. The Chairman of the Company provides
leadership to the Board and ensures that the Board discharges
its responsibilities effectively. Dr. Dai Xiaobing’s primary roles
and duties include to formulate corporate strategies and plans in
conjunction with the Board and to ensure that Directors receive
complete, accurate and timely information and are properly
briefed on issues arising at Board meetings; and that good
corporate governance practices and procedures are established,
implemented and maintained. He also holds annually meeting with
the non-executive directors (including independent non-executive
directors) without the presence of other executive directors.
The Chief Executive Officer, Mr. King Hap Lee, is responsible
for the effective management and operation of the Company
and his primary roles and duties include to monitor and control
the operational and financial performance within the Group and
to implement and report to the Board on the adoption of the
Company’s strategy and policies for achieving its objectives.

Each of the non-executive Directors and INEDs (except Mr. Ma
Tengying) has entered into a service contract with the Company
for a specific term. Such term is subject to his re-election by the
Company at an annual general meeting upon retirement. The
Company’s Bye-laws provide that any Director appointed by the
Board to fill a casual vacancy in the Board or as an additional
member of the Board shall hold office only until the first general
meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election
at such meeting. In accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws,
at each AGM of the Company, one third (or the number nearest
to but not less than one-third) of the Directors shall retire from
office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election. As such, all the non-
executive Directors and INEDs are regarded as appointed for a
specific term. Furthermore, each of Mr. Chen Hua, Mr. Huang
Shaowu, Mr. He Lin Feng, Wong Kwok Chuen Peter, Professor
Wong Lung Tak Patrick, Dr. Wang Yanbin and Dr. Dang Weihua
has entered into a service contract with the Company for a term
of two years.
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The Board has established three committees delegated with
various responsibilities, including Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee. All the Board committees
perform their distinct roles in accordance with their respective
terms of reference which are available on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange. The meetings and
proceedings of the committees are governed by the provisions
contained in the bye-laws of the Company for regulating
the meetings and proceedings of Directors unless otherwise
stipulated in their respective terms of reference.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in discharging its
responsibilities for financial reporting and corporate control. The
Committee comprises three INEDs, namely Mr. Wong Kwok
Chuen Peter, Professor Wong Lung Tak Patrick and Dr. Wang
Yanbin, and is chaired by Professor Wong Lung Tak Patrick.

The Company has complied with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules
which requires that the audit committee has a minimum of three
non-executive directors, must be chaired by an INED, at least
one of the audit committee member is an INED who possesses
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise, and a majority of the audit
committee are INEDs.

None of the Audit Committee members are members of the
former or existing auditors of the Company. The Audit Committee
met twice during the year in accordance with its terms of
reference. During the year, the Audit Committee has discharged
its duties which include to review the completeness, accuracy
and fairness of the Company’s financial statements, evaluating
the Company’s auditing scope and procedures as well as its
internal control systems, to review the interim and final financial
statements before their submission to the Board and the annual
general meeting for approval, and to make recommendation
on the appointment of external auditor and approve the
remuneration and terms of engagement of external auditor. The
Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources, including
independent access to and advice from external auditor.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee setting out the

Audit Committee’s authority and duties are available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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The Company’s objective for its remuneration policy is to maintain
fair and competitive packages based on business requirements
and industry practice. The Remuneration Committee comprises
three members including one Executive Director and two INEDs,
namely Dr. Dai Xiaobing, Mr. Wong Kwok Chuen Peter and
Professor Wong Lung Tak Patrick. The committee is chaired by
Professor Wong Lung Tak Patrick. The Company has complied
with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules which requires that the
remuneration committee has a majority of the member being
INEDs and must be chaired by an INED.

With reference to business needs and company development,
individual performance and contribution, changes in relevant
markets and general economic situation, the Remuneration
Committee has adopted the model set out in B.1.2(c)(ii) of the
CG Code where the Committee reviews and recommends to the
Board on the Company’s policy and structure for remuneration of
the Directors and senior management. During the review process,
no individual director is involved in decisions relating to his own
remuneration.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee setting
out the Remuneration Committee’s authority and duties are
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy which aims to
set out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board to ensure
that the Board has the balance of skills, experience and diversity
of perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional experience, knowledge
and skills. In identifying suitable candidates, the Nomination
Committee will consider candidates with the objective criteria with
due regard of the benefits of diversity on the Board.
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The Nomination Committee currently has three members
including one Executive Director and two INEDs, namely Dr.
Dai Xiaobing, Mr. Wong Kwok Chuen Peter and Professor
Wong Lung Tak Patrick. Dr. Dai Xiaobing acts as Chairman of
the Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee bases
on the aforesaid criteria when making recommendations to
the Board on the nomination and appointment of directors,
assesses the independence of INEDs, review the structure,
size and composition of the Board at least annually and makes
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy. The terms of
reference of the Nomination Committee are made available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions within its terms of reference. Its duties include to
develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance; review and monitor the training and
continuous professional development of directors and senior
management and the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; develop,
review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual
(if any) applicable to employees and directors; and review the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report as required under Appendix 14 of
the Listing Rules.

BDO Limited was appointed as external auditor of the Company
by shareholders at the 2014 Annual General Meeting until the
conclusion of the next annual general meeting.

During the year, the fees paid or payable to the external auditor
of the Company, BDO Limited were approximately HK$1,550,000
and HK$90,000 for audit service and non-audit service rendered
(excluding disbursement fees) to the Group respectively. The
reporting responsibilities of BDO Limited are stated in the
Independent Auditor’s Report contained in this Annual Report.
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The Board is accountable for proper stewardship of the
Company’s affairs, and is responsible for ensuring that the
Group keeps fair and accurate accounting records which
disclose its financial position. The Directors also acknowledge
their responsibility to prepare the financial statements of the
Group in accordance with statutory requirements and applicable
accounting standards. This responsibility extends to both interim
and annual reports.

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to establish, maintain
and review the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal
controls to ensure that shareholders’ investments and the
Group’s assets are safeguarded.

During the year, the nature of the Group’s operation remained
unchanged comparing with that of last year. In order to maintain
an effective and efficient internal control system, the Group
performs review for the internal control system systematically on a
regular basis which covers financial, operational, and compliance
controls as well as risk management function.

On behalf of the Board, the Audit Committee reviews annually
the continued effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls
dealing with risk and financial accounting and reporting, the
effectiveness and efficiency of operations, compliance with laws
and regulations, risk management functions. During the year, no
significant control failures or weaknesses have been noted. The
Board considered that these systems of internal controls were
effective and sufficient to guarantee the Group in achieving its
business objectives.

The Company Secretary of the Company, Ms. Yim Siu Hung,
is a full-time employee of the Company and has day-to-day
knowledge of the Company’s affairs. The Directors have access
to the advice and services of the Company Secretary regarding
board procedures, and relevant laws, rules and regulations. For
the year ended 31 December 2014, Ms. Yim has complied with
paragraph 3.29 of the Listing Rules by taking no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training.
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Pursuant to Section 74 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda
(the “Act”) and Bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws of the Company,
shareholders holding in aggregate not less than 10% of the paid-
up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company have the right, by written requisition
to the Board or the Company Secretary of the Company, to
request a special general meeting to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition, and
such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit
of such requisition. If the directors do not within twenty-one days
from the date of the deposit of the requisition proceed to convene
such meeting, any of the requisitionists representing more than
one half of the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves
convene a meeting to be held within three months from the said
date.

Any number of shareholders representing not less than 5% of the
total voting rights of the Company at the date of the requisition
or not less than 100 shareholders of the Company are entitled
to put forward a proposal for consideration at a general meeting
of the Company. Shareholders should follow the requirements
and procedures as set out in Section 79 of the Act for putting
forward such proposal at a general meeting. The procedures for
shareholders to propose a person for election as a director are
made available on our website as required by the Listing Rules.
The requisition of the proposals made by shareholders may be
addressed to the Company Secretary at the Company’s head
office and principal place of business in Hong Kong.

Annual general meetings and special general meetings provide
a useful forum for shareholders to share views with the Board.
Members of the Board (including members of the Audit,
Remuneration and Nomination Committees) attend shareholders’
meetings and make themselves available to answer shareholders’
questions. Enquiries of shareholders may also be put to the
Board by contacting the Company Secretary by phone or email,
as stated in our website, www.sino-oilgas.hk.
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The Board recognizes the importance of good communication
with shareholders as well as investors. During the year, two
press and analysts’ conferences were held in relation to the
interim and final results announcements respectively, at which the
Executive Directors were available to answer questions regarding
the Group’s operational and financial performances. Quarterly
operation update announcements were released to enhance
transparency of the Company’s affairs. Information in relation
to the Group is disseminated to shareholders and investors in a
timely manner through a number of channels include quarterly
operation update announcements, interim and annual reports,
announcements, circulars and press releases. Electronic copies
of these documents and general information of the Group’s
operation can be obtained through the Company’s website.
Throughout 2014, the Company also avails itself of opportunities
to communicate and explain its strategies to shareholders and
the investor community, through active participation in investors’
conferences and regular meetings with financial analysts, fund
managers and potential investors. The Company will continue
to promote and enhance investor relations and communication
with its investors. During the year, no change was made to the
Company’s Memorandum of Association and Bye-laws.
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EFERETE

The directors submit their annual report together with the audited
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2014, which
are set out on pages 66 to 176.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
Group is principally engaged in (i) exploration, development and
production of coalbed methane and (i) exploitation and sale of
crude oil and natural gas in China.

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 22
to the financial statements.

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of a
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2014 (2013: Nil).

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 17 to the financial
statements.

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company
during the year are set out in note 38 to the financial statements.

On 13 January 2014, the Company entered into the Subscription
Agreements with not less than six subscribers who were third
parties independent of the Company and the connected persons
of the Company (as defined in the Listing Rules), under which
the Company allotted and issued to the subscribers a total of
300,000,000 shares of the Company with the aggregate nominal
value of HK$3,000,000 at a price of HK$0.22 per share. The
closing market price of the Company’s shares was HK$0.237
per share on 13 January 2014, being the date on which the
terms of the issue were fixed. The net proceeds from the
subscriptions were fully utilized as intended for operations of
the Group’s existing oil and gas projects and working capital.
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Among which, approximately 80% of the proceeds were used
for the operations of the Group’s coalbed methane project in
Sanjiao, including settlement and completion of the construction
work of pilot horizontal and vertical wells and certain construction
work of the ground facilities. The remaining of the net proceeds
were used for operation of existing oil fields in Shaanxi Province
and general working capital for offices in different locations.
The net subscription price was about HK$0.2193 per share.
Further details of the aforesaid issue of shares are set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 13 January 2014 and
note 38(a)(ii) to the financial statements.

On 17 March 2014, the Company and Smart Bond Development
Ltd. (the “Lender”), being an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of
China Orient Asset Management Corporation (“COAMC”) which
is a wholly state-owned financial enterprise with independent
corporate capacity upon approval of the State Council and the
People’s Bank of China, entered into the Facility Agreement
pursuant to which the Company granted the Warrants to
the Lender in consideration of the Lender made available to
the Company the Facility. Terms defined in the Company’s
announcement dated 17 March 2014 have the same meanings
when used in this paragraph. The Warrants carry rights to
subscribe for Warrant Shares at the Exercise Price of HK$0.2714
per Warrant Share in aggregate of up to HK$50,000,000 for a
period of one year from the date of the issue of the Warrants.
Upon the exercise in full of the subscription rights attaching to
the Warrants, 184,229,918 Warrant Shares (with the aggregate
nominal value of HK$1,842,299.18) at the subscription price of
HK$0.2714 per share will be allotted and issued. The proceeds
from the issue of the Warrant Shares would be applied as general
working capital of the Group (no Warrants were exercised during
the year). The closing market price of the Company’s shares
was HK$0.227 per share on 17 March 2014, being the date on
which the terms relating to the grant of the Warrants were fixed.
The net price to the Company of each Warrant Share, which
was calculated by dividing the aggregate net proceeds from the
exercise in full of the subscription rights attached to the Warrants
by the total number of the Warrant Shares, was approximately
HK$0.2714. Further details of the aforesaid grant of Warrants are
set out in the announcement of the Company dated 17 March
2014 and note 31 to the financial statements.
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On 8 July 2014, the Company entered into the Subscription
Agreements with not less than six subscribers who were third
parties independent of the Company and the connected persons
of the Company (as defined in the Listing Rules), under which
the Company allotted and issued to the subscribers a total
of 2,900,000,000 shares of the Company with the aggregate
nominal value of HK$29,000,000 at a price of HK$0.205 per
share. The closing market price of the Company’s shares was
HK$0.242 per share on 8 July 2014, being the date on which
the terms of the issue were fixed. The proceeds were basically
used as intended. Among which, a refundable deposit of CAD40
million (equivalent to approximately HK$268 million) has been
paid pursuant to the memorandum of understanding as disclosed
in the announcements of the Company dated 30 June 2014
and 1 September 2014 (the “Announcements”) respectively.
Approximately HK$75 million has been used for operations of
the Group’s existing oil and gas projects and working capital,
including, but not limited to, construction of ground facilities,
settlement and completion of the construction work of horizontal
wells in the Group’s coalbed methane operation. Amount of
approximately HK$100 million has been used for repayment of a
loan (details of the loan were disclosed in the announcement of
the Company dated 17 March 2014). Amount of approximately
HK$80 million has been used for purchase of short-term
investment. The remaining balance of the proceeds may be used
as intended, including for operations of the Group’s existing
oil and gas projects, general working capital and possible
payment for the total consideration for the possible acquisition
as disclosed in the Announcements and such amount is held as
deposits with financial institutions in Hong Kong and the PRC.
The net subscription price was about HK$0.2046 per share.
Further details of the aforesaid issue of shares are set out in
the announcement of the Company dated 8 July 2014 and note
38(a)(ii) to the financial statements.

Details of movements in reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 38(b) to the financial
statements and the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
respectively.

A summary of results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on pages 6 and 7.
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Sales which also represent turnover of the Group were made
entirely to the Group’s sole customer during the year. The
aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for 23% and the largest supplier accounted
for approximately 7% of the Group’s total purchases for the year.

At no time during the year have the directors, their associates or
any shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the
directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital)
had any interest in these major customers and suppliers.

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this report were:

Dr. Dai Xiaobing (Chairman)

Mr. King Hap Lee (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wan Tze Fan Terence

Mr. Zhu Danping (resigned on 9 June 2014))
Mr. Wang Ziming (resigned on 16 June 2014)

Mr. Chen Hua (appointed on 9 June 2014)

Mr. Huang Shaowu (appointed on 9 June 2014)
Mr. He Lin Feng (appointed on 22 August 2014)
Mr. Ma Tengying

Mr. Kong Siu Tim (resigned on 9 June 2014)

Mr. Wong Kwok Chuen Peter
Professor Wong Lung Tak Patrick
Dr. Wang Yanbin

Dr. Dang Weihua

Pursuant to the Company’s bye-law 87(1), Dr. Dai Xiaobing,
Mr. Wan Tze Fan Terence, Mr. Wong Kwok Chuen Peter and Dr.
Wang Yanbin will retire by rotation and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election. All other remaining directors continue
in office.
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No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company which
is not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment other than statutory compensation.

As at 31 December 2014, the interests and short positions of the
directors (the “Directors”) or chief executive of the Company in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of the
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQO”)) as
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies (the
“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
were as follows:

Interests in shares/

RERERREFASGLREETZESEM
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MN2014F12A318 KRR ESF([EF]) &
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BT

Number of shares/
underlying shares of

Name of Director Long/short position underlying shares Nature of interest the Company held
REHE AR Y,/
EEE e/ %E HEA R G D BnE HERRHE
Dai Xiaobing Long position shares Beneficial owner 1,304,560,000
gk HE fxtp EREAA
Short position shares Beneficial owner 708,000,000
wE fx EREAA
Long position share options Beneficial owner 36,000,000
HE Bk ERBAA
King Hap Lee Long position shares Interest of controlled corporation (Note 2) 200,000,000
KA 35} fxtp REH R EE (WiT2)
Long position shares Beneficial owner 139,110,000
e &t EREAA
Short position shares Interest of controlled corporation (Note 2) 200,000,000
KE fxtp REH R (MiE2)
Long position share options Beneficial owner 36,000,000
3 BiE EnfEBAA
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Name of Director

EEis

Wan Tze Fan Terence
BTE

Chen Hua
RE
Huang Shaowu

BAR

He Lin Feng

e

Wong Kwok Chuen Peter
S

Wong Lung Tak Patrick
BER

Wang Yanbin

T

Notes:

(1)  Particulars of directors’

Long/short position

Interests in shares/

underlying shares

REH R

Report of the Directors
EFERETE

Nature of interest

138/ %A HEARR R EE Ehty
Long position shares Beneficial owner
HE f&p EHERA
Long position share options Beneficial owner
3 BiE EnfEBA
Long position underlying shares Interest of controlled corporation (Note 3)
HE 1BER D R RS (HE3)
Long position shares Interest of controlled corporation (Note 4)
it i 7 REH RS (HiTd)
Long position shares Beneficial owner
3} ) EREAA
Short position shares Beneficial owner
wE fxfp EnEEA
Long position shares Beneficial owner
i) i fn EaEAA
Long position share options Beneficial owner
HE BiE EnfEAA
Long position share options Beneficial owner
e BikiE EREAA
Long position share options Beneficial owner
e B ExERA
Bt &
interests in the share options of the (1)

Company are set out in the section “Share Option Scheme”.

(2)  Wai Tech Limited owns 200,000,000 shares and has short position
of 200,000,000 shares of the Company. Wai Tech Limited is
wholly owned by Petromic Corporation which in turn is wholly and

beneficially owned by Mr. King Hap Lee. Pursuant to the SFO, Mr.

W E ] —&

Number of shares/
underlying shares of

the Company held
A AakY,/
HERBHE
33,660,000
36,000,000
768,971,796
1,863,730,000
100,000,000
100,000,000
1,500,000,000
3,000,000

3,000,000

3,000,000
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King Hap Lee is taken to have interests and short position in such Bl RRFEEREARZEROFHEE

shares.

(3) 768,971,796 underlying shares are owned by KEREHEEFR D
7], a wholly owned subsidiary of FES%E AR /AF] which is owned
as to 90% by Mr. Chen Hua. Pursuant to the SFO, Mr. Chen Hua is

taken to be interested in such underlying shares.
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(4) 1,863,730,000 shares are owned by Sinomaster Global Limited, a
wholly owned subsidiary of JFII| 71181 iE1% & EEAFR A 7] which is
owned as to 66.5% by FYITEE R EFRAE which is in turn
owned as to 90% by Mr. Huang Shaowu. Pursuant to the SFO, Mr.

Huang Shaowu is taken to be interested in such shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2014, none of
the Directors nor the chief executive had any interests or short
positions in the securities of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of
the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

At the Annual General Meeting of the Company held on 28 May
2010, the shareholders of the Company approved the adoption of
a share option scheme (the “Scheme”).

The Scheme are in full compliance with the relevant requirements
of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. The purpose of the Scheme
is to enable the Company to recognise the contributions of the
participants to the Group and to motivate the participants to
continuously work to the benefit of the Group by offering to the
participants an opportunity to have personal interest in the share
capital of the Company.

The eligible participants includes any full-time and part-time
employee (including Directors) of the Company or its subsidiaries,
any suppliers, consultants, agents and advisers. The Scheme
became effective on 28 May 2010 and, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from the
date of coming into effect.
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Pursuant to the Scheme, the maximum number of shares in
respect of which options may be granted under the Scheme shall
not in aggregate exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in
issue as at the date of approval of the limit and such limit may
be refreshed by shareholders in general meeting. However,
the total maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Scheme and any other share option schemes
must not exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time to time.
As at 20 March 2015, being the date of this report, there are
outstanding options for subscription of 455,700,000 shares under
the Scheme, representing 2.54% of the issued shares of the
Company.

Under the Scheme, the maximum entitlement for any eligible
person (other than a substantial shareholder or an independent
non-executive director of the Company, or any of their respective
associates) is that the total number of shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of all options granted and to be granted
in any 12-month period up to and including the date of the
latest grant does not exceed 1% of the shares of the Company
in issue at the relevant time. Any further grant of share options
in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in
general meeting. Share options to be granted to a director,
chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company or
any of their respective associates are subject to approval by
the independent non-executive directors of the Company. In
addition, any grant of share options to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director of the Company or any
of their respective associates, when aggregated with all share
options (whether exercised, cancelled or outstanding) already
granted to any of them during the 12-month period up to the date
of grant, in excess of 0.1 percent of the shares of the Company
in issue and with an aggregate value in excess of HK$5,000,000
(based on the closing price of the shares at the date of each
grant of the options), is subject to shareholders’ approval in
general meeting of the Company.

The period within which an option may be exercised under
the Scheme will be determined by the Board in its absolute
discretion. Under the Scheme, an option may not be exercised
after the expiration of 10 years from the date of grant of the
option.
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Pursuant to the Scheme, the exercise price in relation to each
option shall be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion,
but in any event shall not be less than the highest of: (i) the
closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheet on the date of grant of such option; and
(i) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant of such option.

Some further disclosures relating to the Scheme are set out in
note 37 to the financial statements.

As at 31 December 2014, the directors and employees of the
Group had the following personal interests in options to subscribe
for shares of the Company granted at nominal consideration
under the Scheme. Each option gives the holder the right to
subscribe for one share. During the year, 107,500,000 options
lapsed pursuant to the terms of the Scheme. Details of share
options held by the Directors and employees of the Group and
movements in such holdings during the year ended 31 December
2014 are as follows:

REFE BUBRBZTEESHESS
BEBBEE  ERETEABERITHTATER
THBEFRZH&BE ()RR E
FHEBMIAERABRERFINZWDE: &
(NPt R EZF L BEE R MASEESEXAE
BB AREREI ZFHRHIE -

BB ETE S HEEIRTBHRERN
5F37

MR2014F12H31R - A& B EEREBERR
B E LR LORERDATREARRD AR
MZEREFRBUTZEAARZ  SHE
BB T4 B ARBIRBRMD 2 BA - FRk
107,500,00017 i A% 4 4R #5 51 2 R K &R - 7K
EEEERIEEREE2014F12A8318 IEF
EFFERERZEFREZEDFBERR
-

Exercise price

Number of options
BRENE

Outstanding Exercised Outstanding at

at 1 January during the 31 December

2014 year 2014

R2014 R20144

1B18 12R31H

i R A7 RERT i R A7

Directors:

&

Dai Xiaobing 36,000,000 - 36,000,000
IS

King Hap Lee 36,000,000 - 36,000,000
S

Wan Tze Fan Terence 36,000,000 - 36,000,000

BTE
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Date of grant Exercise period per share
(D.M.Y) (D.M.Y) HK$
gkt

REEH AR Z1TiEfE
(B.A.%) (B.B.%) BT
06.12.2011 06.12.2011-05.12.2021 0.276
06.12.2011 06.12.2011-05.12.2021 0.276
06.12.2011 06.12.2011-05.12.2021 0.276



Number of options

BRENE

Outstanding Exercised Outstanding at
at 1 January during the 31 December

2014 year 2014
120145 120145
1A18 12A318

HETE  RERTE DB

Wong Kwok Chuen Peter 3,000,000 - 3,000,000
BE2

Wong Lung Tak Patrick 3,000,000 - 3,000,000
RER

Wang Yanbin 3,000,000 - 3,000,000
T

Employees 338,700,000 - 338,700,000
1]

Apart from as disclosed under the sections “Directors’ Interests
in Shares and Underlying Shares” and “Share Option Scheme”,
at no time during the year was the Company or any of its
associated corporations a party to any arrangement to enable
the directors of the Company or any of their spouses or children
under eighteen years of age to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.
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Date of grant Exercise period per share
(D.M.Y) (D.M.Y) HK$
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BEHEH fTERR ZiTER
(B.R.%) (B.R.%) BT
06.12.2011 06.12.2011-05.12.2021 0.276
06.12.2011 06.12.2011-05.12.2021 0.276
06.12.2011 06.12.2011-05.12.2021 0.276
06.12.2011 06.12.2011-05.12.2021 0.276
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As at 31 December 2014, the following persons, not being a
Director or chief executive of the Company, had an interest or
short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
as recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336
of the SFO:

Number of
Name Nature of interest shares held
28 Eany Fifs ki 8B
Sinomaster Global Beneficial owner 1,863,730,000
Limited (Note 1)
BINBREBEARA G EmEEA
(BI&E1)
China Orient Asset Interest of controlled 169,401,197
Management corporation
Corporation (Note 2)
FEEFEEERAR XESARER
(BI&E2)
CDB Leasing Co., Ltd. Security interest 2,296,000,000
(Note 3)
B eREEERAR REER
(KF5E3)
Notes

1. 1,863,730,000 shares are owned by Sinomaster Global Limited, a
wholly owned subsidiary of ATt/ i#1% & £ BB A 7] which is
owned as to 66.5% by FIITEERIEEFR R E which is in turn
owned as to 90% by Mr. Huang Shaowu (a non-executive director
of the Company). Pursuant to the SFO, FYIIT NI EEBEHR
AR and FINTHEBRIZEHBR QA are taken to be interested in
the shares held by Sinomaster Global Limited.
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#2014F12A318 * U FAL (WIEARARE
ENTHAER) RIBIRES R EE 4015336
BEEZELRMASKRARRZRMKEHE
BROPHEBEERIOXR

Number of
underlying Total number of shares and
shares held underlying shares held

ke Lic]
BRE8E P 5 B 15 I 4B AR 13 4B 80
- 1,863,730,000
1,082,433,510 1,251,834,707
- 2,296,000,000

B 5T

1. 1,863,730,0000% % 17 B 18 M 3@ B BX B PR A &)
BAE EAFYMANBRELSEERAA
WEEMBAR  BERRITEERRE
BWRAFIHEE66.5% e T EMAR KL (K
RAIFATER)EBRNTEERIRESR
BE 2 A EI90%ME & o IR 1R 3B H N HAE 1501 -
R YIT AR N R E R E AR A A RORYI T E
BERREBERAAHERAREMNBEERE
RARFIEENROPEE#ER -



Sunny Merit Holdings Corp. owns 169,401,197 shares of the
Company and convertible notes in the principal amount of
HK$150,000,000 due in 2016 with right to convert the convertible
notes into shares of the Company at a conversion price of
HK$0.167 per share. Based on the conversion price of HK$0.167
per share, a maximum of 898,203,592 shares may be allotted
and issued upon exercise of the conversion rights attached to
the convertible notes in full. The convertible notes give rise to an
interest in 898,203,592 underlying shares of the Company of Sunny
Merit Holdings Corp.

In addition, Smart Bond Development Ltd. owns warrants carrying
rights to subscribe for shares in aggregate of up to HK$50,000,000
for a period of 1 year from 25 March 2014, being the date of issue
of the warrants. Based on the exercise price of HK$0.2714 per
share, a maximum of 184,229,918 shares may be allotted and
issued upon exercise of the subscription rights attached to the
warrants in full. The warrants give rise to an interest in 184,229,918

underlying shares of the Company of Smart Bond Development Ltd.

Both Sunny Merit Holdings Corp. and Smart Bond Development
Ltd. are wholly owned subsidiaries of China Orient Asset
Management (International) Holding Limited which in turn is owned
as to 50% by Dong Yin Development (Holdings) Limited (“Dong
Yin”) and as to 50% by Wise Leaders Assets Ltd. (also a wholly
owned subsidiary of Dong Yin). Dong Yin is wholly owned by China
Orient Asset Management Corporation which is a wholly state-
owned financial enterprise with independent corporate capacity
upon approval of the State Council and the People’s Bank of China.
Pursuant to the SFO, China Orient Asset Management (International)
Holding Limited, Dong Yin, Wise Leaders Assets Ltd. and China
Orient Asset Management Corporation are taken to be interested
in the shares and underlying shares held by Sunny Merit Holdings
Corp. and the underlying shares held by Smart Bond Development
Ltd.

Regarding the security interest in 2,296,000,000 shares being held
by CDB Leasing Co., Ltd., China Development Bank Corporation
which holds 88.95% interest in CDB Leasing Co., Ltd. is deemed to

have security interest in such shares.
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Saved as disclosed above in this section, as at 31 December
2014, the Company has not been notified of any other persons
(other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company) who
had any interest or short position in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be
kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are
members of retirement schemes operated by local authorities in
the PRC. The Group also operates a defined contribution scheme
covering full time employees in Hong Kong. Details of employee
retirement benefits are set out in note 36 to the financial
statements.

Particulars of the directors’ remuneration and highest paid
individuals’ emoluments are set out in note 11 and note 12 to the
financial statements respectively.

Save as disclosed in note 47 to the financial statements, no
contracts of significance subsisted at any time during the year to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in
which a director of the Company had material interest, whether
directly or indirectly.

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of its directors, as of the date of this
report, there is sufficient public float of the shares with not less
than 25% of the total issued shares of the Company as required
under the Listing Rules.

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed
securities.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws or the laws in Bermuda which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

AUDITOR
The financial statements for the year have been audited by BDO
Limited who retires and, being eligible, offers for re-appointment.

By order of the Board
Dai Xiaobing
Chairman

Hong Kong, 20 March 2015
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Independent Auditor's Report
BIAZBEMESE

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF SINO OIL AND GAS
HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together “the Group”) set out on pages 66 to 176,
which comprise the consolidated and company statements of
financial position as at 31 December 2014, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the disclosure requirements of Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.
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Independent Auditor’'s Report

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
Group as at 31 December 2014 and of the Group’s profit and
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Cheung Or Ping

Practising Certificate Number P05412

Hong Kong, 20 March 2015
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
GeRakEf2ZAEKEE

For the year ended 31 December 2014 #; £2014F12 31 H 14

i}

2014 2013
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
fitx FET FTHET
Turnover EERE 6816 16,540 21,598
Direct cost BEEAAK (19,739) (25,397)
Gross loss B (3,199) (3,799)
Other revenue H AU A 7 76,385 42,472
Other losses, net Hith 1855 8 (1,126) (25,836)
Administrative expenses THER (62,101) (70,469)
Profit/(loss) from operations mEER/ (BR) 9,959 (57,632)
Finance costs A A 9(a) (329) (25)
Share of loss of a joint venture BE—REEREEE 20 (628) (232)
Share of loss of an associate EiE—KE < R RBE 21 (283) (623)
Profit/(loss) before income tax expense BRABRIEAER(BBR) 9 8,719 (68,512)
Income tax credit/(expense) T8 ER,/ (i) 10 1,701 (2,820)
Profit/(loss) for the year AEERT/ (B8) 10,420 (61,332)
Other comprehensive income, after tax Heb2mEWa - BREE
ltem that may be reclassified to profit or loss:  FlatEHHEEBH 2 ER ¢
Exchange differences on translating MEBNEBCERER
foreign operation (60,868) 26,489
Total comprehensive income for the year AEEZAMREE (50,448) (34,843)
Profit/(loss) attributable to: KTATEERR, (BE)
Owners of the Company AAREAR A 13 10,420 (61,332)
Non-controlling interest RS - -
10,420 (61,332)
Total comprehensive income attributable to: ITATEER2ERE
Owners of the Company NNIEZ ZE DN (50,448) (34,843)
Non-controlling interests* IR RE - -
(50,448) (34,843)
Earning/(loss) per share BREF,/ (F8B)
- Basic —EXK 15 0.064 HK centsill (0.467) HK centsy& Ll
- Diluted -#5% 15 0.060 HK centsi#1ll /A i F
# Non-controlling interest represented the 30% equity interest of a # IE 1 AR 4 25 5 T SH22()FT Bl — R BT B 2 |

subsidiary listed in note 22(a).
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e MBKRAE

Not‘es
B
Non-current assets ERBHEE
Property, plant and equipment mE BERRE 17
Gas exploration and evaluation assets ~ AAR MR RFEEE 18
Intangible assets ERAE 19
Interest in a joint venture R-FREEEX i 20
Interest in an associate NN NI PR 2 21
Deposits and prepayments ReRBIHE 26
Loan receivables ERER 24
Total non-current assets FrRBEELRE
Current assets RBHEE
Inventories RE 25
Trade, notes and other receivables, R BMER - it
deposits and prepayments MRS RERERNRA 26
Short-term investment EHRE 27
Loan receivables RURER 24
Pledged bank deposits BHEARTER 28
Cash and cash equivalents BeRH2EEN 29
Total current assets MBEELR
Total assets BEE
Current liabilities RBER
Other payables and accruals EtEMNFARBREA 30
Warrant liability REEERE 31
Borrowings - secured BE-AHEM 33
Taxation HIE
Total current liabilities MBAELSR
Net current assets/(liabilities) RBEE/ (BF) FE
Total assets less current liabilites AEERRHERE
Non-current liabilities ErRBaRE
Provisions B 32
Borrowings - secured EE-FHER 33
Convertible notes ARER 34
Deferred tax BT R 35
Total non-current liabilities FrRBaEen
NET ASSETS BEFHE
Capital and reserves attributable to  FAATHHAEIEEX
owners of the Company 41
Share capital A& 38(a)
Reserves f#E
TOTAL EQUITY BRER
On behalf of the Board
RRESE
Dai Xiaobing
BN
Director
o

Wan ng Fan Terence
im Y Eh
Director

EF

2013

HK$' 000 HK$' 000

THT THT

234,670

3,602,475

232,960

1,215

62,731

20,402

4,154,453
21,349
74,229
7,832
17,536
120,946

4,275,399
(199,568)
(145,932)
(2,414)
(347,914)

(226,968)

3,927,485
(747)
(336,210)
(134,920)
(8,371)

(480,248)

3,447,237

147,539

3,299,698

3,447,237
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Statement of Financial Position
RA 35 4K iR &

Notes
[
Non-current assets EREBEE
Interests in subsidiaries iNGIEINGIPA: 22
Total non-current assets ERPEELR
Current assets RBEE
Other receivables, deposits and HipEWRS ek
prepayments BRHE 26
Cash and cash equivalents ReRReZEY 29
Total current assets MEBEERE
Total assets BaEE
Current liabilities REAE
Other payables and accruals HitENFERERER 30
Warrant liability RREZEAR 31
Net current liabilities RBEREFE
Total assets less current liabilites AEERRHEE
Non-current liabilities ErRBaRE
Convertible notes RRER 34
NET ASSETS BEFHE
Capital and reserves attributable to A2 5 %% A (G
owners of the Company EXRGHE
Share capital B 38(a)
Reserves el 38(b)
TOTAL EQUITY D
On behalf of the Board
REEZS
Dai Xiaobing Wan Tze Fan Terence
B/ME BB
Director Director
EBZE EZ

Annual Report 2014 ¢ Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited

2013
HK$ 000 HK$' 000
FEL TR
3,531,760
3,531,760
574
311
885
3,532,645
(2,218)
(2,218)
(1,333)
3,530,427
(134,920)
3,395,507
147,539
3,247,968
3,395,507



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Share
Share Share  Contributed option Warrant
capital premium surplus reserve reserve
BhE  dhe
Ry EBEE  SaEs & it
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$' 000 HKS'000 HKS' 000
Th T T Th Th
At1 January 2013 HA2013%1R 18 123,560 3,318,649 81,043 48,020 1,250
Loss forthe year FEEER = = - - -
Other comprehensive income~ £46 2 B4 & - - - - -
Tota comprehensive income.~ AEE 2 ANZEE
for the year = = = = =
Sharesissued onplcing ~ EREEARR
[note 38 (FsEa8(al) 9,280 139,19 - = -
Issue of comvertble notes  EfTTEKZE
(note ) (Hiit34) - - - - -
Shares issued on conversion BT ARES
of convertile notes EiRh
(note 38(ai) (K £38(ai) 748 117515 - - -
Shares issued to extinguish A ETHAE
fiancial iabiiies 3Pl vl
ote 386l (kg o 1R - - .
At 31 December 2013 2013&12R318 147,539 3,737,663 81,043 48,020 1,250
Proft for the year KEREA - - - - -
Other comprehensive income £ 2EME - - - - -
Tota comprehensive income.~ AEE 2 ANZEE
for the year = = = = =
Sharesissued onplcing ~ EREEARR
[note 38 (FsEa8(al) 32,000 625,200 - = -
Release upon lapse of vested ~ REEBAREZ X%
warrants (note 38(a)) B (K #3800) - - - - (1,250)
Release upon apse of vested ~ 1\E BBEREX G
share options (ote38ilfl) B (HE38(a)) - - - (12.23) =
At 31 December 2014 1A014E12R318 179,539 4,362,863 81,043 35,785 -
& Non-controlling interests represented 30% equity interest of a

subsidiary listed in note 22(a).

FeNEEER

Equity
Convertible attributable Non-
note equity Exchange  Accumulated  to ownersof  controlling
reserve reserve losses  the Company interests’ Total
THRES KATHEN

BafE  ERGBR  RMER  BEED  RRRER 53t
HKGO  HBO0  HKSOD  HKSOM HKSO0  HKSO0
Thn AR Thn Thn Thn Thn

- B BOTHY 301 -
- K/ k) N e
= 2489 - 2489 = 2489
- B9 B (89 )
. - T - g
$12% = = 3128 = 3128
(1538 = T3 N (Tt
= - N (Tl N (Tl
15913 B9 (O dna -
- - 10420 10420 - 10420
] ] 16089
I Y < - b
= - TR - B
. = 1250 - = -
- - 129% - - -
15913 46 (BB 4083069 - A

& IF 2 BY #E 25 45 B 5E22(a) BT 31 — R T B A 7
30% /% AR o
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HAeERaRER

Operating activities MBS
Profit/(loss) before income tax expense BRETSRIZ HATRF (B18)

Adjustments for: SHEIER
M BERZETE

Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment

Amortisation of intangible assets B EECHH
Interest expense F 2 E

Interest income FEBA

Loss on extinguishing of financial liabilities BEMBaELER

Loss on disposal/written off of plant
and equipment

Share of loss of a joint venture

Share of loss of an associate

Change in fair value of warrant liability

HE/EHEEE RREZER

ElE-FAECEEER
Rl — R % A AR
RBEELEZ ATERD

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HERB ARz W
Deposits and other receivables written off R I H fih 8 1T B 3R 5 8
Operating profit/(loss) before changes EESSEHuEE

in working capital i (EE)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERL,/(Em)

Decrease/(increase) in trade, notes and other  EUERFN - BRI - EEUKERN

receivables, deposits and prepayments Be REMFERD,(GEM)
Decrease in other payables and accruals HipENpBELERERR D

Net cash from/(used) in operating activities EZ%£EHE (i) 2B L%HE
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2013
HK$’ 000
THT

(58,512)

3,516
823
25
(579)
05,247

232
623

534

(28,084)

(17,425)

(40,354)
(118,708)

(204,571)



Investing activities
Payment of purchase of property,
plant and equipment
Payment of purchase of intangible assets
Payment of purchase of short term investment
Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Payment of purchase of gas exploration
and evaluation assets
Deposit paid for the possible acquisition of
Canada oil fields
Increase in loan receivables
Decrease in pledge bank deposits
Acquisition of an associate
Interest received
Interest paid
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries
Dividend received from a joint venture

Net cash used in investing activities

Financing activities

Proceeds from issuance of shares
Proceeds from bank borrowings
Repayment of bank borrowings
Proceeds from convertible notes issued
Issuance cost on convertible notes
Repayment to loans from directors
Proceeds from loans from shareholders
Repayment from loans from shareholders

Net cash generated from financing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents
at 31 December, representing
cash and bank balances

Consolidated Statement of Gash Flows

Notes

P EE

REEY

BAME  BER
REBHER
BREEFBEMNK
BEERHREMR
HENE  BER
RIGFTERA
BARARE TR
FHEEENRK

B FREREMNER
Ml EE

JE Y B FRE A
BEERBITER D
Wi —REE R A

B KA B

BERME
&Y /& 2 R TS 508
BER—FKAEEERS

26((i)

REZDRAZHEEFE

A& EE
BITRMETE5IA
RITEEMENIE
ERRITEE
BT R BB G E 34
AR EREITRA 34
BEEEERN

BERE KB 5RE

EERREX

38(a)(ii)

MEZTHELEZHEFE

RERBEFRY
W, (E)BE

P1A1EBZEE RS EEY
EREE2HE
R12A31BZ2EE R

ReEEy NRE
RERITHER 29

FeRaRER

2013
HK$’ 000
TET

(1,701)

119

(168,861)

124
(13,402)

579
(50,394)

3,500

(230,036)

148,476
102,464
(95,587)
264,000
(9,626)
(28,967)
7,500

388,260

(46,347)
71,114

(7,231)

17,536
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B4 %5 3 | P 5

Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited was incorporated as an AR IR A TR A Al R 1B B %% 1981

exempted company with limited liability in Bermuda on 2
November 1999 under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda
(as amended) and its shares were listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 9 February
2000. The registered office and principal place of business
of the Company are located at 26 Burnaby Street, Hamilton
HM11, Bermuda and Suite 3707-3708, West Tower, Shun

FRanE (18 ET) M1999F11 A2 £
BREAMKTIAZIREARAA - H
A& 1D F2000F 2 AOH R E BB A X B AT
BRARIERLET - ARQaEl 2kt s
BREZEEME S BIMMR26 Burnaby
Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda Xz & /&
T 5 38 1 168-2005% {5 /& # /0 78 FE3707 -

Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong, 3708F o

respectively.

The Company acts as an investment holding company.

ARBB—RREZERRF  EMBLQ

The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note Al EZEBHNME22(a) ©
22(a).
(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective (a) RG] EIETEAUBER

1 January 2014

Amendments to HKAS 32
R G ERE325% 2 BF]
Amendments to HKAS 36
BB G R EI6E 2 1EF]
Amendments to HKFRS 10,

HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27 (2011)
ERE B WEERIFE105

BRI ®EERFE1298 &

BB ELFE275 (201146 ) 2185
Amendments to HKAS 39
BB G ERFEI9H Z BT
HK (IFRIC) 21
5 (BBRVMBRERBEES) F215

Except as explained below, the adoption of these

HEA-20145FE1A1BEEH
Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
KM BEERTBARE
Recoverable Amount Disclosures
AU el & R
Investment Entities

L

i
F

OlE

RE

\

Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting
TTETAZER R hEG ZIEE

Levies

BmE

B T XA E SN - RARFETHAE

amendments has no material impact on the Group’s B ERRITESE KTE o

financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 32 - Offsetting Financial Assets and BB B ERE32 2 55T —
Financial Liabilities BERHMEEE

The amendments clarify the offsetting requirements by ZEEF B RE BB ERFE325 M
adding appliance guidance to HKAS 32 which clarifies when AERESIMESHRHERE  WEEE

an entity “currently has a legally enforceable right to set
off” and when a gross settlement mechanism is considered
equivalent to net settlement. The amendments are applied

retrospectively.
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e By 3R B A L7l ok Bl 17 #
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective
1 January 2014 (Continued)

The adoption of the amendments has no impact on these
financial statements as the Group does not have any
offsetting arrangements.

Amendments to HKAS 36 - Recoverable Amount
Disclosures

The amendments limit the requirements to disclose the
recoverable amount of an asset or cash generating unit
(CGU) to those periods in which an impairment loss has
been recognised or reversed, and expand the disclosures
where the recoverable amount of impaired assets or CGUs
has been determined based on fair value less costs of
disposal.

The adoption of the amendments has no impact on these
financial statements as the Group has no asset or CGU has
impairment recognised or reversed.

Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27 (2011)
— Investment Entities

The amendments apply to a particular class of businesses
that qualify as investment entities. An investment entity’s
business purpose is to invest funds solely for returns
from capital appreciation, investment income or both. It
evaluates the performance of its investments on a fair
value basis. Investment entities could include private equity
organisations, venture capital organisations, pension funds
and investment funds.

The amendments provide an exception to the consolidation
requirements in HKFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial
Statements” and require investment entities to measure
particular subsidiaries at fair value through profit or loss
rather than to consolidate them. The amendments also set
out the disclosure requirements for investment entities. The
amendments are applied retrospectively subject to certain
transitional provisions.

B35 3 R P 5

(a) RENHET EETEEMBR
H#A|-2014F1A1HEEN
(4&)

B 7 7 £ [ 3 4 AT ] 4 8 % B UR

REBIUZEVBRRLELE -

BB BE BRI FE36 2 &5 — AT A 2
B E
HEEIRBRBEEESRSELEN
(ReELEM]) A RESRZRE
RREERNCDHERERBE AR
M REEEXRCELEM 2K
BB IRBERAFERHEXSTEE
RIIZR I8 IR B o

HRASEY EERLEETRAEESL
ReELBMRE HRAZFEY
ZEVBRRABLE -

BB B HEERE10% - BB EH
ERRFE 12 REE 25 ERIFE27E
(20114F) 2 EF] —REEE
ZEEEARNEREERER X
—HBEG - REBRIEFENSER
BAREE WEWRAKMEFEZEH
MREES - ERBEAFEFHEERE
ZRB - WABBA BRELARDRAR
R EARAAR  BRURSESREEES °

% FERT IR & B B 7% S 2 R 1057
[RAMBHER IR ERZHISMER
WERKREERUAZATFEREBRERS
fRz 7 At EERIM B A E - Mk 3k
HiFARE -%SEFNHINBHEKRE
ERIBEBEER - RFEATEEPER
MEASBRRETBEEGR -
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Notes to the Financial Statements
R4 35 38 = P &

(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective
1 January 2014 (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27 (2011)
— Investment Entities (Continued)

The adoption of the amendments has no impact on these
financial statements as the Company is not an investment
entity.

Amendments to HKAS 39 - Novation of Derivatives and
Continuation of Hedge Accounting

The amendments provide relief from discontinuing hedge
accounting when novation of a hedging instrument to
a central counterparty meets specified criteria. The
amendments are applied retrospectively.

The adoption of the amendments has no impact on these
financial statements as the Group does not apply hedge
accounting.

HK (IFRIC) 21 — Levies

HK (IFRIC) 21 clarifies that an entity recognises a liability to
pay a levy imposed by government when the activity that
triggers payment, as identified by the relevant legislation,
occurs. The interpretation has been applied retrospectively.

The adoption of HK (IFRIC) 21 has no impact on these
financial statements as the interpretation is consistent with
the Group’s previous application of its accounting policies
on provisions.
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(a) RENHET EETEEMBR
HHH-2014F1A1HEEN
(#8)

BB EIREERE109 - BEYBR

ERRF12H R EEBEEERE27%

(20114F) Z 55T —REERE (&)

HRARRIWIFEEETRE  WHEMNZ

ETHZENBERRITELE -

BB TS ERIE399 ZIEF— 1T T A
CEERHAEI CIHE
ZEBIMBEHATETEEPRR
SEFREMTEFERE  AJEELHF
A ZE BRI BB MER -

HRASEL RERLE RS qu’EﬁlT%%W
SEETHREW BRI ER

B (B FHREZ2EZRE) F215%
—HE

T (AR EREREREE) F2150
BIBRIBEEBEGIFAER - BRRN 3%
TR 2 7 B 3% A R R S A U A AN 2
BRAE ZHARBEEHER -

B I B TR A BN £R [ T A B AR 2 B AR
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uﬁ%é/\ ) EF2UR B L FH R
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(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued

but are not yet effective

The following new/revised HKFRSs, potentially relevant to
the Group’s financial statements, have been issued, but are
not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the

Group.

Amendments to HKAS 1

BB ENE1R Z(EF]

Amendments to HKAS 27

BB G ERIE27R 2 EFT

HKFRS 9 (2014)

BB MG EERIFN (20145F)
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

R BREERIFE105 &
ER G ERE285% 2 EF]
Amendments to HKFRS 11
EREVBREERNE115R 2 MEFT
HKFRS 14
BEBMBREERFE145
HKFRS 15
BB B 2RI 1558

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January !

Notes to the Financial Statements
B 35 8 = I &

(b) ESRHREEKEHRZHITE
eI EEMBREER

7K 55 [ 3P 8 B2 AT ER A T 51 B 2B 4 1B R

HERZHE]/RIERT BB R BREER

BREBEL R EEEARKE 2B %KAM

[

Disclosure Initiative’

wEAE

Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements'

CERVAE T E A £

Financial Instruments®

BT A

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture'

REEEEBLERA A LELECHZEELEITE'

Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations!
WEEEXBRRZ Gt kiR

Regulatory Deferral Accounts!

EERERE"

Revenue from Contracts with Customers?

BEFPAKWKA?

M2016F1 A1 H & 2 & h 2 FE H

2016 &

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2 R2017F1 ARk 2 5 RR 2 FEH
2017 AR

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 8 M2018F1 A1 sk 2 & M s 2 F /E &
2018 fE R

Amendments to HKAS 1 — Disclosure Initiative BB B ERE 192 15— F B E

The amendments to HKAS 1 are designed to further

EEGHEREIRZEITEHEE—F

encourage companies to apply professional judgment in HEARNETE Y BEmRIEEERTE

determining what information to disclose in their financial

REXHE N - Pl ZFEFEBE

statements. For example, the amendments make clear
that materiality applies to the whole of financial statements
and that the inclusion of immaterial information can inhibit
the usefulness of financial disclosures. Furthermore, the
amendments clarify that companies should use professional
judgment in determining where and in what order
information is presented in the financial disclosures.

ARBOMBHRAZEZE  MBAAT
EEZER AR GBI B EE R 2 3K6E -
BE LAETRE AREEMREE
HENBEEVHERBEENZZINEGHR
BEFF
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Notes to the Financial Statements
R4 35 38 = P &

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued

but are not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 27 - Equity Method in Separate

Financial Statements

The amendments allow an entity to apply the equity method
in accounting for its investments in subsidiaries, joint
ventures and associates in its separate financial statements.

HKFRS 9 (2014) — Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification
and measurement of financial assets. Debt instruments
that are held within a business model whose objective is
to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows
(the business model test) and that have contractual terms
that give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding
(the contractual cash flow characteristics test) are generally
measured at amortised cost. Debt instruments that meet
the contractual cash flow characteristics test are measured
at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”)
if the objective of the entity’s business model is both to
hold and collect the contractual cash flows and to sell the
financial assets. Entities may make an irrevocable election
at initial recognition to measure equity instruments that are
not held for trading at FVTOCI. All other debt and equity
instruments are measured at fair value through profit or loss

(“FVTPL").

HKFRS 9 includes a new expected loss impairment model
for all financial assets not measured at FVTPL replacing the
incurred loss model in HKAS 39 and new general hedge
accounting requirements to allow entities to better reflect

their risk management activities in financial statements.

HKFRS 9 carries forward the recognition, classification and
measurement requirements for financial liabilities from HKAS
39, except for financial liabilities designated at FVTPL,
where the amount of change in fair value attributable to
change in credit risk of the liability is recognised in other
comprehensive income unless that would create or enlarge
an accounting mismatch. In addition, HKFRS 9 retains the
requirements in HKAS 39 for derecognition of financial

assets and financial liabilities.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (Continued)
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 - Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture
The amendments clarify the extent of gains or losses to be
recognised when an entity sells or contributes assets to its
associate or joint venture. When the transaction involves a
business the gain or loss is recognised in full, conversely
when the transaction involves assets that do not constitute
a business the gain or loss is recognised only to the extent
of the unrelated investors’ interests in the joint venture or
associate.

Amendments to HKFRS 11- Accounting for Acquisitions of
Interests in Joint Operations

The amendments require an entity to apply all of the
principles of HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations” when it
acquires an interest in a joint operation that constitutes
a business as defined in that standard. The principles of
HKFRS 3 are also applied upon the formation of a joint
operation if an existing business as defined in that standard
is contributed by at least one of the parties.

HKFRS 15 — Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The new standard establishes a single revenue recognition
framework. The core principle of the framework is that an
entity should recognise revenue to depict the transfer of
promised goods or services to customers in an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods and services. HKFRS
15 supersedes existing revenue recognition guidance
including HKAS 18 “Revenue”, HKAS 11 “Construction
Contracts” and related interpretations.

B35 3 R P 5

(b) ESRHREEKEHRZHITE
eI EEMBREED (F)

BB BHHEERE105REEEE
RIFE28 2 87T —REZ BRI Z L F]
KEELR A EELEXTE
ZEEBRFERAEBEARRAE
CEHEFITIABER  BTHEIAZWK
BHEREE - EXZPR—BEE
AEERzH R aBER - R ER
SYRIBR—BAXB2EE " Al
RTAHEEREERAELERBER
ZREmER WS LR -

Y
i)

=

el

BB & ERE 1152 (5] — Wi
BEREER B BE
ZEEAEEBRAENBEXTER
BHREEUFIRIZHFEHIARTEL
Xzt EBRan ARAZENL
P A R RN - fix & 78 B 15 3 &5 2 R S35
REZRBEBIREFEL T H
B AIZEATIRN G & RIEKLILERE
A -

BB B HEERE165 —FF AR
WA

ZIEF A ER R E — WA TERIER -
ERNZORAUSERBEERLA A
FAERBIE R M R R A
BRENSERNEFEBEMAEAFE MK
R - BAMBHREERF15HMAR
BURAERES  BREBSTEAE
185% WAL - BB SR ERIF1157 [ 12
LEH]IMEERE -
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 15 — Revenue from Contracts with Customers

(Continued)

HKFRS 15 requires the application of a 5-step approach to

revenue recognition:

° Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

o Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the
contract

° Step 3: Determine the transaction price

o Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to each
performance obligation

o Step 5: Recognise revenue when each performance
obligation is satisfied

HKFRS 15 includes specific guidance on particular revenue
related topics that may change the current approach taken
under HKFRS. The standard also significantly enhances the
qualitative and quantitative disclosures related to revenue.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the
potential impact of these pronouncements. The directors so
far concluded that they are not yet in a position to quantify
the effects on the Group’s financial statements.

(a) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “HKFRSs”) and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. In addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited.

Annual Report 2014 ¢ Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited

(b) ESRHREEKEHRZHITE

eI EEMBREED (F)
BB KB EERE 165 —FF & AU
A (&)

&8 B 5 5 E B 1557 AR E HE SR UA
ZREZE

e F1F: BRHERPMAINAHN
¥ HBHEHOMBEHRE

s FH3F: FE*%{EW

e F4H: HRRFEREZREYN
1

e F5F: REBISBABETER
RUTA

BENBHRELERE15RBIEE E A e
B AR IR A B B R A R UK
MBS ERARBEENRERS - %R

EATEEMEEBRANTHRE R
HE

AEBREFEREAELEELE
MEFESRE  BERERLRSE

{53
A AREERBRRZEE

(a) HEHIEHA
RAVMBHRERDEBREEMBERZE
B BHRELED  AESFENRRE
(ATHmBIEBUBRELEL]D REE
NAMED 2 R TERE o BEIN - RER
EUMBEMEINRFEERRERIMBR
NEFHFEMBRAU 2 BRRERTE -



Notes to the Financial Statements

(b) Basis of measurement and going concern
assumption

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared

under the historical cost basis, except for certain financial

instruments, which are measured at fair values as explained

in the accounting policies set out below.

(c) Functional and presentational currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates.
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollar (“HKD”), which is also the functional currency of
the Company.

(a) Business combination and basis of
consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”). Inter-company transactions and balances
between group companies together with unrealised profits
are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of impairment on the asset
transferred, in which case the loss is recognised in profit or
loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the
effective dates of acquisition or up to the effective dates
of disposal, as appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments
are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring
their accounting policies into line with those used by other
members of the Group.

B35 3 R P 5

(b) FFEEERFHESRH

AP BREDRAELKAALRR
B EmTXAREHEERL BT
M TADUATESE -

(c) MEERERER

AEBEEERIMBEHRRAZIEE 1
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(a) Business combination and basis of
consolidation (Continued)

Acquisitions of subsidiaries or businesses are accounted for
using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is
measured at the aggregate of the acquisition-date fair value
of assets transferred, liabilities incurred and equity interests
issued by the Group, as the acquirer. The identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed are principally measured
at acquisition-date fair value. The Group’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured at
acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gains or losses
are recognised in profit or loss. The Group may elect, on
a transaction-by-transaction basis, to measure the non-
controlling interests that represent present ownership
interests in the subsidiary either at fair value or at the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
All other non-controlling interests are measured at fair value
unless another measurement basis is required by HKFRSs.
Acquisition-related costs incurred are expensed unless they
are incurred in issuing equity instruments in which case the
costs are deducted from equity.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at acquisition-date fair value.
Subsequent adjustments to consideration are recognised
against goodwill only to the extent that they arise from
new information obtained within the measurement period
(@ maximum of 12 months from the acquisition date) about
the fair value at the acquisition date. All other subsequent
adjustments to contingent consideration classified as an
asset or a liability are recognised in profit or loss.

Contingent consideration balances arising from business
combinations whose acquisition dates preceded 1 January
2010 (i.e. the date the Group first applied HKFRS 3 (2008))
have been accounted for in accordance with the transition
requirements in the standard. Such balances are not
adjusted upon first application of the standard. Subsequent
revisions to estimates of such consideration are treated as
adjustments to the cost of these business combinations and
are recognised as part of goodwill.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(a) Business combination and basis of
consolidation (Continued)
Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interest
and the non-controlling interest are adjusted to reflect the
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interest is adjusted and the fair value of the consideration
paid or received is recognised directly in equity and
attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or
loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between
(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest and
(i) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-
controlling interest. Amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are
accounted for in the same manner as would be required if
the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-
controlling interests that represent present ownership
interests in the subsidiary is the amount of those interests at
initial recognition plus such non-controlling interest’s share
of subsequent changes in equity. Total comprehensive
income is attributed to such non-controlling interests even if
this results in those non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

(b) Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company is able
to exercise control. The Company controls an investee if
all three of the following elements are present: power over
the investee, exposure, or rights, to variable returns from
the investee, and the ability to use its power to affect those
variable returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts and
circumstances indicate that there may be a change in any of
these elements of control.
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(b) Subsidiaries (Continued)

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend
received and receivable.

(c) Goodwill

Goodwill is initially recognised at cost being the excess of
the aggregate of consideration transferred and the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests over the fair value
of identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
acquired.

Where the fair value of identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities exceed the fair value of consideration
paid, the excess is recognised in profit or loss on the
acquisition date, after re-assessment.

Goodwill is measured at cost less impairment losses. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill arising from
an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant cash-
generating units that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the acquisition. A cash-generating unit to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually, and whenever there is an indication that the unit
may be impaired.

For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial year, the
cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of that financial year.
When the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment
loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the unit first, and then to the other
assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying
amount to each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for
goodwill is recognised in profit or loss and is not reversed in
subsequent periods.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(d) Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor
a joint arrangement. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but not control or joint control over those
policies.

Associates are accounted for using the equity method
whereby they are initially recognised at cost and thereafter,
their carrying amount are adjusted for the Group’s share of
the post-acquisition change in the associates’ net assets
except that losses in excess of the Group’s interest in the
associate are not recognised unless there is an obligation to
make good those losses.

Profits and losses arising on transactions between the
Group and its associates are recognised only to the
extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the associate.
The investor’s share in the associate’s profits and losses
resulting from these transactions is eliminated against the
carrying value of the associate. Where unrealised losses
provide evidence of impairment of the asset transferred they
are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Any premium paid for an associate above the fair value of
the Group’s share of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities acquired is capitalised and included
in the carrying amount of the associate. Where there is
objective evidence that the investment in an associate has
been impaired, the carrying amount of the investment is
tested for impairment in the same way as other non-financial
assets.

(e) Joint arrangements

The group is a party to a joint arrangement where there is a
contractual arrangement that confers joint control over the
relevant activities of the arrangement to the group and at
least one other party. Joint control is assessed under the
same principles as control over subsidiaries.
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(e) Joint arrangements (Continued)
The group classifies its interests in joint arrangements as
either:

o Joint ventures: where the group has rights to only the
net assets of the joint arrangement; or

° Joint operations: where the group has both the rights
to assets and obligations for the liabilities of the joint
arrangement.

In assessing the classification of interests in joint
arrangements, the Group considers:

o The structure of the joint arrangement;

° The legal form of joint arrangements structured
through a separate vehicle;

o The contractual terms of the joint arrangement
agreement; and

o Any other facts and circumstances (including any other
contractual arrangements).

The Group accounts for its interests in joint ventures in the
same manner as investments in associates (i.e. using the
equity method — see note 4(d)).

Any premium paid for an investment in a joint venture above
the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired is capitalised
and included in the carrying amount of the investment in
joint venture. Where there is objective evidence that the
investment in a joint venture has been impaired the carrying
amount of the investment is tested for impairment in the
same way as other non-financial assets.

The Group accounts for its production sharing contracts as
joint operations by recognising its share of assets, liabilities,
revenues and expenses in accordance with its contractually
conferred rights and obligations.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(f) Property, plant and equipment

The property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its
purchase price and the costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost
of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount
of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are recognised as an expense in profit or loss
during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Expenditure on the construction, installation or completion
of infrastructure facilities such as platforms, pipelines and
the drilling of development wells is capitalised as oil and gas
properties under property, plant and equipment.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so as to
write off their cost net of expected residual value over their
estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis, except for
oil and gas properties which are depreciated by the units
of production method. The useful lives, residual value
and depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. The useful
lives are as follows:

The shorter of their

Leasehold improvements
estimated useful lives
or the lease term

- Qil and gas properties

- Furniture, fixtures and office 3 — 10 years

Units of production

equipment

— Motor vehicles 4 -5 years
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(f) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Construction in progress is stated at cost less impairment
losses. Cost comprises direct costs of construction as
well as borrowing costs capitalised during the periods of
construction and installation. Capitalisation of these costs
ceases and the construction in progress is transferred to
the appropriate class of property, plant and equipment
when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the
assets for their intended use are completed. No depreciation
is provided for in respect of construction in progress until it
is completed and ready for its intended use.

An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if its carrying amount is higher than the asset’s
estimated recoverable amount.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant
and equipment is the difference between the net sale
proceeds and its carrying amount, and is recognised in
profit or loss on disposal.

(9) Intangible assets

Oil operation rights

Oil operation rights are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses and are amortised
on the units of production method.

Motor vehicle registration license

Motor vehicle registration licenses with indefinite useful
lives acquired are carried at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses. The Group tests impairment for the
indefinite useful lives motor vehicle licenses annually
by comparing its carrying amounts with its recoverable
amounts, irrespective of whether there is any indication
that it may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of an
asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately, but when an impairment loss subsequently
reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount to the extent
that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(h) Gas exploration and evaluation assets

Gas exploration and evaluation activity involves the search
for mineral resources, the determination of technical
feasibility and the assessment of commercial viability of an
identified resource.

The licence costs paid in connection with a right to explore
are capitalised as gas exploration and evaluation asset.
Once the legal right to explore has been acquired, costs
directly associated with an exploration well are capitalised as
gas exploration and evaluation assets until the drilling of the
well is complete and the results have been evaluated. These
costs include directly attributable employee remuneration,
materials and fuel used, rig costs and payments made to
contractors.

Geological and geophysical costs are also capitalised as
gas exploration and evaluation asset.

If extractable coalbed methane are found and, subject to
further appraisal activity (e.g., the drilling of additional wells),
are likely to be capable of being commercially developed,
the costs continue to be carried as an intangible assets
while sufficient/continued progress is made in assessing
the commerciality of the coalbed methane. Costs directly
associated with appraisal activity undertaken to determine
the size, characteristics and commercial potential of a
reservoir following the initial discovery of coalbed methane,
including the costs of appraisal wells where coalbed
methane were not found, are initially capitalised as an
intangible asset.

All such capitalised costs are subject to technical,
commercial and management review as well as review for
indicators of impairment at least once a year. This is to
confirm the continued intent to develop or otherwise extract
value from the discovery. When this is no longer the case,
the costs are written off to profit or loss.
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(h) Gas exploration and evaluation assets
(Continued)

When proved reserves of coalbed methane are identified,
development is sanctioned by management and approved
by relevant government bodies, the relevant capitalised
expenditure is first assessed for impairment and (if required)
any impairment loss is recognised, then the remaining
balance is reclassified to intangible assets and oil and
gas properties under property, plant and equipment. After
reclassification, amortisation or depreciation will be provided
for the respective assets consistent with the relevant
accounting policy. No amortisation or depreciation is
charged during the exploration and evaluation phase.

() Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset and recognised as an expense
on the straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group as lessee

The total rentals payable under the operating leases are
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
lease term. Lease incentives received are recognised as an
integrated part of the total rental expense, over the term of
the lease.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

() Financial instruments

(i) Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets at initial recognition,
depending on the purpose for which the asset was
acquired. Financial assets are initially measured at fair value
plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial assets. Regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. A regular way purchase or sale is a
purchase or sale of a financial asset under a contract whose
terms require delivery of the asset within the time frame
established generally by regulation or convention in the
marketplace concerned.

Loans and receivables

These assets are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. They arise principally through the provision
of goods and services to customers (trade debtors), and
also incorporate other types of contractual monetary
asset. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any
identified impairment losses.

(i) Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group assesses, at the end of each reporting period,
whether there is any objective evidence that financial asset
is impaired. Financial asset is impaired if there is objective
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events
that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset
and that event has an impact on the estimated future cash
flows of the financial asset that can be reliably estimated.
Evidence of impairment may include:

o significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

° a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments;

° granting concession to a debtor because of debtor’s
financial difficulty; or

° it becoming probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.
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(1) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i) Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

Loans and receivables

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when
there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, and
is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash
flows discounted at the original effective interest rate. The
carrying amount of financial asset is reduced through the
use of an allowance account. When any part of financial
asset is determined as uncollectible, it is written off against
the allowance account for the relevant financial asset.

Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent periods
when an increase in the asset’s recoverable amount can be
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised, subject to a restriction that the carrying
amount of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed
does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been
had the impairment not been recognised.

(iii)  Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending on
the purpose for which the liabilities were incurred. Financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are initially
measured at fair value and financial liabilities at amortised
costs are initially measured at fair value, net of directly
attributable costs incurred.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they
are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term.
Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are
also classified as held for trading unless they are designated
as effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on
liabilities held for trading are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(1) Financial instruments (Continued)

(iii)  Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

Where a contract contains one or more embedded
derivatives, the entire hybrid contract may be designated as
a financial liability at fair value through profit or loss, except
where the embedded derivative does not significantly modify
the cash flows or it is clear that separation of the embedded
derivative is prohibited.

Financial liabilities may be designated upon initial recognition
as at fair value through profit or loss if the following criteria
are met: (i) the designation eliminates or significantly
reduces the inconsistent treatment that would otherwise
arise from measuring the liabilities or recognising gains or
losses on them on a different basis; (ii) the liabilities are part
of a group of financial liabilities which are managed and their
performance evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance
with a documented risk management strategy; or (iii) the
financial liability contains an embedded derivative that would
need to be separately recorded.

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are measured at fair value,
with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they arise.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including trade and
other payables, borrowings, the debt element of convertible
debts issued by the Group are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method. The
related interest expense is recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
amortisation process.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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(1) Financial instruments (Continued)
(iv) Convertible notes containing liability and equity
components

Convertible notes issued by the Group that contain both the
liability and conversion option components are classified
separately into their respective items on initial recognition.
Conversion option that will be settled by the exchange
of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a
fixed number of the Company’s own equity instruments is
classified as an equity instrument.

On initial recognition, the fair value of the liability component
is determined using the prevailing market interest of similar
non-convertible debts. The difference between the proceeds
of the issue of the convertible loan notes and the fair
value assigned to the liability component, representing the
conversion option for the holder to convert the loan notes
into equity, is included in equity as convertible notes equity
reserve.

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the
convertible notes is carried at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. The equity component,
represented by the option to convert the liability component
into ordinary shares of the Company, will remain in
convertible notes equity reserve until the embedded option
is exercised when the balance stated in convertible notes
equity reserve will be transferred to share premium. Where
the option remains unexercised at the expiry dates, the
balance stated in convertible notes equity reserve will
be released to accumulated losses. No gain or loss is
recognised upon conversion or expiration of the option.

(v)  Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income or interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or
payments through the expected life of the financial asset or
liability, or where appropriate, a shorter period.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(1) Financial instruments (Continued)

(vi)  Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Warrants issued by the Company that will be settled by a
fixed amount of cash for fixed number of the Company’s
own equity instruments are equity (warrant reserve). The
warrant reserve will be transferred to the share capital and
share premium accounts upon the exercise of the warrants.
When the warrants are still not yet exercised at the expiry
date, the amount previously recognised in warrant reserve
will be transferred to accumulated losses.

(vii)  Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor
fails to make payment when due in accordance with the
original or modified terms of a debt instrument. A financial
guarantee contract issued by the Group and not designated
as at fair value through profit or loss is recognised initially
at its fair value less transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the issue of the financial guarantee contract.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the
financial guarantee contact at the higher of: (i) the amount
determined in accordance with HKAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets; and (ii)
the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with
HKAS 18 Revenue.

(viii) Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the
contractual rights to the future cash flows in relation to
the financial asset expire or when the financial asset has
been transferred and the transfer meets the criteria for
derecognition in accordance with HKAS 39.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
R4 35 38 = P &

(1) Financial instruments (Continued)

(viii) Derecognition (Continued)

Where the Group issues its own equity instruments to a
creditor to settle a financial liability in whole or in part as a
result of renegotiating the terms of that liability, the equity
instruments issued are the consideration paid and are
recognised initially and measured at their fair value on the
date the financial liability or part thereof is extinguished. If
the fair value of the equity instruments issued cannot be
reliably measured, the equity instruments are measured to
reflect the fair value of the financial liability extinguished.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability or part thereof extinguished and the consideration
paid is recognised in profit or loss for the year.

(k) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
deposits held at call with banks, and other short-term highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known
amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value.

() Inventories

Inventories are initially recognised at cost, and subsequently
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises
all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition. Cost is calculated using the weighted
average method. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business
less the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(m) Provision and contingent liabilities

(i) Provisions

General

Provision are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the end of reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where
a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated
to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third
party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually
certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount
of the receivable can be measured reliably.

(i) Contingent liability

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from
past events and whose existence will only be confirmed
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the
Group. It can also be a present obligation arising from past
events that is not recognised because it is not probable
that outflow of economic resources will be required or the
amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the
financial statements. When a change in the probability of an
outflow occurs so that the outflow is probable, it will then
be recognised as a provision.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
R4 35 38 = P &

(n) Income tax

Income tax expense represents current tax and deferred

tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary
activities adjusted for items that are non-assessable or
disallowable for income tax purposes and is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively

enacted at the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
corresponding amounts used for tax purposes. Except for
goodwill and recognised assets and liabilities that affect
neither accounting nor taxable profits, deferred tax liabilities
are recognised for all temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax is
measured at the tax rates expected to apply in the period
when the liability is settled or the asset is realised based on
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted

at the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, associates
and jointly controlled entities, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and
it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse

in the foreseeable future.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except
when they relate to items directly recognised in other
comprehensive income in which case the taxes are also

directly recognised in other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(o) Foreign currencies

Transactions entered into by group entities in currencies
other than the currency of the primary economic
environment in which they operate (the “functional
currency”) are recorded at the rates ruling when the
transactions occur. Foreign currency monetary assets and
liabilities are translated at the rates ruling at the end of
reporting period. Non-monetary items carried at fair value
that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the translation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation
of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included
in profit or loss for the period except for differences
arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in
respect of which gains and losses are recognised directly
in other comprehensive income, in which case, the
exchange differences are also recognised directly in other
comprehensive income.

On consolidation, income and expense items of foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the average
exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during the period, in which case, the rates
approximating to those ruling when the transactions took
place are used. All assets and liabilities of foreign operations
are translated at the rate ruling at the end of reporting
period. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
as foreign exchange reserve (attributed to minority interests
as appropriate). Exchange differences recognised in profit
or loss of group entities’ separate financial statements on
the translation of long-term monetary items forming part
of the Group’s net investment in the foreign operation
concerned are reclassified to other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity as foreign exchange reserve.
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(o) Foreign currencies (Continued)

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative exchange
differences recognised in the exchange reserve relating to
that operation up to the date of disposal are reclassified to
profit or loss as part of the profit or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation
on or after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets and
liabilities of that foreign operation and translated at the
rate of exchange prevailing at the end of reporting period.
Exchange differences arising are recognised in the exchange
reserve.

(p) Employee’s benefits

(i) Short term employee benefits

Short term employee benefits are employee benefits (other
than termination benefits) that are expected to be settled
wholly before twelve months after the end of the annual
reporting period in which the employees render the related
service. Short term employee benefits are recognised in the
year when the employees render the related service.

(i) Defined contribution retirement plan

Contributions to defined contribution retirement plans are
recognised as an expense in profit or loss when the services
are rendered by the employees.

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
for all of its employees in Hong Kong. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the Scheme. The
assets of the Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
contributions as employer vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the Scheme.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(p) Employee’s benefits (Continued)

(i) Defined contribution retirement plan (Continued)

The Group has joined a mandatory central pension scheme
organised by the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”)
government for certain of its employees, the assets of which
are held separately from those of the Group. Contributions
made are based on a percentage of the eligible employees’
salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they became
payable, in accordance with the rules of the scheme. The
employer’s contributions vest fully once they are made.

(g) Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-
settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s
estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest. At
the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to
vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss over the remaining
vesting period, with a corresponding adjustment to the
share option reserve.

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with
other parties are measured at the fair value of the goods
or services received, except where the fair value cannot be
estimated reliably, in which case they are measured at the
fair value of the equity instruments granted, measured at
the date the Group obtains the goods or the counterparty
renders the service.

For cash-settled share-based payments, a liability equal to
the portion of the goods or services received is recognised
at the current fair value determined at the end of each
reporting period.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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(r) Impairment of other assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of the following assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss or an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have decreased:

o property, plant and equipment under cost model;

° gas exploration and evaluation assets;

o intangible assets; and
o investments in subsidiaries, jointly venture and
associate

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair value
less costs to sell and value in use) of an asset is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, to the extent that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income
immediately.

(s) Capitalisation of borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets which require
a substantial period of time to be ready for their intended
use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those
assets, until such time as the assets, are substantially ready
for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are
incurred.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Government grants

Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the Group
will comply with the conditions attaching to them. Grants
that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are
recognised as revenue in profit or loss on a systematic basis
in the same periods in which the expenses are incurred.
Grants that compensate the Group for the cost of an asset
are deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and
consequently are effectively recognised in profit or loss over
the useful life of the asset by way of reduced depreciation
expense.

(u) Related parties

(i)

A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of key management personnel of the
Group or the Company’s parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions apply:

The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is joint venture of the other entity (or an
associate or joint venture of a member of a group of
which the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of the employees of the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (j).

A person identified in (i)(a) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).
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(u) Related parties (Continued)

(i) Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity
and include:

(@) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(b)  children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner;
and

(c) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.

(v) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated
customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances and
excluded value added tax or other sales related taxes.

(i) Sale of crude oil

Revenue is recognised when crude oil is delivered at the
customers’ premises which is taken to be the point in time
when the customer has accepted the crude oil delivered
and the related risks and rewards of ownership.

(i) Sale of coalbed methane

Revenue from sale of coalbed methane is recognised when
the coalbed methane is siphoned to the customers’ tankers
which is taken to be the point in time when the customer
has accepted the coalbed methane delivered and the
related risks and rewards of ownership.

Revenue from trial-sales of natural gas through pipeline
is recognised when the natural gas passes through the
gas reader built in CNG Gas Station which is taken to be
the point in time when the customer has accepted the
natural gas delivered and the related risks and rewards of
ownership.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(v) Revenue recognition (Continued)

(iii)  Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time-apportioned basis by
reference to the principal outstanding using the effective
interest method.

(iv)  Rental income
Rental income under operating leases is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the
directors are required to make judgement, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.
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(@) Critical judgements in applying the Group’s
accounting policies

(i) Units of production for depreciation and amortisation
Oil and gas properties are depreciated and intangible assets
are amortised using the units of production method over
total proved developed and undeveloped oil reserves. This
results in depreciation and amortisation charge proportional
to the depletion of the anticipated remaining production
from the field. Each item’s life, which is assessed annually,
having regard to both its physical life limitations and to
present assessments of economically recoverable reserves
of the field at which the asset is located. These calculations
require the use of estimates and assumptions, including the
amount of recoverable reserves. The calculation of the units
of production rate of depreciation and amortisation could be
affected by actual future production which may differ from
current forecast production based on total proved reserves.
Changes to proved reserves could arise due to changes
in the factors or assumptions used in estimating reserves,
including price assumptions. If there is any changes in
the assumptions used, the calculation will be changed
prospectively.

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies
which are described in note 4, management has made
certain key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimated uncertainty at the end of reporting
period, that may have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, as discussed below.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)
(i) Impairment of intangible assets and property, plant
and equipment

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its
net selling price and value in use. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset, which requires
significant judgement relating to level of revenue and
amount of operating costs. The Group uses all readily
available information in determining an amount that is a
reasonable approximation of the recoverable amount,
including estimates based on reasonable and supportable
assumptions and projections of revenue and operating
costs. Changes in these estimates could have a significant
impact on the carrying value of the assets and could result
in additional impairment charge or reversal of impairment in
future periods.

(i) Impairment of receivables

The Group performs impairment review for doubtful
accounts based upon evaluation of the recoverability of the
trade receivables and other receivables, where applicable,
at each the end of reporting period. The estimates are
based on the ageing of the trade receivable and other
receivables balances and the historical write-off experience,
net of recoveries. If the financial condition of the debtors
were to deteriorate, additional impairment allowance may be
required.
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(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)
(i) Income taxes and deferred taxation
The Group is subject to income taxes in a number
of jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in
determining the provision for income taxes. Transactions
and calculations may exist for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated
tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes
will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred
tax provisions in the period in which such determination is
made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised to the extent
that management considers it is probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences or tax losses can be utilised. Where the
expectation is different from the original estimate, such
differences will impact the recognition of deferred tax assets
and tax in the periods in which such estimate is changed.

(iv)  Contingencies

Periodically, the Group assesses potential liabilities related
to any lawsuits or claims brought against the Group or
any asserted claims. Although it is typically very difficult
to determine the timing and ultimate outcome of such
actions, the Group uses its best judgement to determine
if it is probable that it will incur an expense related to the
settlement or final adjudication of such matters and whether
a reasonable estimation of such probable loss, if any,
can be made. In accordance with HKAS 37, Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, the Group
accrues a liability when it believes a loss is probable and
the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. Due to
the inherent uncertainties related to the eventual outcome
of litigation, although the Group believes that the estimates
and judgement are reasonable, it is possible that certain
matters may be resolved for amounts materially different
from any estimated provisions or previous disclosures.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)
(v)  Oil and gas reserves
Engineering estimates of the Group’s oil and gas reserves
are inherently imprecise and represent only approximate
amounts because of the subjective judgement involved
in developing such information. There are authoritative
guidelines regarding the engineering criteria that have to
be met before estimated oil reserves can be designated as
‘proved’ and ‘probable’. Proved and probable oil and gas
reserve estimates are updated on regular intervals taking
into account recent production and technical information
about each oil and gas field. In addition, as prices and cost
levels change from year to year, the estimate of proved and
probable oil and gas reserves also changes. This change is
considered a change in estimate for accounting purposes
and is reflected on a prospective basis in the related
depreciation rate and amortisation rate of oil and gas
properties and intangible assets respectively.

Despite the inherent imprecision, engineering estimates are
used in determining depreciation and amortisation charges
and impairment losses. The oil and gas properties and
operation rights are amortised using the units of production
method based on the proved and probable oil and gas
reserves.

(vi)  Estimation of impairment on exploration and evaluation
assets

The Group tests the exploration and evaluation assets
for impairment according to accounting policies stated in
notes 4(h) and 4(r). The assets are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount of the assets exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of an asset
or a cash generating unit is determined based on value-
in-use calculations which require the use of assumptions
and estimates. While conducting an impairment review of
the assets, the Group makes certain judgement in making
assumptions about the future gas prices and production
costs, changes in these estimates may result in significant
variance to the statement of comprehensive income.
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(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)
(vii)  Estimation of assets retirement obligations
Provision is recognised for the future decommissioning
and restoration of oil and gas properties. The amount of
provision recognised is the present value of the estimate
future expenditure. The estimation of the future expenditure
is based on current local conditions and requirements,
including legal requirements, technology, price level, etc.
In addition to these factors, the present value of these
estimated future expenditure is also impacted by the
estimation of the economic lives of oil properties. Changes
in any of these estimates will impact the operating results
and the financial position of the Group over the remaining
economic lives of the oil properties.

The principal activities of the Group are operation of (i)
exploitation and sale of crude oil and natural gas and
(i) exploration, development and production of coalbed
methane. Since the operation of exploration, development
and production of coalbed methane is in the exploration
stage, revenue generated from trial sales was not recorded
as turnover during the years 2014 and 2013.

The amount of revenue recognised in turnover during the
year was as follows:

Sale of crude oil 56 R

Annual Report 2014 ¢ Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited

(b) fEEFFAHARERZEERER
(&)

(i) HEEREREZ 1G4
AEERMREERARIRENEER
REH EeBRDHEIARMGIREMAX
ZHE - RRAXZEANDERE IR
BN BRREFL - BIEEERE
R EERKFE BRZERRN 8B
AHEEREFR BT EbaT
ARAZZHE - EAZEHFTZE
BEEAKRERAMEEZRBRRESF
HAZREZERTBAMR -

AEBZIEXBELEIRREEE
ol R RARRRMEE FEREER
BR BRUFK RAEREERERZ
EHmEDRRER  BUR2014F K
2013 F A A F & M EE M RALRA
RRIIMEE XA -

FAEEXERR I BAKELT :

2013
HK$’ 000
TAET

21,598



Interest income
— bank deposits
— short-term investment
— others

Total interest income on financial
assets that are not at fair value
through profit or loss

Income from sale of coalbed
methane — note (i)

Government subsidies — note (ii)

Notes to the Financial Statements

B KA
—RITTFR
—REHKRE
—HAft

W IR A FERBEIERZ
MBEEZMNEBABE

B B SR 3 B WA — B RE ()

KT 478 B — PRGN

Sub-lease income S AW A

Others HAh

Notes:

(i) It represents trial sales of coalbed methane generated from

the Sanjiao production sharing contract (“Sanjiao PSC”).

(if) It represents the regular subsidies from relevant government

authority on the trial sales of coalbed methane from the
Sanjiao PSC for the years from 2012 to 2018.

(i)

B %5 3R = B &

2013
HK$’ 000
TAET

579

579
38,899

852
2,142

42,472
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Loss on extinguishment of financial
liabilities (note 38(a)(iv))

Loss on disposal/write off of property,
plant and equipment

Change in fair value of warrant liability

Deposits and other receivables
written off

Exchange losses, net

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries
(note 39)

Notes to the Financial Statements
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KV BEEZEE
(Pt 5E38(a)(iv))
HEAHEDE  BE
Bz R

RBETEELTFELD
CEY e T e

&3 E B8
BB A R Uk
(Bt5E39)

Profit/(loss) before income tax expense is arrived at after

charging/(crediting):

(@) Finance costs

(a) RBERE

Amortisation of convertible notes
transactions costs (note 34)

Amortisation of warrant liability
transaction cost (note 31)

Interest on borrowings wholly
repayable within five years

Imputed interest on convertible
notes (note 34)

Imputed interest on other loan
(note 31)

Interest on late payment charged
by a subcontractor

Others

Less: interest capitalised as
gas exploration and
evaluation assets
(note 18)
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2013
HK$’ 000
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(534)
(48)

(25,836)
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HK$’ 000
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A SRR R 5 A

Z 5 (M13E34)

1,874
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49,932

AR REE 2 R
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HAtE Rz A 2

(Bt 5E31)

21,775
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52,536
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(b)

(c)

Notes to the Financial Statements

Staff costs (including (b) EIRE
directors’ remuneration (BEMEI11Z
in note 11) EEBE)

Salaries, wages and other Fe I&K
benefits H b 18 7

Contributions to defined E R TR
contribution retirement plan ETEl 2 Bt

Other items (c) H#IEHR

Auditor’s remuneration Z A B

Depreciation of property, ¥ BEK
plant and equipment BREITE
(note 17) (FF=E17)

Amortisation of intangible B EEL
assets* (note 19) #ane (MYsE19)

Minimum lease payments KEHE
under operating lease K& IR
— property rentals —MEHEE

Included in “direct costs” in the consolidated statement of

profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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2013
HK$’ 000
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36,097

1,726

37,823

1,450

3,616

823
5,878
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No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made
as the group companies did not have any estimated
assessable profits subject to Hong Kong profits tax during
the years ended 31 December 2014 and 2013. During the
years ended 31 December 2014 and 2013, the subsidiaries
in the PRC were subject to statutory tax rate of 25%.

()  The amount of income tax expense credited/(charged)
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income represents:

Current income tax BNV HA P 15 350
- PRC enterprises income tax — B EMRER

Deferred tax for the year (note 35) FRNZRLERIE (M3E35)

Income tax credit/(expense) T8 iR, (L)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(i)  The income tax credit/(expense) for the year can be (i)
reconciled to the Group’s profit/(loss) before income
tax expense per the consolidated statement of profit

or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

(Profit)/loss before income
tax expense

Tax credit on (profit)/loss before
income tax expense, calculated
at 25% (2013: 25%)
Effect of different tax rates
of subsidiaries operating
in other jurisdiction
Tax effect of non-deductible
expenses and non-taxable income
Tax effect of utilisation/(origination)
of tax loss not recognised

Income tax credit/(expense)

B 1S 8 52 H Al
Ca #) /B8

BRATIS R AT CaF) &8
TRIEH R, - 1R25% 5T H
(20134 : 25%)

REMREEREEE KB QR
TRBE 2 ZE

TRl kR R BAERBUA
BB E

AERZMEEBB 2R (EL)
2B 2

PR BUHER, ()

B35 3 R P 5

REFEZHBHER (L) &
meBEakEMEEKERZA
SEKRAERZEAETR(BB)
HERIT

2013
HK$’ 000
TAExT

58,512

14,628

(4,572)
(12,266)
(610)

(2,820)
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Directors and the chief executive’s remuneration disclosed BIE TR KRB BN (B622F)
pursuant to the Listing Rules and section 78 of Schedule MiR1158781& CBRE B A FEH (532
11 to Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, Cap.622 which B)FEIMRBECEETRESTERA
requires compliance with section 161 of the Hong Kong EM2T :

Companies Ordinance (Cap. 32) is as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2014 HE2014F12A31HILFE
Salaries, Retirement
Directors’ allowances scheme
fees and benefits  contributions Total
e 2N BREHE
ESHe REF i @t
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FTET FTET FTET FERT
Executive directors HITEE
Dai Xiaobing /R - 2,197 17 2,214
King Hap Lee A - 2,000 17 2,017
Zhu Danping' FN R - 883 - 883
Wang Ziming? FEH? - 922 7 929
Wan Tze Fan Terence BT - 2,000 17 2,017
- 8,002 58 8,060
Independent BUFNTES
non-executive directors
Wong Kwok Chuen Peter =B 2 200 - - 200
Wong Lung Tak Patrick ~ =#Ef& 200 - - 200
Wang Yanbin T 200 - - 200
Dang Weihua® R 200 - - 200
800 - - 800

Non-executive directors ~ EHITESE

Kong Siu Tim? LDt 88 - - 88
Ma Tengying* S - - - -
Chen Hua® [ 112 - - 112
Huang Shaowu® RS 112 - - 112
He Lin Feng® fApRis 72 - - 72
384 - - 384

1,184 8,002 58 9,244
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31 December 2014 201412 H31H

11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 11. EEHE ()
(Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2013 HZE2013F12A31AIEFE
Salaries, Retirement
Directors’ allowances scheme
fees and benefits contributions Tota
=3 BRIRGTE
ESHe R A& 5 @at
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
THET THT AT BT
Executive directors HITEE
Dai Xiaobing B - 2,000 15 2,015
King Hap Lee SR - 2,000 15 2,015
Zhu Danping' KELE = 1,127 = 1,127
Wang Ziming? Fae - 2,000 15 2,015
Wan Tze Fan Terence BTE - 2,000 15 2,015
Xu Zucheng’ AR - 833 - 833
- 9,960 60 10,020
Independent BUFWITES
non-executive directors
Wong Kwok Chuen Peter &E 2 200 - - 200
Wong Lung Tak Patrick = &= 200 - - 200
Wang Yanbin TER 200 - - 200
Dang Weihua® EEE 87 = = 87
687 - - 687
Non-executive directors ~ FHITESE
Kong Siu Tim? LD 200 - - 200
Ma Tengying* Shee - - - -
200 - - 200
887 9,960 60 10,907
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Notes:

1. Appointed as chief executive officer in June 2013 and
resigned in June 2014.

Resigned in June 2014.

Appointed in July 2013.

Appointed in April 2013.

Appointed in June 2014.

Appointed in August 2014.

Noo o kWD

Appointed as executive director and chief executive office
in March 2012 and September 2012 respectively. Resigned

from both positions in June 2013.

During the year, no emoluments (2013: HK$Nil) were paid
by the Group to any of the directors as an inducement to
join or upon joining the Group or as a compensation for loss
of office. None of the directors waived or agreed to waive
any remuneration for the years ended 31 December 2014
and 2013.

All the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group (2013: five) were directors of the Company whose
emoluments are disclosed in note 11.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

The emoluments paid or payable to members of senior
management (non-director individual) were within the
following bands:

Below HK$1,000,000 1,000,000/ 7T LA T~

B35 3 R P 5

EXNEENTRRAEEEKRE (FE
EAD) ZHENFTIEE :

2013
Number of
individuals

A

HK$1,000,000 - HK$1,500,000 1,000,000 7T &£1,500,000/% JT 2

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the above
highest paid non-director individual as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group or as a compensation for loss of
office.

The profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the Company
includes a loss of HK$49,453,000 (2013: HK$42,563,000)
which has been dealt with in the financial statements of the
Company.

The directors do not recommend the payment of any
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2014 (2013: Nil).

AEBEYERN LASTSHIFEFTALX
N EERBWMAIRINAKREEE 2
RE AR 2 fE

RARBEA ANEERF, (FB)BIED
B AR 8] B 7% R % 2 E51849,453,000
77T (20134 : 42,563,000/ 7T) °

BERETEFHREEE2014F128318 1t
FET MRS (20134 : ) o
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Notes to the Financial Statements
R4 35 38 = P &

(a) Basic earning/(loss) per share (a) BEREXRA (FHHE)

The calculation of basic earning/(loss) per share is based BRERNER, (BE) HREAR G HE
on the profit attributable to owners of the Company of B AFEE% 710,420,000 7T (20134F :
HK$10,420,000 (2013: loss of HK$61,332,000) and the /&5 1861,332,0008 L) * A RFAE #F
weighted average number of 16,386,807,000 (2013: 7% AR 2 0¥ ¥ 15 £016,386,807,000
13,142,713,000) ordinary shares in issue during the year. A% (20134F : 13,142,713,0000%) 51 & -

(b) Diluted earning/(loss) per share (b) SREERH (FE)

The calculation of the diluted earning/(loss) per share RNArRIBEEARBEEREERR (G
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the 18) ThR A T 8ETE -

following data:

Profit/(loss) for the purposes of
basic earning/(loss) per share

Effect of dilutive potential
ordinary shares:
— Imputed interest on convertible
notes
— Amortisation of convertible
notes transaction costs
Less: interest capitalised as gas
exploration and
evaluation assets

Profit/(loss) for the purposes
of diluted earning/(loss) per share

2013
HK$’ 000
FETT
SAESREARER (EE) 2
wm A (E18) (61,332)
BEHBELTER 2 FE
— AR EE 2 EE A
— AR TR R B 2
B RARBDELTHEEZ
B AR F B
STEEREEREN(FE) 2
wmA, (E58) (61,332)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(b) Diluted earning/(loss) per share (Continued)

Weighted average number of FRNERITEBER
ordinary shares in issue DAEF g

during the year
Effect of dilutive potential BEEEL AR FE
ordinary shares:
— A] A% =%

— Convertible notes

AEEREEATN, (BE)

Weighted average number of

ordinary shares in issue ZERNBBITEBRRZ
during the year for the hnE 9 8

purposes of diluted
earning/(loss) per share

For the year ended 31 December 2014, the computation of
diluted earning per share does not assume the exercise of
the Company’s outstanding share options and warrants as
the exercise price of those share options and warrants is
higher than the average market price for shares.

For the year ended 31 December 2013, the computation
of diluted loss per share does not assume the conversion
of the Company’s outstanding share options, warrants and
convertible notes since their exercise would have an anti-
dilutive effect on the basic loss per share.

B35 3 R P 5

(b) SREFEERN (FHE) (&)
2013
'000
T

13,142,713

13,142,713

HE2014F12A31BLFE @ 5T EFK
BRI EREITERA R HARIT
FHERERRRESE  DERZEER
ERRABREEZTFEESRARMN2FES

HZE2013F 128318 IEFE ' st EFR
HEEEARTEREKERKNA R HARIT
HRERE RRESRITBREER T
HREBTEEHEREAEEEAERE

NA=A:
SEEE -
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Notes to the Financial Statements
R4 35 38 = P &

The Group determines its operating segments based on the
reports reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker that
are used to make strategic decisions.

The Group has two (2013: two) reportable segments.
The segments are managed separately as each business
offers different products and services and requires different
business strategies. The following summary describes the
operations in each of the Group’s reportable segments:

Oil and gas exploitation:  Exploitation and sale of crude oil
and natural gas

Coalbed methane: Exploration, development and

production of coalbed methane

There are no sales or trading transactions between the
business segments. Corporate revenue and expenses are
not allocated to the operating segments as they are not
included in the measurement of the segments’ used by
the chief operating decision-maker in the assessment of
segment performance.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B 35 8 = I &

(a) Business segments
Segment information about these businesses is set out as

(a) RBSEB
BRAZEXH 2 BEREIIMT

follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2014 HE20145F12A318ILEE
Oil and gas Coalbed
exploitation methane Unallocated Total
hidF
R ARFRF KER ROE @zt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET THERT TERT THET
Results EF
Revenue from external customers ~ RBEINAEE ZWA 16,540 - - 16,540
Segment results?& 7 8 S 0% (7,300) 51,614 (32,427) 11,887
Finance costs BMERAK (229) - (100) (329)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HENB QR K - - 1,714 1,714
Deposits and other receivables B & I H fth JE WOAR AT 8
written off - (3,642) - (3,642)
Share of loss of a joint venture EBiE—XReetEBE (628) - - (628)
Share of loss of an associate FEME—RE & AR E 1B - (283) = (283)
Profit/(loss) before income B PSR AT
tax expense w A, (E18) (8,157) 47,689 (30,813) 8,719
Income tax credit P13 TR 1,701 - - 1,701
Profit/(loss) for the year AEERHN/ (BE) (6,456) 47,689 (30,813) 10,420
Assets and liabilities BEREGE
Reportable segment assets AmEDHEED 734,579 3,868,464 96,136 4,699,179
Reportable segment liabilities™ AmREDHEED 20,644 434,270 190,276 645,190
Other segment information HipnHEHE
Depreciation and amortisation & R 5H 1,917 1,989 441 4,347
Capital expenditure incurred FREEZEASH
during the year 23 180,046 2,622 182,691
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Notes to the Financial Statements
R4 35 38 = P &

(a) Business segments (Continued)

Segment information about these businesses is set out as

follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2013

Results
Revenue from external customers

Segment results?&

Finance costs

Share of loss of a joint venture
Share of loss of an associate

(Loss)/profit before income
tax expense
Income tax expense

(Loss)/profit for the year

Assets and liabilities
Reportable segment assets'

Reportable segment liabilities™

Other segment information
Depreciation and amortisation

Capital expenditure incurred
during the year

E 3
REMREF ZWA

£ 8 R0
B A
Bi—RABLEFE
Bl — R B A ARE
B B 45 513 4 B
(B518) /5 F
R

RER (F18)/F

BEREMH
AHEDHEED

AHEDHEED

Hit3BEH
& e 5

FRELEZEATH

Annual Report 2014 ¢ Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited

Oil and gas
exploitation
Am A
AARFR
HK$’ 000
FHET
21,598
(10,075)

(25)
(232)

(10,332)
(2,820)

(13,152)

475176

28,992

2,222

1,375

(a) EHSE (&)

BRAZEXH 2 BEREIIMT

HE2013F12A31H L FE

Coalbed

methane  Unallocated
KER RHE
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FAT FAT
15,057 (62,614)
(623) -
14,434 (62,614)
14,434 (62,614)
3,787,872 12,351
648,609 150,561
1,752 365
295,550 66

Total

Bt
HK$’ 000
THET

(58,512)
(2,820)

(61,332)

4,275,399

828,162

4,339

296,991



Notes to the Financial Statements

(a) Business segments (Continued)
Notes:

(i) Unallocated results mainly include salaries, rental expense
and professional fees for Hong Kong head office and loss on

extinguishment of financial liabilities.

(i) Included in the segment result of coalbed methane segment
are revenue of HK$63,441,000 (2013: HK$38,899,000) from
the trial sales of coalbed methane generated from the Sanjiao
PSC and government subsidies of HK$6,757,000 (2013: Nil).

(i)  Unallocated assets mainly include cash and cash equivalents
and short term investment and unallocated liabilities mainly

include convertible notes and warrant liability.

(b) Geographical information and major
customers

The following table provides and analysis of the Group’s

revenue from an external customer and non-current assets

other than deposits paid, interest in a joint venture and

interest in an associate (“specified non-current assets”).

Hong Kong (place of domicile) BB (FEH)
The PRC H

During the year, revenues from the Group’s sole customer
were HK$16,540,000 (2013: HK$21,598,000), being 100%
(2013: 100%) of the Group’s total revenue from the oil and
gas exploitation segment.

B35 3 R P 5

(a) EHFE(R|)

EE

() FPEEMEEEHS B T¥
BRSEEANERMI KBTS
AEZEA -

iy 2014FHEEBRZHHBEXEERE
63,441,0007% 7T (20134 : 38,899,000
BIL) RER=ZREMRD KER ZHH
BEWA KBTI RLE6,757,0007 7T (2013
Fm) o

iy AOMEEFZREHRSLKAGEE
MARKEHRE AP EEEEER
BEBRREERRREZTEE

(b) BMEEHRETEEFR

TRUAEE KB INRETF 2 Wat KB
EffRE R-—FKeLELEs R MR
—RBERTZRBENIINZERBEE
(THEERRBEE]) EFTHMN -

2013 2013
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TET TAET
- 1,594
21,598 4,079,185
21,598 4,080,779

FRN REAXAEBRE-—FFPZ2W&=E R
16,540,000 7T (20134 : 21,598,000
BIL)  EAEERBMAARARES
B 25 4258 2 100% (20134F : 100%) °
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Notes to the Financial Statements

4 %5 3R = B &

The Group

Costs:

At 1 January 2013
Additions

Transfer

Exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2013

Additions

Disposal/Written off

Disposal of subsidiaries (note 39(a))
Exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2014

Annual Report 2014 ¢ Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited

BA:
R013F1A1A
FE

L5

BiaE

R2013512/331H

AE

/i
HENBAT (Hik3oa)
EXHE

20144127310

Leasehold Construction
improvements in progress

HE
hERE  ERIE
HKS 000 HK$' 000
iR iR
(note)
(B3t
3,778 22,755
- (119)
11 673
3,884 23,309
27 -
[2,770) -
@) -
(73) (673)
1,027 22,736

F%E

Oil and gas
properties

HRAE
HKS 000
TEL

258,234

7,660

265,894

(6,539)

269,356

Furniture,
fixtures
and office
equipment
i
BERER
HAERM
HKS' 000
TiEm

3,736
396

9

4,231
211

(670)
89)

3,783

Motor
vehicles

RE
HKS 000
TEL

10,160
1,305

(139)
211

11,587
1,588

(2,069
(165)

10,891

Total

i
HK$'000
A7

298,658
1,701
(256)
8,754

308,855
1,826
@,170)
(2,680)
(7,439)

207,792



Accumulated depreciation and
impairment:

At 1 January 2013

Charge for the year (note 9(c))

Written off

Exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2013

Charge for the year (note 9(c))
Written off

Disposal of subsidiaries (note 39(a))
Exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2014

Carrying amount:
At 31 December 2014

At 31 December 2013

RitfiERAE:

201351 A1E
ER i (o)
i

AR

20135127310
ER i (Fr3Eoe)
it

HEMBAR (FiH39a)
B A%

201412318

B :
R2014%12A31H

R2013%12A31H

Notes to the Financial Statements
B 35 8 = I &

Leasehold Construction

improvements in progress
il

HERE fRIR

HKS' 000 HK$'000

AL AL

(note)

(M)

1,032 -

649 -

41 -

1,722 -

648 -

(2,078) =

(34 -

(2r) -

231 -

796 22,736

2,162 23,309

Note: It represents oil and gas properties under construction as at

the end of the reporting period.

Oil and gas
properties

HRAE
HKS 000
TEL

61,201
917

1,829

64,007
694

(1,580)

63,121

196,234

201,887

Furniture,
fixtures
and office
equipment
i
BERER
HAERM
HKS' 000
TEm

1,486
285

33

1,804
683

(539)
(36)

1,871

2,421

Motor
vehicles

RE
HKS 000
TEL

5,002
1,605
(132)
&7

6,652
1,713

(2,069
(70)

6,286

4,605

4,885

Total

i
HK$'000
FA7

68,811
3516
(132)
1,990

74,185
3,798
079
2,642)
(1,719)

71,050

226,242

234,670

MiaE : EXRTRHMENHERE ZEZHR
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Notes to the Financial Statements
R4 35 38 = P &

The Group XEE
HK$’ 000
FAT

Cost: B :

At 1 January 2013 M2013F1 /18 3,272,934
Additions* = 168,608
Interest capitalised (note 9(a)) &AL F B (M 7E9(a)) 126,682
Exchange adjustments & N A& 34,251
At 31 December 2013 7R2013F12AH31H 3,602,475
Additions* = 103,851
Interest capitalised (note 9(a)) B AREH B (M 7E9(a)) 76,195
Exchange adjustments e A B (33,473)
At 31 December 2014 2014512 H31H 3,749,048

The amount included adjustment for an increase in provision
for environmental restoration and decommissioning costs of
HK$551,000 (2013: decrease in provision of HK$253,000)
(note 32).

The operations of Power Great Limited and its subsidiary
(“Power Great Group”) are governed by and based on the
Sanjiao PSC. Details of the Sanjiao PSC are set out in note
40.

As at 31 December 2014 and 2013, the major components
of gas exploration and evaluation assets were exploration
right, exploratory drilling and trenching costs. The directors
have assessed the gas exploration and evaluation assets for
impairment in accordance with the criteria under HKFRS 6
and by reference to the progress in the implementation of
the Sanjiao PSC during the year, and the valuation report
prepared by the Asset Appraisal Limited, an independent
firm of professional valuers, which possesses the relevant
professional qualifications and experience. The directors
concluded that there are no facts or circumstances which
may indicate that the carrying amount of gas exploration
and evaluation assets has exceeded the recoverable amount
as at the end of reporting period.

Annual Report 2014 ¢ Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited

* ZEHEBERERFEENELER
£ () 5 #5 38 H1551,0007% 7T (20134 :
B 48 7 4 253,0007% 7T) (Kt 3E32) 1E
ZHE -

BEARARLREMB LR ([FHESE
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The Group

Costs:
At 1 January 2013
Exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2013
Additions
Exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2014
Accumulated amortisation:

At 1 January 2013

Amortisation for the year (note 9(c))
Exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2013
Amortisation for the year (note 9(c))
Exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2014

Carrying amount:
At 31 December 2014

At 31 December 2013

Notes to the Financial Statements
B 35 8 = I &

B :
®2013F1A1H
R

R2013F12A31H
NE
b R

R2014%F12A31H
Rt
R2013%F1 A1H
AEEEHE (KF()
P A
R2013%F12A31H
AEZEH (K39()
[ B

R2014%12A31H

ARTE(E :
M2014F12A31H

R2013%F12A31H

xE
Motor vehicle
registration
license

RE

BiHE

HK$’ 000
FET

910

910
819

1,729

1,729

910

Operation
rights

2iER

HK$’ 000
THET

251,751

7,468

259,219

(6,375)

252,844

25,573
823
773

27,169
549
(672)

27,046

225,798

232,050

Total
st

HK$’ 000
THET

252,661

7,468

260,129
819
(6,375)

254,573

25,573
823
773

27,169
549
(672)

27,046

227,527

232,960
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Notes to the Financial Statements
R4 35 38 = P &

Operation rights

The Group’s operation rights represent the rights under two
(2013: two) development contracts and one (2013: one)
production sharing contract which give the Group the rights
to participate in the production of crude oil with details as

follows:
Qil fields Location
HE 2

1. Liuluoyu Oil Field
5% U ek

Shaanxi Province, the PRC
FEIBR TR A

2. Yanjiawan Qil Field
) 2K /& i A

Shaanxi Province, the PRC
REIBR A

3. Jinzhuang Qil Field Shaanxi Province, the PRC
& FE M A R A

The operation rights are initially recognised at their fair value
on the date of acquisition by reference to a professional
valuation prepared by Asset Appraisal Limited. Subsequent
to the reporting period, the operation rights are measured
using the cost mode.

Amortisation is provided to write off the cost of the
operation rights using the units of production method based
on the amount of proved and probable oil and gas reserves.
Amortisation is charged to “direct costs” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

The Group

As at 1 January M1A1H
Share of loss for the year FADIEEE
Dividend received BB

As at 31 December MW12A31H

The Group has a 50% (2013: 50%) interest in a joint
venture, Smart Win International Limited, a separate
structured vehicle incorporated in the British Virgin Island
(“BVI") and operating in Hong Kong. The primary activity of
Smart Win International Limited is investment holding.

The contractual arrangement provides the Group with only
the rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement, with
the rights to the assets and obligation for the liabilities
of the joint arrangement resting primarily with Smart
Win International Limited. Under HKFRS 11 this joint
arrangement is classified as a joint venture and has been
included in the consolidated financial statements using
the equity method. In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, this joint venture is not material to the Group,
and the summarised financial information in relation to the
joint venture is presented below:

Loss for the year FAEHIE
Other comprehensive income Hp 2w
Total comprehensive income B2 E W

B35 3 R P 5

FEE
2013
HK$’ 000
FH T

4,947
(232)
(3,500)

1,215

REEBREGECEINERHBER A AE
B50% (20134 : 50%) %  BE AR
KEABAHS MR THEBLE
EB 2 BUAEEE HEEBRERA
A EBEBRIREER -

EFEIEN MAGLTHEEHE
MEABZERIE2ERIESBERAR
DA RBEELWBHRSEANFI15
HZEERINEREELXAERER
EREAMBHRERAR ARAEER
BOBRAEELERHAKERETK M
BRAGELERZHMBERNMEZ25IMT ¢

BHTHHERASEIRRE A ELHE

\:

2013
HK$’ 000
TAET

(464)

(464)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B4 %5 3 | P 5

The Group

As at 1 January M1A1H
Share of loss for the year FADIEEE
As at 31 December M12H31H

Details of the Group’s associate are as follows:

Form of business
Name of company structure
AT EH EBRERL

LWEBRRERREER A Sino-foreign equity joint venture

PHRBLE

Place of

incorporation

LA

The PRC

R

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, this

associate is not material to the Group, and the financial

information in respect of the Group’s associate is set out

below:

Loss for the year FNEE
Other comprehensive income Hih2mE K
Total comprehensive income AT

130 Annual Report 2014 ¢ Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited

FEE

2013
HK$’ 000
TAET

63,354
(623)

62,731

BRASEBERRZFBHINMT :

Percentage of ordinary
shares indirectly held

EapREARES I

30%

ARAEERR &

TEIK SHEHAH

“EHWE

Principal activity

IREH

Development and
operation of a liquefied
natural gas plant
in the PRC to produce
liquefied coalbed
methane

R BEREREER
ARREIZ
DEERILEER

zB 2 N R EE
b = N B Y B A AROR

2013
HK$’ 000
TAET

(2,063)
(13)

(2,076)



Notes to the Financial Statements
B 35 8 = I &

The Company =AT

Unlisted equity investments, at cost ~ 3F F M AR E » #REKA
Less: impairment loss (note 22(b)) B R EE R (M FE22(b))

Amounts due from subsidiaries JE U BT B8~ R 5k IE (Bt 3E22(c))
(note 22(c))

(@) Details of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December (a)

2014 are listed below. The class of shares held is
ordinary unless stated otherwise.

2013
HK$’ 000
TAET

2,629,920
(81,143)

2,448,777

1,082,983

3,631,760

MR2014F12A31H T E W E R 7
ZHBUOT - BRRBHBEEIN AT
RO BER AL R -

Proportion of ownership interest

Place of Group’s
incorporation/ Particulars of issued effective
Name of the Company operation and paid up capital holding
AL/ 3 L)
ARER HE%y ERRMRERAHE ERRRE
Wiseley Investments Limited The BVI 100 orclinary shares of US$1.00 each 100%
BHRERRAA ABAAREE  10REREE100XT,EBR
Easy Sino Investments Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1.00 each 100%
SERERRAT B 1REREE 0BT EBR
Chuang Xin Management Services Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares of HK$1.00 each 100%
Limited Bt PRERAE 0T L ERR
ANERREARAA
Genesis International Petroleum & The BVI 100 ordinary shares of USS1.00 each 0%
Chemicals Co., Ltd. (‘GIPC") ABEARRE 100RSREEI 0T ERR

BFER BB TERAR (ARER])

BRREM

Held by the
Company
B
ARHE

100%

100%

100%

70%

Held by a
subsidiary
H-%M
BATRE

Principal activities
TEER

Investment holaing

RESK

Provision of administrative
serices to group companies

AEALRRATRRE

Provision of management
serices to group companies

ARELRREEERE

Inactive
gaby
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(@) (Continued)

Name of the Company Notes

PEEL

=
B

Elite Ascend Holdings Limited
REERERAT

Grand Rise Development Limited
EEERARAR

Key Wisdom Investments Limited

BRRERRAR

Power Great Limited
HEERAT

Superb China Limited
FEERAT

Key Well Development Limited
HEERARAR

Bi Tuo Yuan Technology ()
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd
BRREHR (R BRAA

Qrion Energy International Inc.
R RERARAR

Xian Hong Chang Co,. Inc. ()
BREERAREREERAR

Trillion International Petroleum
Extraction Technology Ltd
HEERRRRRRIERAR

Place of
incorporation/
operation
A/
20

The BVI
RELBRES

Hong Kong
Bk

The BUI
RERERES

The Cayman lslands

RERS

The BVI
RERERES

Hong Kong
Bk

The PRC
bE

The Cayman lslands

RERE

The PRC
1

Hong Kong
i
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Particulars of issued
and paid up capital

ERTRARRAER

690 ordinary shares of US$1.00 each
600 S RAE1.00% 2 Sk

100 ordinary shares of HKS1,00 each
1005 RAE! 0%, SRk

100 ordinary shares of US$1.00 each
100k ERAE 0% SRk

1 ordinary share of US$1.00 each
1REREE £ £BR

100 ordinary shares of USS1.00 each
100RBHRAE! 0% EBR

100 ordinary shares of HKS1,00 each
1005 ERAE! 0%, SRk

Registered capital RMB500,000
MR AR $500,0007C

100,000,000 ordinary shares
of US30.001 each
100,000,000 5 R & E0.001% 7T
LERR

Registered capital RMB51,700,000
iR AR#51,700,0007

1 ordinary share of HK$1,00 each
1RERERE 0BT EAR

Annual Report 2014 ¢ Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited

(a) (#&)
Proportion of ownership interest
WEREM
Group's
effective Held bythe  Held by a
holding  Company subsidiary
k58 B BE-XK
ERRRE AGRE EATRA
100% 100% =
100% 100% =
100% 100% =
100% 100% =
100% 100% =
100% = 100%
100% = 100%
100% - 100%
100% - 100%
100% - 100%

Principal activities
TERR

Investment holding

BEER

Investment holding

RERK

Investment holding

RERK

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding

RERK

Investment holding

RERK

Participation in ofl and
gas projects
SERREE

Exploration, development and
production of coalbed methane

Yk RENLERER

Participation in oil and gas projects
SEHRAR

Investment holding
REER



Notes to the Financial Statements
B 35 8 = I &

(@) (Continued)

Place of
incorporation/ Particulars of issued
Name of the Company Notes  operation and paid up capital
R/
LagR i R ERTRYRRAHE
Xian Lilong Petroleum Extraction ) ThePRC Registered capital HK$50,000,000
Technology Limited hE £ 550,000,000% 7
BRNERBRRRTERAA
Pipeling Interational Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HKS1,00
BRERERAR & 1REREE 0BT LR
Metro Standard Limited (i) Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1.00
EHERAR 3 1RERAE100BL L EBR
Ultraway International Limited i) Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1.00
BRARERAT 3 1REREE100BT L & Bk
S0G Energy Inc. (i) Canada 1 ordinary share of CAD1.00 each
mex 1REREE1.0MT 2 EBR
Sino Executive Limited (il TheBWI 100 ordinary share of US§1.00
AREARNS  1ORBREEI XTI EAR
Total Orient Global Limited il TheBVI 100 ordinary share of US$1.00
ABERRER  100RBRAEI.0FTLERR
Notes:
(i) Registered under the laws of the PRC as a wholly-owned

foreign enterprise

(if) Incorporated in 2014

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at
the end of the year.

(b) Impairment on investments in subsidiaries
There were no movements in the provision for impairment
loss during the year. The impairment loss on investments in
subsidiaries was made by the directors by reference to the
net assets of the subsidiaries and their ability to generate
sufficient future economic benefits as evidence by the
internal reporting of their economic performance.

(a) (#&)
Proportion of ownership interest
fEgEM
Group’s
effective Heldbythe Heldbya
holding  Company subsidiary
k58 BE XM

ERRRE A3RF ELIRE
100% - 100%
100% - 100%
100% - 100%

100% 100% =

100% = 100%

100% 100% =

100% 100% =

Principal activities
TERE

Participation in oil and gas projects
SERRAR

Investment holding
RAH

Investment holding

RERR

Investment holding

Participation in oil and gas projects
BERRER

Investment holding

RERK

Investment holding

REER

() REFEZZEL/INEBELE

@iy  P2014FFFMAK L

RER BENB QR BTEMERR

A o

(b) MMBASZIRERE
RAEER  REBBRRELEZLE -
RMBARIZIREREBRITRAESZ
ZMBRABAIZEEFERERKREESR
BN as 2 88 N (PAKS &8 2 =) A 55 e
EZEBREARR) ML
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(c) Amounts due from subsidiaries
An analysis of the amounts due from subsidiaries is listed

below:

JE UK B BB A B 5K I8
Less: impairment loss B OREEE

Due from subsidiaries

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-
free and in substance represent the Company’s investments
in the subsidiaries.

The movements in the provision for impairment loss during
the year were as follows:

At 1 January M1A1H
Additional provision BN AR
At 31 December M12H31H

Impairment loss on amounts due from subsidiaries are
made by the directors by reference to the net assets of the
subsidiaries, ability to generate sufficient future economic
benefits and evidence from internal reporting that indicate
the economic performance of the subsidiaries.

Annual Report 2014 ¢ Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited

(c) FEWHE 2 STRIE
FEUH B RRRBZANMT :

2013
HK$’ 000
TAET

1,474,366
(391,383)

1,082,983

ERMBARFBEREER 28 &
B EEARRRHBRARELE ZRE -

FAREBRRBIESWT :

2013
HK$’ 000
TET

369,343
22,040

391,383

EWBRRIRBCREBRIIHES

SEMBRARICEERE RARRELER
REGENEGE 2N RBERHBREZE
BERBEZ AR EBBEMIES



Notes to the Financial Statements

The non-controlling interest of GIPC which is 70% owned
by the Group is considered to be immaterial.

The Group

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group
advances a loan to an independent third party of
HK$3,670,000. The loan is secured by certain motor
vehicles and equipment, interest bearing at 8% per annum
and repayable within 5 years.

The loan receivables are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position as follows:

Current assets MEEE
Non-current assets ERBEE
The Group

Spare parts, consumables and others & + FEM K H

B35 3 R P 5

AEBEHEFTOREE 2 BIFBEIER 2 I
R RA /AL TEK -

AEE

HE2014F12A31AILFE - AEEM
— & B E =R HE %8,670,000%8
T ZERUE T RERZBIEER
FHE A% - WHRSFRNEE -

R EFRNEEBEIRARENNMT

2013
HK$’ 000
TAET

x5EE

2013
HK$’ 000
TAET

21,349

PEARZERABRDAF ¢ 2014 F 1]
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31 December 2014 1A2014F12 31 H

26. TRADE, NOTES AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS

26. FEYGRRRX ~ FEM 4R - HhFE
WERF - IRE&RFEMFRRIB

The Group The Company
AEH AAT
2014 2013 2014 2013

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
F#ETT FET Fi#T FHET

Non-current assets EMBEE
Deposits and prepayments e RIEMRIE
(note (i) (B REG))

Current assets MENEE
Trade receivables JE Y BR 51
Notes receivable e R %

Other receivables (note (i) H b B IR BR 3R
(B 5 Gi))

Utility deposits KERE

Other deposits and prepayments E x4 & 38 718
(note (iii)) (B =% Gii))

Annual Report 2014 ¢ Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited

19,240 20,402 - _
4,811 5,046 - _
3,123 - - _

14,997 61,387 164 373
22,931 66,433 164 373
887 502 - _

271,804 7,294 269 201

272,691 7,796 269 201

295,622 74,229 433 574
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Notes:

(i

(i)

The balance includes a guarantee deposit of HK$9,489,000
(2013: HK$9,728,000) paid to secure the Group’s borrowings
as set out in note 33(ii) and prepaid exploration costs of
HK$9,751,000 (2013: HK$10,674,000) on the Group’s gas

evaluation and exploration assets.

As at 31 December 2014, the balance included consideration
receivables of HK$600,000 (2013: nil) on the disposal of a
subsidiary, Genesis Energy (Hong Kong) Limited (“GEHK”) as

set out in note 39(a).

The balance includes deposit of HK$267,588,000 (2013:
nil) paid for possible acquisitions of Canada oil fields as
disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 30 June
2014 and 1 September 2014 respectively. On 30 June 2014,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company has entered
into first non-legally binding memorandum of understanding
(“MOU 1”) with Jade Million Co Ltd, (the “Vendor”) in relation
to a possible acquisition of the interests of certain oil and gas
blocks in Canada (“Target 1”). According to the MOU 1, the
Group paid a refundable deposit of Canadian Dollars (“CAD”)
30 million which is interest-free to the Vendor in July 2014.
On 1 September 2014, the Group has entered into another
memorandum of understanding (“MOU 2”) with Vendor and
paying a refundable deposit of CAD 10 million which is
interest bearing at 4.5% per annum in relation to a possible
acquisition of the interests of certain oil and gas blocks (other
than Target 1) in Canada (“Target 2”). In both MOU 1 and
MOU 2, the Vendor has pledged the interests of Target 1 and
Target 2 to the Group as return. Up to the date of this report,
the Group is still performing the due diligence review, and the
valid dates of MOU 1 and MOU 2 are up to 30 June 2015
and 30 April 2015 respectively.

(i)

(i)

B35 3 R P 5

BARBIEHN K A3 ARERAEE
3K 2 (R 75 49,489,000/ 7T (20134 :
9,728,0005% 7t) K ¥ A % B X R R #
PR & E 2 RN R ZR9,751,000
# (20134 : 10,674,000/ 7T) °

2014128318 » 2 X B & H &K
TH39(a)FTE z — R KT B A Al — 8l 1 ge
R(BEHB)BRAR ([BIFEER]) 2 &
1 R fB600,00078 7T (20134F « £&) o

B 308 ¥E 1 £267,588,000/% 7T (2013
F:|) RARA DRI R201456 A
308 %201459A1H Q1% 5T 2 7] &
WEEME KmAZIRE - R2014F6 A
30H * AR R Z2EANE A A B Blade
Million Co Ltd ([EH 1) fI 8 —H
BXRRANRN 2 RBESE ([FRERE
81 REBBEARENE e KA
FaBEELR([BZ1]) 2% - BIRR
BETHE - NEBBEN2014F78 X
6 B 2 A] R 18 1% £30,000,00040 7T °
R201459A18 - REEE B E 5T
B —HHmEE TS ([RERE %
2]) AARBRBEATRE M E e KE Tl
M=k ([BF2]  BE1ANEIR) 2
B WX IREF45% B2 AR
#E 12 £10,000,00000 7T » % B 21 & B
ZEoms - BHEKBIZEIRBIZ2ZH#
R TFTAEEEALBR BHEAR
EAH AEEMEETRBRES W
HEESHIRRBERZ A RA
5 B AE E201596 4308 %20154
48300 IE -
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The ageing analysis of trade receivables based on invoice
date at the end of reporting period is as follows:

30 days 30K

31 - 60 days 31E60K
61 — 90 days 61290K
Over 90 days EQNCIFN

The average credit period granted to customers is 0-30
days from the invoice date.

All trade receivables are less than 180 days past due,
not impaired and related to one customer which has a
good track record with the Company. Based on the past
experience, management estimated that the carrying
amount will be fully recovered.

The Group recognised impairment loss on individual
assessment based on the accounting policy stated in note

4(j)(ii).

Annual Report 2014 ¢ Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited

LB 254 35 45 HRR A5 R B 2 B B AR
mF -

2013
HK$’ 000
TAET

5,046

5,046

SBEGRFPHNTFIEEHRFMEBE0-30
9{ o

P MM BR R R B B 1R 180K A M B 10
E—FPF ARREZTFARINE
FKaodk o BORBERE - REAELR -
EEEGAERES RS 2BRE -

N BB EH 4G () 2 @5t s
BEMERFHERRERRE -
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Short-term investment EHRE

On 10 July 2014, the Group entered into a subscription
agreement with a PRC company (“Investee”), an
independent third party, to acquire bonds with term of 15
months, bearing interest at 8.5% per annum amounted
to RMB64,300,000. The bonds are guaranteed by an
Investee’s related company.

Bank deposits pledged against
certain bank loans (note 33(ii))
and performance bonds
(note 44)

ERZRITFER

Pledged bank deposits were denominated in United States
dollars (“USD”), earned interest at fixed rate ranged from
0.025% to 1.2% per annum. The deposits were matured
in August 2014. The directors considered that the carrying
amounts of these bank deposits approximate their fair
values because of their short maturity period on inception.

& TR 17E 7 (B 7E33(i))
FEHRES (Hitd4)

B35 3 R P 5

2013
HK$’ 000
TAET

M2014F7H108 - RE B R BB E
zﬁﬂﬁ—?ﬁﬂhlﬂﬂ(r%&&ﬁﬁnﬂj
R = R A K #64,300,0007T
z%,HHmIHZ%%% C FBEAB8E% 7%
EEHFBWIRE T 2 —H@EERRIEE
R o

2013
HK$’ 000
TET

7,832

BEBIRITFRUAETLFE  LIENMR
0.025%%1. 2%2lm$ﬂﬂﬁ’xfru% °
BRITFZN2014F8ARH - EFR
ARZERITES EAﬁ)\w%'&B;ﬁﬁ
HitEEs FmEREQAFERSE
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31 December 2014 1A2014F12H31H

29. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2. & RINSZEEY
The Group The Company
AEE AATH
2014 2013 2014 2013

HK$°000  HK$'000 HK$000  HK$’ 000
FET FTAET FET TAET

Cash and bank balances, TS BB EL
denominated in e RIRITHEER
— HKD and USD —BLTRET 8,693 8,932 75 311
— Renminbi (“BRMB”) —AR® 7,086 8,588 - -
- CAD — i 3,661 = - =
- Others —E A 15 16 - =
19,455 17,536 75 311
Cash and cash equivalents of HK$7,086,000 (equivalent 7,086,0007 7t (FHE M A R #5,669,000
to RMB5,669,000) (2013: HK$8,588,000 (equivalent to 7t) (20134 : 8,588,000/ 7t (FAE R A
RMB6,682,000) were denominated in RMB. RMB is not a R %6,682,0007T)) 2 REe KA & EE
freely convertible currency and the remittance of funds out PAARBEE ARBTIEBHREBR
of the PRC is subject to exchange restrictions imposed by B R EELESAIPEBNZ
the PRC Government. HNEE I TR PR o
30. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 30. HiEFMRIERTEREH
The Group The Company
AEE AAT
2014 2013 2014 2013
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$’000
TFHET T T FHETT FHT
Current liabilities mENBE
Other payables and accruals Hbh A RER
(note (7)) R E A (BaEa) 135,680 184,213 2,393 2,218
Amounts due to shareholders JE 1 AR SR 5K IE
(note (ii)) (B 5%Gi)) 24,350 15,355 24,350 =

160,030 199,568 26,743 2,218

140 Annual Report 2014 e Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited



Notes to the Financial Statements

Notes:

(i)

(ii

Other payables include exploration costs payable of
approximately HK$104,328,000 (2013: HK$149,955,000) in
respect of gas exploration and evaluation assets and oil and

gas properties.

As at 31 December 2014, the amount represented a loan
from a shareholder denominated in CAD of HK$24,350,000.
The loan was unsecured, interest free and repayable on
demand. The amounts as at 31 December 2013 included
a loan denominated in RMB of HK$3,842,000 from a
shareholder. The loan was unsecured, bearing interest at
8% per annum and was settled in January 2014. Another
loan from a shareholder amounted to HK$7,500,000
was guaranteed by two of the directors of the Company,
unsecured, bearing interest at 8% per annum and was settled
in February 2014. The remaining balance was unsecured,

interest free and repayable on demand.

GhE

(i)

(i)

B35 3 R P 5

HihENREREEBHIHTR
THEEURBREEZEMN ST
B AN #9104,328,0007% 7T (20134 :
149,955,000/ 7T) °

E Z=2014F 128318 « EfF KR ERKE
AL DN EHE 224,350,000/ TTE 3K ©
ZERAEER RERARERAD
B B8 - 8 £2013F 128318 « EfS
REFRBEEERE—EBRR 22—
AR 5118 ,23,842,000% ;L B X © #%
ERREER . RFR8%TLERER
2014F1ABE - S—ZEREBHRAE
7,500,000 7T AR Al Z MALE S
RHEER REER  RFLE8%T A
R ER2014F2REE - A A KK
A 2B RBRERBBER -
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The Group and the Company

On 17 March 2014, the Company entered into a facility
agreement with a wholly-owned subsidiary of China Orient
Asset Management Corporation (the “Lender”) to obtain
a facility of HK$100,000,000 with interest rate of 8% per
annum and to issue the warrant (“Warrants”) with the right
to subscribe the shares of the Company at a nominal
amount of HK$50,000,000 at an initial subscription price
of HK$0.2714 per share. The expiry date of the facility and
Warrants is 24 March 2015. The Company shall pay the
Lender an additional fee not exceeding HK$750,000 for any
unexercised subscription rights of the Warrants on the date
of expiry of the warrant. The loan was fully repaid on 31 July
2014.

The fair value of the Warrants was determined at the date of
issuance, and measured based on binomial option pricing
model. The residual amount, representing the value of the
loan which measured at amortised cost. The Company
classified this Warrants as financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss and recognised according to the
accounting policy in note 4(j)(iii).

As at 31 December 2014, the Warrants have neither been
exercised nor transferred.

Annual Report 2014 ¢ Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited

FREREAT
M201463A17H - R AR EAEERE TS
BEEBEAAN—M2EMBARA(E
F) RIS E R % 0 A EEF F E8%
2 B3 A100,000,0005 7T © M 3T A &
BRO2T14B T Z VA RBERBEAR
7 150,000,000 7T i 19 2 78 B% 4 &
([REF]) EXRRREE2ER
B 81 520153 H24H - AN Q A B ©
REEEEmEBARTEZRREE 2
REEREH T HiB750,000% 7T
REEINE A - B3R MK2014F7H831H &
HEE -

RREZB 22 ATFEREBTABEE I
BE_EXAREEELGE - 8581
RBEKANEZERER - X2FH
ZRBEESBEARAFEREBZEYE
2B AR - WARRM FEAG) i) 2 5T

R2014512 8318 @ B EE I EET
ek iEE o



Notes to the Financial Statements

Balance at 1 January W1B1 8 28
Provision for environmental
restoration and
decommissioning costs
Exchange adjustments N A
128318 2 & &

Balance at 31 December

The provision for environmental restoration and
decommissioning costs for 2014 and 2013 represented
directors’ estimated assets retirement obligations relating to
the Sanjiao PSC as set out in note 40(j).

Secured interest-bearing borrowings A I B E &
RERF—FRNER
HMiE—F BTBAME

On demand or within one year

More than one year, but not
exceeding two years

More than two years, but not BEMF BETNEBAF

exceeding five years

Amount due within one year included %I A &) & (& — & A 3| £
in current liabilities 2 H

FERE B D

Non-current portion

REBERELERE ZEE

B35 3 R P 5

2013
HK$’ 000
TH&T
971
(253)

29

747

2014F R2013FIRIBIEERFILEFEFRE
CEBREBEE=SERD KA R (FAK
F40(0) B ER B EEZBE®ME -

2013
HK$’ 000
TAET
145,932
128,080
208,130
482,142

(145,932)

336,210

TEBARERAERAD T ¢ 2014 £ 3R] 143



144

Notes to the Financial Statements
R4 35 38 = P &

As at 31 December 2014, the Group obtained borrowings

from one (2013: two) party as follows:

(if)

On 19 September 2011, Orion Energy International
Inc. (“OEl”), an indirect wholly owned subsidiary
of the Group, entered into a financing agreement
(“Agreement 1”) with Minsheng Financial Leasing
Co., Ltd (RE:@EERHBR AR (“Minsheng”),
an independent third party, pursuant to which
Minsheng advanced RMB50,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$61,596,000) under certain conditions to OEl to be
repaid by instalment over three years. In the opinion
of the directors, the financing arrangement was in
substance a secured borrowing. As at 31 December
2013, this borrowing was secured by certain gas
exploration and evaluation assets of OEl with a
carrying amount of HK$60,108,000 (note 18) and a
personal guarantee from the Company’s shareholders,
Mr. Dai Xiaobing and Mr. King Hap Lee who were also
directors of the Company. The borrowing was fully
repaid in October 2014.

On 23 December 2011, OEIl entered into another
financing agreement (“Agreement 2”) with CDB Leasing
Co., Ltd (El#RemEEAFRAR]) (“CDB Leasing”),
an independent third party, pursuant to which CDB
Leasing granted a facility of RMB1,000,000,000 to OEl
to be repaid by instalment over five years, of which
RMB200,000,000 was to finance the exploration
phase and RMB800,000,000 to be drawn after
obtaining the approval of the Overall Development
Plan (“ODP”) in respect of the Sanjiao PSC. In 2012, a
revised agreement was signed between OEIl and CDB
Leasing, pursuant to which OEl can draw loans to
the extent of RMB400,000,000 and RMB600,000,000
during exploration stage and production stage of
the Sanjiao PSC respectively. As at 31 December
2014, loans due to CDB Leasing, net of repayment,
amounted to RMB250,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$312,325,000) (2013: RMB350,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$448,280,000)).
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HE2014F12A31BILEER » KEE
DRE—F (2013F : MF) 2B EFE
U

(i)

(i

20115F9A19R "B v 2 &
BAA-BRnhxeEREEBRA
Al ([BEmz]) BBYE=TR4E
cREEROMERAR (RAED
FIUBmERE ((HmE—D @ &t
R 4 M B35 % 78 1950,000,000 A &
# (#0 % 161,596,000%8 J0) * 3%
REBR=FHoHEEA AL
ETHRE -EZERAE ZRERH
ERELERBEEREBE 2 — &
F2013F12A31B FE A, LA &
EZERGBEERELZEERER
60,108,000/ 7t (ff5E18) © & F
AARMHERTHEE  UARAR
AIRERE N ELERSRFILEE (R
URABRRABES) REZEAAE
RWMIEMEEER2014F108 2

iR -

1

20114 12H230 @ Big L HE 7
FZHEBEEHMAEERAF ([H
FEMAE DT LS —EHREHE
(=) r BLEBERHEER
B Ik % 2 4 A K #1,000,000,000
TZBME ZREBERFEDH
B&E EF AR%200,000,000
TERARBMERE M ARK
800,000,000 T B4 & &= st B B = 2
ERoKERZBEBAZSTRILE
%77 ATHREN » 1A20124F » BinZc il
HiRemBAEET —HEETH
B RMER=REMH K
AR FEREER R EERET S5
& % R E 5 A K #400,000,000
T & AR #600,000,0005T ° B
2014412 A31H » Bix % K H R
cREEZERBRE (MkAe
BN 1&) B AR ®250,000,0007T
(#8 % 1312,325,000% 75) (2013
F : AR #350,000,0007T (FHEH
448,280,000/87C)) °
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Continued)

The facility is secured by certain gas exploration
and evaluation assets with a carrying amount of
HK$593,571,000 (2013: HK$615,917,000) (note
18), a guarantee deposit of HK$9,489,000 (2013:
HK$9,728,000) (note 26(i)), all accounts receivable
from sales generated from the Sanjiao PSC, all the
shares of OEl held by Power Great Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, 2,296,000,000
shares of the Company held by certain directors and
shareholders of the Company, personal guarantees
of Dr. Dai Xiaobing and his spouse and a corporate
guarantee by the Company.

In the opinion of the directors, the financing
arrangement is in substance a secured borrowing.

During 2012, the Group entered into a loan agreement
(“Agreement 3”) with Bank of Beijing for loan facilities
of RMB1,069,000 (equivalent to HK$1,330,000). The
loans were fully repaid in 2013.

The borrowings under Agreement 1 and Agreement 2 carry

interest at effective floating rates ranging from 8.5% to
11.7% (2013: 8.9% to 11.7%) during the year.

(i)

(i)

B35 3 R P 5

(&)
ZREZEARAREEEREE
£593,571,000/ 7t (2013 :
615,917,0008 L) <A T X
ARBDERTIHEE (K
18) * 9,489,000/ jr (20134 :
9,728,000 7T) 2 ERIE S (M #E
26())  =RBERABE=XEmH
ReREELEZEHEERKER
BERBERAA (ARRZ2EN B
RANRFBZAHERREZRG - B
FNEERARABRERBZAR
7]2,296,000,000/% f% 17 ~ & /)N &
EERERBRHEZBEAZR KU
EARRARRME 2 A a R -

E=ZAR/ ULBELTHEARE L
BEREEMEEZ— -

20125 - A& B #E L 7R 1T
AR ¥1,069,000T (HE R
1,330,000 7)) < ERBEFLE
FE(BE=D - ZEERE
R2013FE 2 FEE -

KEARN HE—EHhm_—_mETNZEE
AR B  EEBRZHFENNELE%E
11.7% (20134 : 8.9% & 11.7%) Z [ °
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The convertible notes recognised in the statement of R BRRRERZ T RREERFE W
financial position are calculated as follows: T~

The Group and the Company
FRERFAT

2014 2013
Liability Equity Liability Equity
component component component  component
BEBy HEBY BEHH EaHH
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
THERT TERT FET FET

At 1 January W1 A1H 134,920 15,913 - -
Face value of convertible notes M2013F4 268 %47

issued on 26 April 2013 I HrE4%1E 2

after 4% discount ARREREE - - 231,510 32,490
Transaction costs on issue BITZR A - = (8,432) (1,194)
Conversion of convertible notes BRABRER - - (109,617) (15,383)
Amortisation of transaction costs RGN 2 #

(note 9(a)) (PHEE9(a)) 2,811 - 1,874 -
Imputed interest expense FES M E X

(note 9(a)) (BF9(a)) 26,690 - 21,775 -
Interest paid BAFIE (3,671) - (2,190) =
At 31 December W12A318 160,750 15,913 134,920 15,913
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Notes to the Financial Statements

The Company issued convertible notes in an aggregate
principal amount of HK$275,000,000 with a 4% discount
and a 2% coupon rate on 26 April 2013. The convertible
notes was denominated in Hong Kong dollars and will
mature in three years from the issue date. The notes can
be converted into ordinary shares of the Company at the
holder’s option at the rate of HK$0.167 per share.

The fair values of the liability component and the equity
conversion component were determined at the date of
issue of the convertible notes. The fair value of the liability
component, included as non-current financial liabilities, was
calculated using the market interest rate for an equivalent
non-convertible notes. The residual amount, representing
the value of the equity conversion component, was included
in equity, net of deferred income taxes, where applicable.

Imputed interest expense on the convertible notes was
charged at the rate of 18.67% calculated using the effective
interest method.

B35 3 R P 5

AN EFR2013F4 A26 B LAA%HT 8 31T
K & %3 5275,000,0008 T EE B K 5
2% AT IR - AR EER A TR
B - BETHAEFT=FANIH FE
AREFAE A ZRIZENTR0167E T
ZERERAARRNAZ EBERARE -

BESBOLEEEBRE S 2 XFETIR
BOTRHEE ABEMO R FEER
FRBYMBEEAR  UEARSETA
BREBR TS RGTE - REEED
By 2 EBE HREEHRFHR (W0
A BT ARZRA

AR 2 TS DR E R
FI%18.67%(8 AEBFI LKL -
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B4 %5 3 | P 5

Details of the deferred tax assets and (liabilities) recognised
and movements during the year were as follows:

At 1 January 2013

(Charged)/credited to
profit or loss (note 10)

Exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2013

(Charged)/credited to
profit or loss (note 10)

Exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2014

Accelerated
tax depreciation

IEBIE

&

HK$’ 000

FE T

M2013F1A1H (18,177)
(HBR) FFABZEER

(FF=E10) (6,713)

BE 5 3 2 (644)

M2013%F12A831H (25,534)
(HBR) FTABZEER

(FF5E10) (5,694)

PE 5 38 B 672

MR2014%12A831H (30,556)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is
a legally enforceable right to set off when the deferred tax
related to same fiscal authority. The following net amounts
determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Deferred tax liabilities
Deferred tax assets

EXEHBARAR
EXEHRBAEE

Annual Report 2014 ¢ Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited

FAERZECEHRBEEENR (BAE) 2+

BRESHMT -
The Group
XEE

Intangible Tax
assets losses
BEEE BiEEBE
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FAET AT
(6,605) 19,433
65 3,828
(195) 637
(6,735) 23,898
50 7,345
165 (644)
(6,520) 30,599

Total
et
HK$’ 000
THET

(5,349)

(2,820)
(202)

(8,371)

1,701
193

(6,477)

ERERBEEENABRABEZRHIH
TTREFEHEASELEH IB R R —HHH
AT HeEhEE -UTREREY
BARAARBIEEEREET S RFE -

2013
HK$’ 000
TAET

(32,269)
23,898

(8,371)



Notes to the Financial Statements

(@) The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
employees under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a
defined contribution retirement plan administered by
independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, both
the employer and each employee are required to make
contributions to the plan at 5% of the employee’s
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant
income of HK$30,000 (2013: HK$25,000) by each
party. Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

(b)  Pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations in
the PRC, the Group participates in defined contribution
retirement benefit schemes (the “Schemes”) organised
by the relevant local government authorities, whereby
the Group is required to make contributions to the
Schemes at a rate ranging from 21% to 30% (2013:
21% to 30%) of the eligible employees’ salaries.
The local government authorities are responsible for
the entire pension obligations payable to the retired
employees. The obligations are calculated based on a
certain percentage of the basic payroll.

The Company operates a share option scheme which
was adopted on 28 May 2010 (“scheme”) for a period of
ten years commencing from 28 May 2010 whereby the
directors of the Company are authorised, at their discretion,
to invite employees of the Group, including directors of any
companies within the Group, to take up options to subscribe
for shares of the Company. The terms and conditions of the
grant are determined by the Board at the time of grant. The
exercisable period of an option is not to exceed a period
of ten years commencing the date the share options be
granted. The options give the holder the right to subscribe
for ordinary shares in the Company. A nominal consideration
of HK$1 is payable by the grantee upon acceptance of an
option. Options would be forfeited should the employee
leave the Group. All the existing share options were granted
under the scheme.

B35 3 R P 5

@ AEBEREFEAGMELAEST
ZER - AREBEESERBEIZE
ZRERTHRHEATESE (M8
BerrEll) - RESFHEIHB
VEFEABEZATEH/KEKRE
- RiERESHE BERER
EZABEEEZEBKRAZSY%

EHEER T B ABRBEKAMN

30,000/ 7T (20134 : 25,000/ 7T)

B LR o mat8IE L 2 R ENES 57

BEFA -

—

(o) WREPEEELEBRAIKER &K
SEH2HBEHREHRTKEEE
B RERFEARBAE ([
FErE)) c Bt AEEEREE
BEEBNFSRAZSFTEELN T
21%Z%30% (20134 : 21%Z%E30% )
B R o EHBUT R B H TR
KEEZEHRRSETEE - #Z
EEADBRBERTF S 2EEATS
LbET&E o

AN AR H2010F5 A28 H 4y — 18 BB i
& ([5H81)) - B2010F5528H #E
FTREIOFE - Bt - AAREZERE
MERAEEEES (BEASBE TR
BRAAIZER) BREERE UREBEX
RNAIRD - BHZBERAREGRESS
REEREE BEREZA TITEHD
SHRBEEKRER D B BE10F - B
IR T 15 8 AREARIE AR R E AR o
ERERE AR EZENBRERS &
IHERBAREBIB T - HEBBEHRAN
£E ALK EAERE -REZFH
EERETDREBEIEY -
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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(@) The terms and conditions of the share options that
existed during the year ended 31 December 2014
were as follows and all options are settled by physical
delivery of shares:

(a) UTA#HZE2014F12A318 IEF
BT EIRE 2 AR B AGH - BT
EERENEBRERRIMROLEE

Contractual Contractual
Vesting exercise  Number of life of
Date of grant condition Exercise period price options options
ke
RHBaH GEHH AR BTEE BREXE BHEY
"000
T
Options granted to directors:
RrESZRRE:
- on 6 December 2011 Immediately 6 December 2011 to 5 December 2021 HK$0.276 117,000 10 years
—-R2011%F12A6H ks 2011E12A6A E2021F12A50 0.27678 7T 106
Option granted to employees:
RYESZHERE:
- on 6 December 2011 Immediately 6 December 2011 to 5 December 2021 HK$0.276 338,700 10 years
—R2011512A68 Anes 201151260 £2021F12A5H 0.276% T 105
Total share options
BRESH 455,700
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31 December 2014 1201412 H31H

37. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) The number and weighted exercise prices of share
options are as follows:

37. REAGRLIRB M2 5

(%)

(b) MBREZEE RMETEENT

2014 2013
Weighted Weighted
average Number average Number
exercise of share exercise of share
price options price options
I g
TEE mRBRENE I7RE EREHE
HK$ 000 HKS$ 000
B T4 BT R
Outstanding at beginning REFHEARITE
of the year 0.276 563,200 0.276 563,200
Lapsed during the year FR KK 0.276 (107,500) = =
Outstanding at the end RERERITR
of the year 0.276 455,700 0.276 563,200
Exercisable at the end RERA] FITR
of the year 0.276 455,700

The options outstanding at 31 December 2014 had exercise
prices of HK$0.276 (2013: HK$0.276) and a weighted
average remaining contractual life of 6.93 years (2013: 7.93
years).

0.276 563,200

R2014F128318 + W ARITEBREZ
1TfE {8 50.276% 7 (20134 : 0.2767
JT)  MINHEFE R T & 4 F 5 R6.93
& (20134 : 7.93%F) °

FEHRERERD A 2014 F]H
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(@) Share capital

Notes to the Financial Statements
R4 35 38 = P &

(i) Authorised and issued share capital

Authorised
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each

Issued and fully paid

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each

At beginning of the year
Shares issued on placing (ii)
Shares issued on conversion
of convertible notes (i)
Shares issued to extinguish
financial liabilities (iv)

At end of the year

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to
one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary
shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual

assets.

(i) Shares issued on placing

During 2014, 2,900,000,000 and 300,000,000 (2013:
928,000,000) ordinary shares were subscribed at HK$0.205
and HK$0.22 (2013: HK$0.167) per share with proceeds
of HK$594,500,000 and HK$66,000,000 respectively
(2013: HK$154,976,000). Accordingly, the Company’s
issued share capital was increased by HK$32,000,000
(2013: HK$9,280,000) and the balance of the proceeds,
net of direct cost incurred of HK$625,200,000 (2013:
HK$139,196,000) was credited to the share premium

account.

EE
BREE0.01ETL
Rl

ERTRAR

FREE0.01BILZ
Lk

REH

R E AT i)

Hian Rk Z R
AT I (i)

AEEMBAEM

BT (iv)

RER
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(a) B&F
() EEREFTRA

2013
Number of

shares Amount
B 1n 2 B -
000 HK$’ 000
TR FHT
25,000,000 250,000
12,356,078 123,560
928,000 9,280
748,503 7,485
721,350 7,214
14,753,931 147,539

EREEHAARREBIAREIR S -
TERRBAE LERAE-—RKFRE -
EEBRBEARBZHBTEEZAR

(i) HEEETRG

R20144F » 2,900,000,0000% &
300,000,000/% (20134 : 928,000,000
i%) &8 I 5 Bl ik & [%0.2057% JT }20.22
BT (20134 : 01678 70) 2 B ER
B P13 3B 5 Bl A£594,500,0007%8 7T &
66,000,000 7T (20134 : 154,976,000
BIr) c At AR A 2B BT AN
hn32,000,0007% st (20134 : 9,280,000
BIL) MBS RESRBHNREEZSE
% 625,200,000/ jT (20134 :
139,196,000/ 7T) E T AR KD @ EER o



Notes to the Financial Statements

(@) Share capital (Continued)

(iii)  Shares issued on conversion of convertible notes
During 2013, certain convertible notes were converted to
subscribe for a total of 748,503,000 ordinary shares in the
Company at a total consideration of HK$125,000,000 of
which HK$7,485,000 was transferred to share capital and
balances of HK$117,515,000 was transferred to the share
premium account from the convertible note equity reserves
respectively.

(iv)  Shares issued to extinguish financial liabilities

In November 2013, the company’s issued share capital
was increased by HK$7,214,000 through the issue of
721,350,000 shares to extinguish financial liabilities
of HK$144,270,000 as disclosed in the Company’s
announcement dated 28 November 2013. The fair value
of these shares based on the closing market price of
HK$0.235 per share on 13 December 2013, amounted to
HK$169,517,000. The premium on the issue of new shares
amounted to HK$162,303,000 was credited to the share
premium account. The difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liabilities extinguished and the
fair value of these shares are recognised in profit or loss
(note 8).

(v)  Lapse of vested warrants

In 2014, there were 250,000,000 outstanding unlisted
warrants issued by the Company on 10 November 2010,
conferring rights to subscribe for ordinary shares of the
Company at a subscription price of HK$0.53 per share
on and after 22 January 2011 and up to and including 10
November 2014. These warrants were unexercised and
lapsed upon the expiration of their exercise periods on 10
November 2014.

(vi) Lapse of vested share options
In 2014, 107,500,000 share options lapsed.

B35 3 R P 5

(a) K& (&)

(i) B AIRSR E IR E TR (7
M2013%F - BT A MR EERE B
R A ££748,503,00008 A A A7) @A -
# R {8 5125,000,000/ 7T © HA B
IR I o RE S B 5 7,485,00008 T &=
A - WS %R T 117,515,000/ L8 =
D& E AR o

(v) RBEEHHEEETETRG

WA AR BH A2013F11 288 2 A
AT EE - N2013F11H - AR AT
721,350,0000% % 17 PA K $8144,270,000
BLZHEEE  HEBTRAE M
hn7,214,000/ 7T - ZERMD 2 A FER
201312 A138 2 Y B & 120.2357%
e E - #%5169,517,000/8 7T © 1T
R 7 2 & 18 ££162,308,0005% Jt B &t
ARMDBER -FMBEVHEELERA
BHZERO 2 ATFERBZZENIER
TR (fTzE8) o

() EEHEERRERZRZ XU

201445 + N2 A 720105611 A10H
BT TR B2011F1 228 £ H
£2014F11 108 (B & ) IE1ZR
BEEBRRKRMH0IBETRBALNRLE
BRMAETEZIFLTRRESR A
250,000,00013 ° 201411 4108 17
FHHmE  ZERBREERETE
A=

(i) EEEBRERKEZ X

MR2014% » 107,500,00017 B I # B 2k
B o
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(b) The Company

AT 31 December 2012

Shares issued on placing

Shares issued on conversion
of convertible notes

Shares issued to extinguish
financial liabilties

Issuance of convertible notes

Loss and total comprehensive
income for the year

At 31 December 2013
Shares issued on placing
Release upon lapse of
vested warrants
Release upon lapse
of vested share options
Loss and total comprehensive
income for the year

At 31 December 2014

2012512731
REERIRA
ERTARZER
Bkl
RERHBARR
ik
EITARZE
RERBERAE
hsEE

1201312318
REERIRA
RERRARES
KHERE
NEGRERE
XiEAE
KEEFEREE
hatEE

20145124318

Notes

it

38(alli

38(a)fi)

38(a)(iv)

38(alli

38(al)

380

Share
capital

2
HKS'000
AL

123,560
9,280

7,485

7214

147,639
32,000

179,639

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves
(i) Share premium

Share premium represents premium arising from the issue
of shares at a price in excess of their par value per share.
Share premium is not distributable but may be applied in
paying up unissued shares of the Company to be issued to
equity holders as fully paid bonus shares or to provide the

premiums on repurchase of own shares.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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Share
premium

iR
HKS 000
TEL

3,318,649
139,196

17,515

162,303

3,737,663
625,200

4,362,863

(b)
Contributed Share option
surplus reserve
BBk RRERE
HK$'000  HK$'000
TEn Thn
81,043 48,020
81,043 48,020
- (12,235)
81,043 36,785

(c) REHERRE
17 i (B

BirygEHEABLROSREEEBRE
TROMEEZEE - RNDEETAT S
IRME A AIERUBE AR B BIERBRALK
RS A ABITIARTROIASE
B A & B0 12 s (8 -

()

AT

Convertible

Warrant notes equity Accumulated

reserve
R
i
HKS'000
T

1,250

1,250

(1,250,

reserve
TRRRE
L
HKS'000
T

(15,389)

31,29

15,013

15,913

losses
EithE
HK$' 000
T

(562,423)

(73499

635.921)

1,250

12,23

(257.914)

(880,350)

Total
st
HK$' 000
T

3,010,009
148,476

109,617

169,517
31,296

(73,49)

3,395,507
657,200

(257,914)

3,794,793



Notes to the Financial Statements

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)
(i) Contributed surplus

Contributed surplus arose when the Company issues shares
in exchange for the shares of subsidiaries being acquired,
and represented the difference between the nominal value
of the Company’s shares issued and the value of net assets
of the subsidiaries acquired under the group reorganisation
in 1999 in preparation for the listing of the Company’s
shares on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong. Under the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), contributed
surplus is available for distribution to equity holders.
However, the Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or
make a distribution out of contributed surplus if:

- it is or would after the payment, be unable to pay its
liabilities as they become due; or

- the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less
than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share
capital and share premium account.

(i) Share option reserve

The share option reserve represents the fair value of the
actual or estimated number of unexercised share options
granted by the Company and recognised in accordance with
the accounting policy adopted for share-based payments as
set in note 4(q).

(iv)  Warrant reserve
Warrant reserve represents the equity component of
warrants issued by the Company.

(v)  Convertible notes equity reserve

The reserve represents the equity component (i.e. option
to convert the notes into shares) of the convertible notes
issued by the Company.

(vi)  Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of operations outside Hong Kong which were
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy as set
out in note 4(0).

B35 3 R P 5

(c) FEEHEERRAESE)

(i) A EE
ARBZHMNBHRKEAREETERN
AR ANRB AR ZBH - HER
ARAE BTN @ER1999F RER
ARABRNETBHARFH EmmE
TEEEAMBANBRAREEFE
ZHZEZE - REAREIBIFRAE
(BER])  BRBHRAIH DK TSR
BAAM  WELTIER AR A
THBEHMBRE RO NREHIEL
DK

- RNRBEEALAEEAEED
HaE: %

- ZBREECZAZREEENAE-
ERITRARB DS ER A -

(i) FEREFE
BREFMEASRAFERLZERKA
B ZHARITREBREZAFE A
B 1% B E4(Q)3h DA B D 32 18 2 SRIA R
RASAHBRERAR -

(iv) FRRIEE G
RREBHEBERRAR BT 2R

V) HERREEEZ R
EERKRARR BT ZABRBERE 2 H#
b (B RIEE IR R 2 BEHE) -

(i) FESL e
EXFEERRREFTBUAINEE Y
BHREAMELEZABINEER - IR
M4 # c 85t R E -
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(d) Distribution of reserves

At 31 December 2014, the Company had no reserves
available for cash distribution and/or distribution in specie.
Under the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, the Company’s
contributed surplus in the amount of HK$81,043,000 (2013:
HK$81,043,000) is currently not available for distribution.
The Company’s share premium account in the amount
of HK$4,362,863,000 as at 31 December 2014 (2013:
HK$3,737,663,000) may be distributed in the form of fully

paid bonus shares.

(@) On 28 March 2014, the Group disposed of GEHK
which is dormant during the period. The net liabilities

of GEHK as at the completion date was as follows:

(d) SikfEfE

R2014F 1283818 » A2 & & B
AHBAEDRER " ZEMHIK - BIER
RIZF11FRRE AR B Z BME
81,043,000/ 7t (20134F : 81,043,000/
JC) WA A 5K ° R2014F12A318 -
RA A2 IR0 & (8 Bk 54,362,863,0007#
7T (20134 : 3,737,663,000% 7T) * A
AR AADIK

(a) M20145FE3AH280 A& B L EH
NEmER 2 BIFTER - BIFTRER
RER B BEFENT :

Property, plant and equipment

Other receivables

Cash and cash equivalents
Other payable and accruals

Net liabilities disposed of

Gain on disposal

Total consideration

Satisfied by:

Cash consideration receivable (note 26(ii))

Net cash outflow arising on disposal:
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of

GEHK did not contribute to the Group’s turnover and a loss
of HK$96,000 for the period from 1 January 2014 to the

date of disposal.
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HK$’ 000
FATT
L S 38
H {th & W 3R IB 25
ReRREEEY 25
HEmEMNZERERER (514)
HEZ8EFRE (426)
&z s 1,026
BRE 600
FENE
FEUIR & (B (P 5E26(i)) 600
HEELZREREIFE
HEZHEERREEED (25)

R2014F1 A1 =2 HE B H 2 i - &l
R ERASEEHREESE  UE
4 [E53896,00058 JT °
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(b) On 24 April 2014, the Group disposed of Gain All (b)
Limited (“Gain All") which is dormant during the period.

The net assets of Gain All as at the completion date

was as follows:

Other receivables

Net assets disposed of

Gain on disposal

Total consideration

Satisfied by:
Cash and cash equivalents

Net cash inflow arising on disposal:
Cash consideration received

Gain All did not contribute to the Group’s turnover and a
profit of HK$1,730,000 for the period from 1 January 2014

to the date of disposal.

B %5 3R = B &

R2014F4 8248 - AEE HEH
NEEREB2BE2ERQR (15
2]) BERTKABCEESFE
LU

HK$’ 000

FATT

H fth fE W FR B 12

HEZEEFE 12

&z W 688

BRE 700

FENE

BERREEED 700
HEELEZRESRAFHE

BRFEEKE 700

R2014F1AVRERERHZHHE - 5
EUEMASEEMEXE TELER

F11,730,0007 7T °
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The Group currently has two production sharing
arrangements and two development contracts in respect
of the development and production and development of
coalbed mathane, crude oil and natural gas in the PRC.

()  On 28 March 2006, OEl (which the Group acquired
on 15 November 2010) entered into the Sanjiao PSC
with China United Coalbed Methane Corporation Ltd
(“CUCMCL") (the “PRC partner”) for the exploration,
development, production and sale of the coalbed
methane and other related or derivative products that
may exist in a total exploration area of approximately
383 square kilometers subject to reduction in
accordance with the Sanjiao PSC located in the Erdos
Basin of Shanxi and Shaanxi Provinces in the PRC (the
“Contract Area”).

Pursuant to the Sanjiao PSC, OEI is engaged as the
foreign partner and operator to provide the necessary
technology know how and assign its competent
experts to explore, develop, produce and sell coalbed
methane or coalbed methane products extracted from
the Contract Area. OEl and PRC partner have formed
a joint management committee as required under
the Sanjiao PSC and appointed representatives as
members of the committee (the “Joint Management
Committee”). The Joint Management Committee is
responsible to oversee the operation in the Contract
Area.

In April 2009, CUCMCL transferred all of its interest
and associated obligations with respect to certain
gas fields, including the areas covered by the Sanjiao
PSC, to PetroChina. The transfer was approved by the
State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration
Commission of the State Council. PetroChina joined
the Joint Management Committee of the Sanjiao PSC.

Under the Sanjiao PSC, the development of the
Contract Area is divided into the exploration phase,
development and production phase. OEl is required
to conduct core testing and run pilot production
to ascertain the potential commercial value of the
coalbed methane field in the planned exploration area.
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(Continued)

The exploration phase has an initial term of four years
and expired on 1 July 2010. The PRC partner has
extended the exploration period to 30 June 2012 in
order to develop a larger production scale. Based
on the supplementary agreement of the Sanjiao PSC
dated 28 October 2010, the exploration period was
extended to 6 years to 30 June 2012. The exploration
period has been further extended to 30 June 2014
by way of a further supplementary agreement of the
Sanjiao PSC dated on 6 July 2012. In December 2014,
a further supplementary agreement of the Sanjiao PSC
was signed, the exploration period has been further
extended to 30 June 2016.

All costs incurred in the exploration phase shall be
borne by OEIl. The project will enter the development
and production phase once OEl has obtained the
approval of the ODP from NEA.

On commencement of the development and
production phase, all the development and operating
costs shall be borne as to 70% by OEl and 30% by
the PRC partner, except if the PRC partner chooses
not to participate in a particular site. If the PRC partner
chooses not to participate in a particular site, all the
development and operating cost will be fully borne
by OEIl. Also, the PRC partner’s participation can be
less than 30% for certain wells in respect of which the
PRC partner will not need to bear the development
costs or will bear at a specifically agreed percentage.
As a result, the profit sharing ratio will be adjusted
according to their actual participating interest in the
coalbed methane field.

The Sanjiao PSC has a term of thirty years, with
production period not more than twenty consecutive
years beginning from the date of commencement
of commercial production to the expiry date of the
production period as specified in the ODP, unless
production is suspended or abandoned in accordance
with the Sanjiao PSC or under special circumstances,
the production period can be extended with the
approval of the relevant PRC authority.
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(Continued)

The Sanjiao PSC is currently in the exploration stage.
In May 2012, the ODP was submitted to the NEA by
the PRC partner of the project, PetroChina. The Group
received a reply from NEA, which gave consent on the
preliminary work on the development of the Sanjiao
PSC in August 2012. The Group anticipates to obtain
full approval of ODP from NEA in 2015.

In May 2010, the Group entered into an operation
agreement with an independent PRC third party (the
“PRC Party”) for the exploration, development and
production of crude oil and natural gas that existed
in an exploration area located in Shaanxi Province
in the PRC (the “Jinzhuang Oil Field”) for the period
from 1 May 2010 to 31 July 2011. The PRC Party is
a party to a production sharing contract with a State-
owned enterprise for the exploration, development
and production of crude oil and natural gas in the
Jinzhuang Qil Field (the “Jinzhuang PSC”) for a period
up to 2025. Pursuant to the operation agreement,
the Group was engaged as the operator to explore,
develop and produce crude oil and natural gas from
the oil field. The Group bored all development and
operation costs and shared 95% of the income from
sale of crude oil and the entire income from the sale
of natural gas extracted from the Jinzhuang QOil Field.
The operation of the Jinzhuang Oil Field was jointly
controlled by the Group and the PRC Party. At the
same time, Kenwin Group based in Hong Kong,
acquired the rights and obligations of the Jinzhuang
PSC from the PRC Party. The Group signed a
memorandum of understanding (“MOU”) with the
owner of Kenwin Group and paid an interest free and
refundable deposit of HK$60,000,000 to the owner
such that the Group had the option to acquire the
entire equity interest of Kenwin Group.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Continued)

In June 2011, the Group and the PRC party agreed
to extend the operation period to 31 October 2011.
In November 2011, the Group acquired the Jinzhuang
Qil Field by acquiring 100% equity interest in Kenwin
Group.

The Group’s interests in the Sanjiao PSC and the
Jinzhuang PSC constitute jointly control operations
and are accounted for in accordance with the
accounting policy as set out in note 4(e).

During 2009, the Group acquired through a transfer
agreement and an assignment agreement the rights
and obligations to participate in two oil exploitation
projects for the exploitation, development and
production of a number of oil wells, each for a
period up to 2023. The oil wells of these projects
are separately located in Liuluoyu, Shannxi Province,
the PRC (the “Liuluoyu Oil Field”) and in Yanjiawan,
Shannxi Province, the PRC (the “Yanjiawan Oil
Field”). The Group also acquired, under the transfer
agreement and assignment agreement, the business
assets including oil and gas properties, the rights to
use the on-site plant, machinery and facilities for the
exploration, evaluation and development, and assumed
the liabilities associated these oil fields.

As advised by the Company’s PRC legal advisers,
the Group is entitled to the rights and obligations
of the development contract and participate in the
exploitation and production of crude oil in the Liuluoyu
Qil Field and Yanjiawan Qil Field. Since the Group has,
in practice and substance, the power to govern the
financial and operational policies over the operation of
the oil fields, the Group incorporated the results of the
oil production and the related assets and liabilities of
these oil fields into its financial statements.
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(i)
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(@) During 2014, interest on borrowings of HK$76,195,000
(2013: HK$126,682,000) was capitalised as gas

exploration and evaluation assets (note 9(a)).

(b) During 2014, provision for environmental restoration
and decommissioning costs was increased by
HK551,000 (2013: decreased by HK$253,000) and
included in the gas exploration and evaluation assets

(note 18).

(¢) During 2013, the Company issue of 721,350,000
shares to extinguish financial liabilities of
HK$144,270,000 as disclosed in the Company’s
announcement dated 28 November 2013 (note 38(a)

(iv).

(d) During 2013, certain convertible notes were converted
to subscribe for a total of 748,503,000 ordinary
shares in the Company at a total consideration of

HK$125,000,000 (note 38(a)(iii).

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for
owners and benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing
products and services commensurately with the level of risk

and by securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between higher
owners’ returns that might be possible with higher levels
of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded
by a sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the
capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

Consistent with industry practice, the capital structure of the
Group consists of net debts, which include other payables
and accruals, provisions and borrowings, net of cash and
cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the

Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B 35 8 = I &

The directors review the capital structure regularly. As part SEETHHERRBETERN - B2
of this review, the directors consider the cost of capital Tz — AEEHEAKAREIEER
and the risks associated with class of capital. Based on Az HBERKRETERZ BRESEE 22
recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its & ASESERT MRS - FHARET -
overall capital structure through payment of dividends, new BTHIEERNNEREEEER  F&E
share issue as well as the issue of new debts or repayment BARBEERE EH o 20149 20134
of existing debts. The net debts-to-equity ratios at 31 12A31BZER FEHERLENOT ¢

December 2014 and 2013 were as follows:

2013
HK$’ 000
THET
Total debts: B BEE -

Other payables and accruals Hih A HERERER 199,568
Warrant liability RIREE B E =
Borrowings BE 482,142
Provisions B 747
Convertible notes Al 8 i = 134,920
817,377
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B REeERREEED (17,536)
Pledged bank deposits BEHEBIRITE R (7,832)
Net debts B %8 792,009
Equity 7w 3,447,237
Net debts-to-equity ratio B FEEERL X 23%
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject RAATIRETAB AT NS INEE

to externally imposed capital requirements. W2 BANFETEPTHRE -
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Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate, currency risks
and commodity price risk arises in the normal course of the
Group’s business. These risks are limited by the Group’s
financial management policies and practices described
below.

(@) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a
customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to
meet its contractual obligations, and arises primarily from
the Group’s trade and other receivables and cash at banks.

() Trade and other receivables

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and
other receivables. Management has a credit policy in place
and the exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an
ongoing basis. The Group had a significant concentration
of credit risk. The entire trade receivables was from one
customer and entire other receivables was from the Sanjiao
PSC as at 31 December 2014 and 20183.

(i) Cash with banks

The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by placing
cash and deposits with financial institutions that meet
the established credit rating or other criteria. Given these
high credit ratings, management does not expect any
counterparty to fail to meet its obligations.

(b) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to
meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as
possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet
its liabilities when due, without incurring unacceptable
losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible
for their own cash management, including the short term
investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans
to cover expected cash demands, subject to approval
by the Company’s board when the borrowings exceed
certain predetermined levels of authority. The Group’s
policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements and
its compliance with lending covenants, to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash and readily realisable
marketable securities and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

The contractual maturities of financial liabilities are shown as

B35 3 R P 5

(b) HEEEEME(E)

AEEBATEELERBTEERS
B ERACAEBKZEHRENMEE
WRAEERREeR R EHEESHE
BELIBEEIEEREFALARAE
EEHE - ARBECBRRAEHERE
MBESHTRKREBRETBERL
UNHEREERFENZASHEERERA
BRAEBESF UNRETZZHBHE
ZEEEERARNEERREHRE

MBREZENIHABRET

below:
Total More than  More than 2
contractual Within 1 1 year but years but
Carrying undiscounted year or on less than 2 Less than
The Group amount cash flow demand years 5 years
BHRFH 15/ 1£LE 25NE
*5E FEE HRERELH HREK B2ERT B5E T
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TET TEL TET TEL TEL
2014
Non-derivatives: FEOTE
Other payables and accruals HiENFEaRBRER 160,030 160,030 160,030 - -
Warrant liability RREEEE 1,955 1,955 1,955 - -
Convertible notes RREE 160,750 203,612 3,000 200,612 -
Borrowings EBE 312,325 351,792 148,790 137,172 65,830
Total @5 635,060 717,389 313,775 337,784 65,830
2013
Non-derivatives: FEOTH
Other payables and accruals HiwENTIERERER 199,568 200,887 200,887 = =
Convertible notes QEES: 134,920 206,612 3,000 3,000 200,612
Borrowings fE& 482,142 567,396 185,518 154,509 227,369
Total Bt 816,630 974,895 389,405 157,509 427,981

PEARZERABRDAF ¢ 2014 F 1]

165



166

Notes to the Financial Statements
R4 35 38 = P &

(c) Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from
borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The interest rates and
terms of repayment of the Group’s borrowings are disclosed
in note 33 to the financial statements.

At 31 December 2014, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates,
with all other variables held constant, would decrease/
increase the Group’s profit (increase/decrease the Group’s
loss) for the year by approximately HK$3,123,000 (2013:
HK$(4,821,000)) before the consideration of capitalisation
of interest. The sensitivity analysis has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred
at the end of reporting period and had been applied to the
exposure to interest rate risk for the borrowings in existence
at that date. The 100 basis point increase or decrease
represents management’s assessment of a reasonably
possible change in interest rates over the period until the
next annual reporting date.

(d) Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
recognised assets and liabilities that are denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency of the operations
to which they relate. At 31 December 2014 and 2013, no
related hedges were made by the Group.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(d) Currency risk (Continued)

(i) Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the
end of reporting period date to currency risk arising from
recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency
other than the functional currency of the entity to which they
relate. The sensitivity analysis includes balances between
group companies where the denomination of the balances
is in a currency other than the functional currencies of the
lender or the borrower.

The Group

Trade and other receivables  FEURBR 20 12 £ fh B U Bk 3

Notes receivable* ERFEE
Deposits paid BEf&e
Cash and cash equivalents  BE&RREZEY
Amounts due from e UNSE- 0

group companies
Trade and other payables ~ ENBRFREAMENZIE

Amounts due to ENEERAFNE
group companies
Overall net exposure BEEREE

*

Included in interest in a joint venture

B35 3 R P 5

(d) EHER(E)

) AREZEREER

TR 85 A R 5 R 2 MR A R
PUAA B E 82 T B S LS 2 g M it
2 BESAETAE 2 SEER S -
BRBES N OEEENA TN &
5% 4 8 T A B S5 1 2 Th e ¥
BASh 2 B EHE -

F&EHE

2013
Australian

dollars usb RMB CAD
B XL AR% m
'000 '000 '000 '000

T T T Fr

- 320 8 -

1,949 - - -

- - 17 -

1 1,022 469 -

- - 104,779 -
- (560) (40) -

- (185361) (1,000 -

1,950  (184,679) 104,233 =
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(d) Currency risk (Continued)

(i) Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the approximate change in
the Group’s profit/(loss) after income tax expenses and
accumulated losses and other components of consolidated
equity in response to reasonably possible changes in the
foreign exchange rates to which the Group has significant
exposure at the end of reporting period. The sensitivity
analysis includes balances between Group companies
where the denomination of the balances is in a currency
other than the functional currencies of the lender or the
borrower. A positive number below indicates an increase in
profit/decrease in loss and decrease in accumulated losses
where the HKD weakens against the relevant currency. For
a strengthening of the HKD against the relevant currency,
there would be an equal and opposite impact on loss and
accumulated losses, and the balances below would be

negative.

RMB AR
CAD it
Australian dollars BT
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(d) Currency risk (Continued)

(i) Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that
the change in foreign exchange rates had occurred at the
end of reporting period and had been applied to each of the
Group entities’ exposure to currency risk for the financial
instruments in existence at that date, and that all other
variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.

The stated changes represent management’s assessment
of reasonably possible changes in foreign exchange rates
over the period until the end of the next reporting period.
In this respect, it is assumed that the pegged rate between
the HKD and the USD would be materially unaffected by
any changes in movement in value of the USD against other
currencies. Results of the analysis as presented in the above
table represent an aggregation of the effects on each of
the Group entities’ profit or loss after income tax expenses
and equity measured in the respective functional currencies,
translated into HKD at the exchange rate ruling at the end
of reporting period for presentation purposes. The analysis
is performed on the same basis for 2013.

(e) Commodity price risk

The Group engages in petroleum-related activities. The oil
market is affected by global and regional demands and
supplies. Prices of onshore crude oil are determined with
reference to the prices of crude oil on the international
markets. A decline in the prices of crude oil and refined
products could adversely affect the Group’s financial
position. The Group historically has not used derivative
financial instruments to hedge against potential price
fluctuations of crude oil.
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Pursuant to the terms of the supplementary agreement in
respect of the Sanjiao PSC, the Group has procured a bank
to provide performance bonds in favour of PetroChina for
guarantee of OEl's performance of its obligations in the
extended phase of the exploration period of the Sanjiao
PSC. As at 31 December 2014, the aggregate amount of
outstanding performance bonds totalled approximately
HK$Nil (2013: HK$7,754,000). The aforesaid performance
bond facilities were secured by the pledge of the Group’s

bank deposits (note 28).

Subsequent to the year end, PetroChina requested the
Group to procure a bank to provide a new performance
bonds of USD2 million in favour of PetroChina for guarantee
of OElI's performance of its obligations in the extended

phase of the exploration period of the Sanjiao PSC.

In the opinion of the Directors, the financial impact arising
from providing the above performance bonds is immaterial
and accordingly, they are not accounted for in these

financial statements.

(a) Operating lease commitments - Lessee
The Group

As at 31 December 2014 and 2013, the total future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating

leases were payable as follows:

Within 1 year 1FERN

After 1 year but within 5 years 1F £ E5F A

The Group is the lessee of a number of properties held
under operating leases. The leases typically run for an initial
period of one to five years without an extension option.

None of the leases includes contingent rentals.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(a) Operating lease commitments - Lessee
(Continued)

The Company

The Company did not have any significant operating lease

commitments as at 31 December 2014 and 2013.

(b) Operating lease commitments - Lessor

Within 1 year 1R

After 1 year but within 5 years 12 E5F A

The Group sub-leases of property in PRC under operating
leases. The sub-leases of property in PRC usually run
for one to five years. Lease payment is negotiated and
concluded in a contract. None of the lease includes
contingent rentals. The Company did not have any
significant sub-leasing commitments as at 31 December
2014 and 2013.

(c) Capital commitments

The Group

(i) Authorised but no contracted for

As at 31 December 2014 and 2013, the Group was
committed to develop in total 9 (2013: 9) new oil wells under
the development contracts of the Liuluoyu Oil Field and
Yanjiawan QOil Field. The estimated total capital expenditure
for developing these new oil wells is HK$10.1 million (2013:
HK$$10.6 million).

B35 3 R P 5
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(c) Capital commitments (Continued)
(i) Contracted but not provided for

pa

1)

B=RE

2o
N
op

Commitments in respect
of the Sanjiao PSC

The Company
The Company did not have any significant operating lease
commitments as at 31 December 2014 and 2013.

Environmental liabilities

The Group carries out oil exploitation operations in the PRC.
The PRC has adopted environmental laws and regulations
that affect the operations of the oil industry. The outcome
of environmental liabilities under proposed or future
environmental legislation cannot reasonably be estimated
at present, and could be material. Under the existing
legislations, however, management believes that there are
no probable liabilities that will have a material adverse effect
on the financial position of the Group.

The Group also engages in the exploration, development
and production of coalbed methane resources. The
consequence of coalbed mining includes dismantlement and
demolition of infrastructure in the mining sites. The Group
may have obligations to make payments for restoration and
rehabilitation of the land after the sites have been extracted.
As at 31 December 2014, a provision of HK$1,280,000
(2013: HK$747,000) was made in the consolidated
statement of financial position (note 32).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Other than disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements,
no related party transactions have been entered into during
the year which might reasonably affect any decisions made
by the users of these consolidated financial statements.

Key management personnel remuneration
Remuneration for key management personnel of the
Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s directors
as disclosed in note 11, all the highest paid employees
as disclosed in note 12, and other six (2013: six) senior
management personnel are as follows:

MEIEERA
BRI A

Short-term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see note
9(b)).

B35 3 R P 5
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The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities recognised as at 31 December 2014 and
2013 may be categorised as follows:

Financial assets MBEE
Loans and receivables (including ERRERRIE (BIERE
cash and bank balances) K IRTT4E64R)
Financial liabilities MBER
Financial liabilities at fair BRAFERERARZ
value through profit or loss MBaE
Financial liabilities measured REBHKATTEZ

at amortised cost HHamE

(@) Financial instruments not measured at fair
value

Financial instruments not measured at fair value include
trade, notes and other receivables, loan receivables, short-
term investment, pledged bank deposits, cash and cash
equivalents, other payables, borrowings and convertible
notes. The fair value of all these financial assets and
financial liabilities are not materially different from their
carrying amounts.

(b) Financial instruments measured at fair value
The fair value of financial assets and liabilities with standard
terms and conditions and traded on active liquid markets
are determined with reference to quoted market prices.

The valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs
used in determining the fair value measurement of level 2
and level 3 financial instruments, as well as the relationship
between key observable inputs and fair value are set out
below.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(b) Financial instruments measured at fair value
(Continued)

Information about level 3 fair value measurements

The fair value of the warrant liability in note 31 is estimated

using a binomial option pricing model.

Significant unobservable inputs
Dividend yield 0%
Volatility 40.351%

Increase in the volatility and dividend yield would increase
the fair value of the warrant liability.

The following table provides an analysis of financial
instruments carried at fair value by level of fair value
hierarchy:
Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly
(i.e. derived from prices); and

Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based

on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Financial liabilities at fair value BAFERER
through profit or loss ARz BEE

— Warrant liability —RIEZEE

There were no transfers between levels during the year.

B35 3 R P 5
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(b) Financial instruments measured at fair value
(Continued)

Reconciliation for financial instruments carried at fair value

based on significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) are as

follows:

(b) BMAFEFEZHMBIAR (R)

REEATABEEARE (F3B) &
RFEEARNT B TARZHKRMOT :

2014
HK$’ 000
FHETT
Warrant liability RIREE G

At 1 January 2014 R2014%1 H1H -
At issue date 1T A H 3,482

Gains in profit or loss: included in other losses, RE=R 2= - 5T AEAM
net (note 8) 18 % 58 (B 5E8) (1,527)
At 31 December 2014 R20145F12H31H 1,955

On 19 January 2015, the Company has appointed a placing
agent for arranging subscribers for the issue of bonds up
to an aggregate amount of HK$300,000,000 (the “Bonds”).
The Bonds bear interest of 7% per annum, are unsecured
and transferrable and with maturity dates of 84 months
immediately following the respective dates of issue of the
Bond.

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the Board of Directors on 20 March 2015.
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